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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (each
a “Director”) of GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited
(“GoFintech” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries
collectively referred to as the “Group”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025
(the “Reporting Year”).

Over the past year, Hong Kong’s capital market demonstrated
robust development momentum, creating expansive opportunities
and favorable conditions for our business expansion. Technology
stocks repeatedly reached record highs, reflecting the market’'s
dynamism and potential. Since 2025, market activity has
rebounded markedly with average daily trading volume of Hong
Kong stocks approaching HK$300 billion, while substantial
capital inflows from international investors led to ample market
liquidity. As a primary financing hub, Hong Kong has effectively
supported the growth of technology enterprises and facilitated the
global expansion of Chinese companies. Within this favourable
environment, all members of the Group united in proactive
efforts to consolidate our presence across fully-licensed financial
services, while continuously enhancing products and services,
innovating business processes, and optimising business models.
These efforts have yielded sustained revenue growth alongside
substantial progress across all business segments.

During the Reporting Year, the Company was formally renamed
as “GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited” to crystallise our
strategic pivot towards quantum technology. We have deepened
our business initiatives integrating Web 3.0 with quantum
technology, not only investing heavily in the research and
development of underlying blockchain technologies and quantum
encryption algorithms, but also exploring practical applications
of these innovations within the fintech industry. Key initiatives
include advancing quantum-secured virtual asset custody services
and initiating strategic investments in compliant virtual asset
funds, establishing a robust foundation for the Group’s in-depth
development in the convergence frontier of digital economy and
quantum technology.
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We are pleased to announce that we achieved encouraging
operating and financial results during the Reporting Year with
strong revenue growth and significant improvement in profits and
losses. Our business models of client-centered fully-licensed
financial services demonstrated strong financial resilience. During
the Reporting Year, total revenue and net investment gains
increased by 1,887.05% vyear-on-year to HK$913.55 million. On
the other hand, we have consistently focused on cost reduction
and efficiency enhancement, improving operational efficiency and
profitability. Despite prioritising our investment in the research and
development of innovative financial technology (fintech), we were
able to significantly narrow our net losses by 91.75% to HK$2.53
million compared to the same period last year.

The Group has been committed to optimising its balance sheet
structure, enhancing capital adequacy and improving asset
quality. As at the end of the Reporting Year, the Group’s total
assets reached HK$4,612.10 million, representing an increase of
322.28% as compared to the end of the previous reporting year.
As at the end of the Reporting Year, the Group’s total liabilities
amounted to HK$686.47 million, while the debt ratio, defined as
total liabilities over total assets, reduced from 27.96% as at the
end of the previous reporting year to 14.88% as at the end of the
Reporting Year. Total equity amounted to HK$3,925.62 million
as at the end of the Reporting Year, representing an increase of
398.91% from the end of the previous reporting year. As at 31
March 2025, our cash and cash equivalents totaled HK$92.19
million, maintaining at a healthy and reasonable level.
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We are keenly aware that the current paradigms of economic
growth are rapidly evolving. Technological advancements in
artificial intelligence, big data, blockchain, Web 3.0 and other
fields are accelerating the restructuring of many industries.
Amidst a complex and volatile external environment, we maintain
strategic focus and confidence, cultivating key niche sectors
whilst capitalising on structural opportunities arising from market
adjustments, thereby fortifying foundations for the Group’s long-
term sustainable development.

In the field of brokerage services, we have aggressively diversified
our client base across domestic and international institutions,
corporates and high-net-worth individuals, steadfastly advancing
our wealth management capabilities. We are also vigorously
advancing our diversified product portfolio strategy, not only
deepening presence in traditional investment products such
as equity and fixed income offerings with optimised product
structures, but also proactively expanding into emerging sectors in
response to market trends. Particularly noteworthy is our marked
progress in Total Return Swap (TRS) operations. Through in-depth
partnerships with globally renowned financial institutions, we have
successfully established cross-border TRS channels, enabling
clients to access diversified global assets - including equities,
bonds and funds — without direct ownership of underlying offshore
assets. This effectively circumvents cross-border investment
restrictions, enabling globalised asset allocation. Additionally,
we have enhanced our client service capabilities across all
dimensions. We believe that digital transformation serves as the
core driver propelling the evolution of brokerage businesses. As
such, we have dedicated substantial resources to upgrade our
trading infrastructure, enhancing both transactional efficiency and
execution quality while significantly reducing client trading costs,
thereby maximising value creation for our clients.
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In the field of asset management, we leveraged our in-depth
insight into the opportunities in the capital market, and enhanced
our business development capabilities in volatile markets by
continuously enhancing our capabilities in asset management,
sales and services, product offering, compliance and risk control,
so as to optimise asset allocation and improve asset returns.
Our asset management division possesses cross-border asset
management qualifications such as QFIll, QFLP and QDIE, and
provides investors with the design, management, and services of
diverse offshore investment funds. Aligning with market trends,
we have included virtual asset funds in our strategic focus and
established a quantum technology investment fund in the Cayman
Islands as managing shareholder, dedicated to investing in
innovative enterprises within the quantum technology sector. This
initiative provides additional investment options for our clients to
pursue above-market returns, further enriches and optimises our
asset allocation framework, propelling our asset management
business to its next stage.

In the field of investment banking, we maintained parallel
development of equity and debt investment businesses, and
vigorously expanded our M&A and restructuring businesses
alongside advancing sponsorship and underwriting services.
In terms of debt investment business, we actively explored the
development of overseas debt markets for Chinese enterprises,
deeply tapped into the bond demands of different types of clients,
seized the windows of issuance and underwriting to serve our
clients and provided integrated equity and debt solutions. During
the Reporting Year, the Group provided over 20 corporate clients
with corporate financing and consultancy services. Acting as
an underwriter, we successfully assisted a variety of domestic
and overseas companies in fundraising in the stock market and
introduced high-quality investors for enterprises. The Group
ranked among the top in the industry in terms of the number of
projects and the amount of funds raised.
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In the field of technological innovation investment, we leveraged
on our synergy in “investment + investment banking +
management” and constantly improved our investment capability
and knowledge in Web 3.0, quantum technology, blockchain,
intelligent investment advisory, clean energy, tech-innovative
healthcare, etc. With a focus on such areas, we carried out in-
depth business planning, completed investments in various
technology innovation enterprises such as RD Technologies and
MaiCapital, empowering the investee enterprises by providing all-
round support in finance, management and human resources, and
at the same time, strengthening synergy with investment banking
and other business lines to assist the investee companies in
development and capital appreciation.

We are fully aware that technological innovation serves as
the core engine driving the Group’s long-term development.
Hong Kong, globally recognised as an international financial
centre and a fintech hub, has emerged as an ideal base for
global fintech advancement, underpinned by its continuously
enhanced digital infrastructure and regulatory frameworks.
Most notable is the Hong Kong Government’s robust support
for technological innovation. In May 2025, Hong Kong enacted
the Stablecoin Bill following its legislative process, instituting a
licensing regime for issuers. This landmark legislation constitutes
a significant advancement in the territory’s regulatory framework
for stablecoins, establishing a structured pathway for market
development. During the Reporting Year, the Group decisively
pivoted towards quantum technology — a frontier field with
transformative potential, and actively invested in R&D for quantum
encryption algorithms and quantum communication technologies,
exploring their applications in financial security, particularly for
safeguarding stablecoin transactions. Furthermore, leveraging
our first-mover advantage through early-stage investments in RD
Technologies, a Hong Kong-based stablecoin issuer, we played
a proactive role in shaping the city’s stablecoin ecosystem. By
refining cross-border payment services and preemptively capturing
market share, we have pioneered a leading business model in this

nascent sector, unlocking new growth drivers for the Group.
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Over the past year, the Company has anchored its actions in the
strategic development framework, leveraging capital operations
as the engine and business consolidation as the key driver to
achieve dual breakthroughs in asset structure optimisation and
core competitiveness enhancement. This has injected robust
momentum into the Group’s high-quality development. In capital
operations, while maintaining efficient financing strategies, the
Company successfully acquired a 22.5% equity stake in CSOP
Asset Management Limited (“CSOP”), Asia’s preeminent asset
management institution, through issuance of consideration
shares. As a top player in Asia’s asset management sector,
CSOP’s established ETF ecosystem, global market channels and
professional investment research team would generate profound
synergies with the Group’s existing operations. This acquisition
has diversified the Group’s asset allocation structure. Going
forward, the Group will fully harness both parties’ resource
advantages to focus on product innovation, client resource
integration, and cross-border business synergies and accelerate
the in-depth integration of fintech and asset management.
Meanwhile, the Group will explore new frontiers in asset
management by leveraging quantum technology and stablecoins
as innovation catalysts, consistently unlocking capital value.

Looking forward, the Group will establish a self-reinforcing
industrial ecosystem, anchored in quantum technology as its core,
built upon financial qualifications as its foundation, and propelled
by cultural creativity and trade as dual growth engines, thereby
driving the upgrading of Hong Kong’s value as an international
hub. Across the four business domains of technology, finance,
cultural creativity and trade, we will establish a closed-loop
integration of technology, capital, scenarios and channels.
This will lay a solid and long-term foundation for the Group to
build a quantum industry ecosystem platform and emerge as
a benchmark entity aligned with Hong Kong’s positioning as a
“Four-Center Hub.”
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On the technology-driven front, the Group will harness quantum
technology as its core engine and concentrate on innovation
in foundational technologies such as quantum computing,
communications, and encryption, aiming to drive the innovative
applications of quantum technology across diverse sectors
and provide robust technological supports for major business
segments.

On the finance-driven front, the Group will leverage its
comprehensive financial licenses to deepen its foothold in digital
assets, capitalizing on Hong Kong’s robust regulatory framework
and global financial market influence to attract worldwide
digital asset investors. Meanwhile, we will pioneer applications
of quantum technology in fintech, such as risk modeling and
encrypted trading, to deliver safer and more efficient financial
services, solidifying its role as an innovative participant in Hong
Kong's fintech ecosystem.

On the cultural creativity front, we will harness our technology-
enabled advantages to vigorously promote the integration of
“Quantum + Digital Art”, establishing an integrated service system
encompassing art auctions, financing, and real-world asset
tokenization. This strategic move will expand our foothold in the
high-value-added cultural creativity and finance market, pioneering
new frontiers at the nexus of culture and technology.

On the trade-driven front, we will build a quantum-enabled cross-
border trade support service system. Leveraging Hong Kong’s
position as an international trade hub, we will cooperate deeply
with global trade partners to provide safer and more efficient
operation services for cross-border trade, integrate various
business links in the supply chain such as logistics and capital,
and empower participants at all nodes of the supply chain.
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Harmonizing divergent market forces will propel synchronized
growth. Looking ahead to 2025, the Group will anchor our long-
term growth strategy in four core business segments. We will
strengthen strategic guidance and enablement for business
development, transforming the Group into a comprehensively
developed, ecologically synergistic and integrated industrial
ecosystem platform, delivering sustainable value creation for our
shareholders, clients, and partners.

CHAN Kin Sang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Year”), the
Group recorded revenue and fair value change of investments
at fair value through profit or loss in the aggregate amount of
approximately HK$913,545,000, representing an increase of
approximately 1,887.05% from approximately HK$45,975,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024. The increase was mainly
attributable to increased revenue from money lending business
and revenue from the supply chain operations business, as well
as increased revenue and net gains on investments at fair value
through profit or loss from the equity investment business of the
Group.

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$2,525,000 for
the Reporting Year, as compared to the loss of approximately
HK$30,679,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. The overall
loss position of the Group has improved in the Reporting Year
mainly due to the improved revenue and increase of gains from
investments of the Group.

The basic and diluted loss per share of the Company for the
Reporting Year was approximately HKO0.04 cent as compared to
the basic and diluted loss per share of approximately HK0.91 cent
for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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The business of securities brokerage and margin financing
is one of the main revenue streams of the Group. During the
Reporting Year, the business of securities brokerage and margin
financing recorded revenue (including inter-segment revenue)
of approximately HK$20,884,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 43.63% as compared to the revenue (including
inter-segment revenue) and net investment loss of approximately
HK$37,051,000 in total for the year ended 31 March 2024,

The segment profit for the Reporting Year amounted
to approximately HK$11,938,000 (2024: approximately
HK$8,572,000). The increase of segment profit was mainly
attributable to the reduced operating costs during the Reporting
Year.

The Group’s strategy is to focus on and strengthen existing
securities operation and work in close collaboration with our
corporate finance business as well as wealth management
business, in order to provide a one-stop integrated financial
services to better serve our institutional and high net worth
individual clients.

The corporate finance market was under a keen competition
during the Reporting Year. Segment revenue from corporate
finance business decreased by approximately 50.46% from
approximately HK$4,719,000 to approximately HK$2,338,000,
while the segment profit for the Reporting Year amounted
to approximately HK$1,517,000 (2024: segment loss of
approximately HK$2,789,000). The turnaround from loss to profit
during the Reporting Year was mainly attributable to the reduced
operating costs of the corporate finance business segment.
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During the Reporting Year, the money lending market was
under intensive competition locally. The Group recorded an
interest revenue from money lending business of approximately
HK$15,969,000 (2024: approximately HK$4,542,000),
representing an increase of approximately 251.59% as compared
to the year ended 31 March 2024. The segment profit for the
Reporting Year amounted to approximately HK$1,724,000 (2024:
segment loss of approximately HK$476,000). The turnaround from
loss to profit during the Reporting Year was mainly attributable to
the significant increase in interest revenue recorded.

The Group’s money lending business is conducted through
Fortune Finance Limited (“Fortune Finance”), a licensed money
lender under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

With funding supported by the Group, Fortune Finance provides
money lending services including property mortgages, share
mortgages and personal loans. The loan periods range from
around 2 to 60 months. The source of clients of Fortune Finance
are mainly from referrals and such referrals are sourced from
existing clients and the management of the Group. As of 31 March
2025, the clients of Fortune Finance comprises (i) companies
engaged in retail and information technology; and (i) individuals
engaged in finance, trading and retail sectors (2024: (i) companies
engaged in retail and information technology; and (i) individuals
engaged in finance, trading and retail sectors).

Fortune Finance always takes measures to assess and control
risks according to Fortune Finance’s credit and operation policy.
The credit policy applies to all types of lending businesses,
including secured-based lending and unsecured lending.
Assessment will be conducted from several aspects including
market value of the pledged assets, due diligence of collateral
ownership, the loan-to-value ratio, legal background checking on
the borrowers, creditability and repayment ability of the borrower
(including income sources and existing outstanding debts), and
the feasibility of legal execution on the charged assets and/or
legal action against the borrower in case there is default.
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All loan applications submitted to Fortune Finance are required
to go through the assessment and approval procedures by three
levels of personnel. A loan application will firstly be assessed and
approved by a director of Fortune Finance before being passed to
the Risk and Compliance Committee’s representative(s) from the
Group for comments (if any). Finally, the loan application is subject
to final approval from a designated director of the Group.

The loan terms are determined based on factors such as:

- purpose of fund usage claimed by the borrower;

- capital liquidity of the borrower;

= current loan terms offered by borrower’s existing financing
company;

- credibility and repayment history of borrower;

- loan size of the application versus the Group’s internal
capital resources allocation and planning; and

- other risk factors, if any.

Before granting unsecured loans to borrowers, the management
of Fortune Finance will primarily consider the asset level of the
borrower prior to commencement of internal assessment and
approval procedures. Where the borrower is able to demonstrate
that its assets are of a sufficient level, the management of Fortune
Finance will consider recommending that an unsecured loan be
granted. In order to determine whether the assets of a borrower
are of a sufficient level, Fortune Finance will primarily take into
account, among others, (i) the value of all the assets of the
borrower reported by the borrower to Fortune Finance; and (i) the
intended size of the relevant loan. In general, the reported value
of the borrower’s assets must be sufficient to cover the intended
loan. The borrower’s ability to repay the loan is also taken into
account after considering factors such as the borrower’s income
source and cash flow. The management of Fortune Finance will
consider the assets of the borrower to be at a sufficient level once
such requirements are deemed to be satisfied.
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The terms of unsecured loans are determined on the same
basis as those of secured loans, the factors of which are set out
above. Although the terms of unsecured loans are determined
on the same basis as those of secured loans, due to the higher
risk associated with granting unsecured loans as compared to
secured loans (even after taking into account that the borrower
of the unsecured loan must have sufficient level of assets), the
interest rates of unsecured loans will accordingly be higher than
that of secured loans, assuming all other factors being equal. The
management of Fortune Finance considers that it is reasonable
to determine the terms of unsecured loans and secured loans on
the same basis provided that, assuming all other factors being
equal, unsecured loans (with the relevant borrower’s assets at a
sufficient level) are subject to higher interest rates commensurate
with their level of risk.

Depending on the asset level of the borrower, a personal
guarantee may also be required before an unsecured loan may be
granted.

The renewal of loans are subject to the same internal control
and assessment procedures (including the provision of relevant
documents and assessment and approval by a director of
Fortune Finance, the representatives of the Risk and Compliance
Committee and a designated director of the Group) as for the
grant of new loans.

As at 31 March 2025, there were a total of four outstanding
loans with an aggregate outstanding principal amount of
HK$83,000,000 (before expected credit losses) and interest rates
which ranged from 6% to 13% per annum.

As at 31 March 2024, there were a total of five outstanding
loans with an aggregate outstanding principal amount of
HK$111,500,000 (before expected credit losses) and interest
rates which ranged from 8% to 15% per annum.
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Fortune Finance regularly submits status update reports to the
Group’s management on a weekly basis for the review of Fortune
Finance’s total outstanding loan balance, loan due, and collection
status of the repayments.

Fortune Finance also has a collection guideline which applies
to delinquent accounts. If there is bank transfer failure or an
uncleared cheque, Fortune Finance’s representative will contact
the borrower as soon as possible. If the repayment is in default
for 30 days, Fortune Finance will check and confirm the latest
outstanding amount of the borrower and appoint legal advisors
to issue an official demand letter to the borrower. A copy of the
demand letter will also be sent to the guarantor, if applicable.
Should the repayment be in default for 90 days, Fortune
Finance will further issue a final warning where Fortune Finance
will take legal action against the borrower if such defaulted
repayment could not be settled within 14 days. All records will
be documented and the most updated status will be reported
regularly to director(s) of the Group. Any arrangements deviating
from the collection guideline are required to be reviewed and
approved by the directors of Fortune Finance.

The Group applies general approach in measuring loss allowance
for expected credit losses on loans receivable.

The Group granted loans to borrowers with different period of
time. As the term loans are normally repaid monthly in instalment
amount, they would be past due during the loan period and thus,
past due day information is meaningful in assessing if there is
significant increase in credit risk during the loan period.
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In assessing default risk of loan receivables, management
considered the following factors:

- collateral ratio (if any);

- amount of actual shortfall;

- delay in repayment;

- responsive to the Group’s request in repayment after
maturity of loan;

- an actual or expected downgrade of the external or internal
credit rating of the borrower;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt
obligation;

- significant changes in external market indicators of credit
risk for a particular financial asset or similar financial assets
with similar characteristics; and

- significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting
the obligation or credit enhancement, if applicable.

Management classify loan receivables based on the following:

Stage 1: For exposures where there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and that
are not credit-impaired upon origination.

Stage 2: For exposures where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are
not credit-impaired. Below are indicators of significant
increase in credit risks: (a) if repayment of loan is
delayed by borrower; (b) if Collateral Ratio (if any)
is 0% or higher; and (c) responsive to the Group’s
request for repayment.
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Stage 3: Exposures are assessed as credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset have
occurred. Below are events indicating that the balance

is credit-impaired:

(@) The Group makes liquidation call to borrowers to
liquidate their securities collateral (if any) to settle
the outstanding balances;

(b)  The borrower is not responsive to the Group’s
request; and

() The Group loses contact with the borrowers.

In assessing default risk of loan receivables, management would
make reference to the default rates studies conducted by certain
external credit rating agencies. In addition, management would
incorporate forward looking economic information through the
use of industry trend and experienced credit judgment to reflect
qualitative factors.

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a segment revenue
(including inter-segment revenue) from consultancy services and
insurance brokerage services of approximately HK$379,000
(2024: approximately HK$611,000), representing a reduction of
approximately 37.97% as compared to 2024. The segment loss
for the Reporting Year was approximately HK$98,000 (2024:
approximately HK$196,000).

On 7 November 2024, the Group completed the disposal of 100%
equity interest in Fortune Wealth Management Limited.

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a segment
revenue from asset management of approximately HK$3,900,000
(2024: approximately HK$4,784,000), representing a decrease
of approximately 18.48% as compared to 2024. The segment
loss for the Reporting Year was approximately HK$1,568,000
(2024: approximately HK$1,262,000). The increase of loss was
mainly due to reduced segment revenue as a result of reduced
management fee income generated during the Reporting Year.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a segment
revenue and net investment gains from equity investment of net
amount of approximately HK$51,983,000 (2024: net investment
loss of approximately HK$3,453,000). The segment profit for the
Reporting Year amounted to approximately HK$19,311,000 (2024:
segment loss of approximately HK$7,244,000). The improvement
of segment results was mainly attributable to gains recognised
from investments at fair value through profit or loss during the
Reporting Year.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has engaged in the supply
chain operations business (the “Supply Chain Operations
Business”) which mainly matches the upstream and downstream
of the supply chain, provides integrated services of optimized
order management,
management. The Supply Chain Operations Business currently

procurement execution, and logistics

mainly involves in the sales and purchase and integrated services
of bulk commodities and precious metals. During the Reporting
Year, the Group recorded a segment revenue from the Supply
Chain Operations Business of approximately HK$819,545,000.
The segment loss for the Reporting Year was approximately
HK$294,000, with an expected gross profit margin ranging from
0.2% to 0.4% for the financial year next to the Reporting year in
respect of the growth anticipated with such business.

The Supply Chain Operations Business operates based on
certain long-term clients, whom in turn provides stable operation
foundations and income source for the Group.
business model, the Group would firstly conduct market research,

In terms of

where the Group clarifies on the potential customers’ need of
commodities (as for the Reporting Year, under the Supply Chain
Operations Business engaged by the Company, bulk commodities
such as coal, electrolytic copper and electrolytic nickel have
been involved, which serve for energy-provision or heavy
industry purposes), and seeks suppliers’ quotations on target
commodities’ acquisition. During the price quotation process, the
Group would also comprehensively consider factors such as price,
quality, delivery period in order to ensure customers’ satisfaction.
Where applicable, the Group would also provide credit guarantee
or guarantee deposit to ensure the stability of the supply chain.
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Subsequent to the confirmation of suppliers of commodities,
procurement contracts would be executed with suppliers to
secure the key terms such as specifications of commodities,
quantities, price, delivery period, payment terms, to ensure
transparency during the procurement process.

Simultaneously, the Group proactively seek for buyers with such
needs of commodities via market and business development, and
negotiate prior to reaching consensual terms of specifications of
commodities, quantities, price, delivery period and payment terms.
During negotiations, the Group would conduct due diligence on
the potential buyers’ credibility to minimize transactional risks
of non-payment. Subsequent to receiving from the buyers such
payment for commodities acquired, the Group would in exchange
provide the ownership documentations to the relevant buyers,
which in turn signifying the exchange of ownership and risks.

After the entire transaction is completed, the Group make account
for the revenue according to the relevant accounting principles
applicable.

As a whole, the Supply Chain Operations Business involves
four (4) staff members responsible for supply chain operations
business, including one managing staff with eight (8) years
of experience in international supply chain management and
trade business. Moreover, such business provides value-adding
services such as analysis and forecast regarding market trend,
and accordingly provide support for clients to make appropriate
and timely procurement decision; besides, the Group, during its
operations, credit guarantee or guarantee deposit to ensure the
stability of the supply chain in order to avoid deal-breaking risks.

The major customers of the Supply Chain Operations Business
include Hong Kong companies and large state-owned group
companies in the PRC, and its major suppliers include trading
companies incorporated in Hong Kong and a subsidiary of a listed
group in Hong Kong principally engaged metal industries in the
PRC.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group has diversified its businesses
and has engaged in artwork trading through the art and asset
sales business. The Group’s strategy is to invest in artworks
(comprising collectible artworks, artefacts and antiques) with
collection value and has sourced and purchased jade, ceramics
and other collectible artworks with good value for money in the
market, while increasing the frequency of communication among
potential customers at the same time to match interested buyers.
Profit from the art and asset sales segment was HK$504,000
during the Reporting Year, which was mainly resulted from the fair
value gain of the investments in artworks by the Group during the
Reporting Year.

During the Reporting Year, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief after making reasonable enquiries, (a) none
of the investments in artworks on a stand-alone basis, constitute
a notifiable transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of
the Listing Rules in accordance with the applicable size tests;
(b) none of the investments in artworks shall be calculated on
aggregated basis pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules;
and (c) the counterparties involved in such investments and their
respective ultimate beneficial owners (where applicable) in relation
to the investments in artworks are independent third parties not
connected with the Company and its connected persons or any
of their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules)
and are not connected or otherwise associated with one another
as at the respective dates of the entering into of the relevant
transactions and as at the date of this Annual Report; accordingly
none of the investments in artworks carry any implications
pursuant to Chapter 14 and/or Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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During the Reporting Year, the following artwork, artefacts and AN
antiques were acquired: k&

Acquisition Date

W iE B

22 January 2025
“E-AF—A=Z+=H

31 January 2025
“E-hF—A=1+—H

12 February 2025

—T-h¥-At=H

20 February 2025
A -A=+H

12 February 2025
—E_RF-_A+ZH
28 February 2025

—E_RE_-_AZ+/\H

6 March 2025
—7—££E ﬂ/\EI

BEFEAMBBENENR TEM
Ul

Acquisition
Name & Nature of Artwork(s) Costs
(BMmEBRME) e B8 B Ak
(HKS)
(%7T)
The “Four Beauties” ornaments made of Xinjiang Hotan nephrite jade 63,468,000
pebbles* (#7 58 F H & A7 4 A 48 Bl R M A = B 1)
Ceramic Vase with tubular handles made in royal kiln of Southern 60,000,000
Song dynasty* (A EZEH )
White Jade Bottle Necklace made of Hotan nephrite jade, made in 61,352,400
Qing dynasty (Qianlong period) with a meaning to bless its children*
(BRRTREEEFH T H#M)
Yellow ceramic plate with flowers and fruit decoration in underglaze 12,000,000
blue made in Ming dynasty (Zhengde period)* (BB E& & ith FEER
AAR)
Multiple-edged ceramic bottle in green paint made in royal kiln of 50,000,000
Southern Song dynasty* (FIRE £ 5 M%&)
Ceramic brush-washing bowl in eggplant purple paint made in the 32,000,000
“Jun” kiln of Jun Zhou, Henan province, China during Northern Song
dynasty* (3t R$IZHI KSR %)
The “Guanyin” ornament made of Hotan nephrite jade (yellow jade)* 44,427,600

(MEETESTEM)



Acquisition Date

WEE A

13 March 2025
“E-hF=HA+=H

18 March 2025

—_E_hE=At=H

18 March 2025
—E_hAF=ZA+=H

26 March 2025
“E-RF=A=+H

26 March 2025
—ZE-_RAF=A=+/H

*

Name & Nature of Artwork(s)

(BfimEERMEE)

Ceramic plate with incised flower design made in the “Ding” kiln of
Ding Zhou, Hebei province, China during Northern Song dynasty* (1t
REZEITERR)

Blue and white ceramic dish made with “grapes” design in Ming
dynasty (Yongle period)* ( Bk £ &£ /8 K8 B I K#)

Small ceramic bowl with design with sixteen distinctive edges of
chrysanthemum pedals made in the “Ding” kiln of Ding Zhou, Hebei
province, China during Northern Song dynasty* (3t 7R & 22 % i 4
TR

A pair of ceramic amphora with movable rings with dragon and
phoenix decoration in underglaze blue made in Ming dynasty (Jiajing

period)* (AR B ELERAEGRETHIR)

Yellow glazed pear-shaped ceramic ewer made in Ming dynasty (Jiajing
period)* (AR BEEEMALHE)

for identification purposes only * EHEER

Acquisition
Costs

e B8 B Ak
(HK$)
(B7T)

15,000,000

10,000,000

35,000,000

28,000,000

30,000,000
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To supplement the consolidated results of the Group which are
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards,
certain non-HKFRS Accounting Standards measures, including
EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, have been presented. These
non-HKFRS Accounting Standards financial measures should
be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, the
measures of the Group’s financial performance which have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards. The
Directors believe that these non-HKFRS Accounting Standards
financial measures provide investors with useful supplementary
information to assess the performance of its core operations by
excluding certain non-cash and non-recurring items. The EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA are unaudited figures.

Adjusted EBITDA was a profit of HK$49,588,000 for the Reporting
Year compared with a loss of HK$26,438,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024.

REAAESEREESWBHRELEN S
HRFRENGEEE B2 B TIERD
MR ELER S ERF 2 (BEEBITDA
RACTAEEEBITDA) c W E IR BM B R E
A LM BT ERERRBRER
BB REE S ERENAEH
MBEENRAMEERFAE-EER
A WERB AN B mE LR ER M
BAERREERHAEANGAER £
WkrETHBESRIFELEMIER FT/HAR
EEZOEBAKRIE - EBITDA R EHE
EBITDA B R K EZE I -

KBEFE 2K FAZEEBITDA 5%
49,588,000 L MEZE —_ZT —MHF = A
=+ —HI-FE &E1826,438,000/8 JT



The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the Group’s
non-HKFRS Accounting Standards financial measures for the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, respectively, to the nearest
measures prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards:

TREINAEBHEE T _RAFEL -
—HEZAZ+—BALEENEETBH
BHREEA S RN B EERES
B BEREEN e EARROSER
ATEMEER:

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+T—-HLEFE

2024

—EYF

HK$’'000

FAT

Loss for the year rEEEHHE (30,679)
Add: o

Depreciation e 1,888

Finance costs Bl & B AN 2,002

Income tax expenses Frisfim 45

EBITDA (unaudited) EBITDA (KRB HFE %) (26,744)
Add: o

Equity-settled share-based payments NHERGEE 2RO 306

Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) KL BEBITDA (REHFEXK) (26,438)
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References are made to (i) the announcements of the Company
dated 17 October 2023, 23 November 2023, 18 December
20283, 28 December 2023, 31 January 2024, 7 February 2024
(collectively, the “Rights Issue Announcements”); (ii) the
announcement of the Company dated 27 March 2024 (the “New
UOP Announcement”); (ii) the circular of the Company dated
1 December 2023 (the “Rights Issue Circular”); and (iv) the
prospectus of the Company dated 12 January 2024 (the “Rights
Issue Prospectus”) in relation to, among other things, the Rights
Issue on the basis of three (3) Rights Shares for every one (1)
existing Share held on the Record Date and the Placing. Unless
otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in this annual report
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Rights
Issue Announcements, the Rights Issue Circular, the New UOP
Announcement and the Rights Issue Prospectus.

On 17 October 2023, the Company (a) announced the proposed
Rights Issue on the basis of three (3) Rights Shares for every
one (1) existing Share held by the Qualifying Shareholders on the
Record Date, by issuing up to 4,744,684,386 Rights Shares at the
Subscription Price of HK$0.10 per Rights Share; and (b) entered
into the Placing Agreement with Fortune (HK) Securities Limited,
a licensed corporation to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities)
regulated activity under the SFO (the “Placing Agent”), pursuant
to which the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed as agent of
the Company (either by itself or through its sub-placing agents) to
procure independent Placees, on a best effort basis, to subscribe
for the Unsubscribed Rights Shares and the ES Unsold Rights
Shares.

The number of Rights Shares represented (i) 300.00% of the
existing issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the
Rights Issue Announcements; and (ii) 75.00% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the Rights Shares.

++?Et(')$’ Tﬁﬁﬁﬁfgi_i‘f'ﬂ
++tB - ZFTE=Z=F+—H=+=8"

7__5‘1’ AN =R _7__¢+_
AZ+N\B-ZZT-_@mWF&F—-—HA=+—H"
“E-NMF-_AtBAZRAE (KB THER
AED (AR ABBHAET_NF=
A+ tEBZzRAE(IHFREBRERARA
H) (i) AA2RBPAEZE_=F+=
A—Bz@EEk([HRER])  Rivy AR
AR -_NF-—A+ZBZHRERE
B(HRER]) AR ﬁfﬁ(ﬁ‘?&%)
EREHBAHERE—(1)RRERNHE
E= )HXT?EHXHX@ZJ_@E&EHTAHX&EE
EEBR -BRIIZEME AERFAAARE
HERAE - HRBE FAESRERS
NERERERFAATEEAEREE -

RZZE_=F+HA++tRH ARRl@EM
BERTCHBEHEERRESHA —
IRIR B IR = Q) AR AR B 2 B2 -
FRARBETRME M%ﬁom;ﬁﬁ%ﬁ

B %4,744, 684 386/ 1 IR IR 10 #E 1T AR

K (o) B2 & 58 %E@QT (*E?J%i.ﬁ%&ﬂ;ﬁ
iﬂlﬂﬁﬂ?ﬁé%%iﬁ( R 5 )XHEEE
BriEgiE) ((BERE]ITUEES
E Bl EERBEEKEREEA
RAABIZREB(BEASSIEBRESEE
REB)RBHEEREB LALARBR
ERBEHRERRD RBRINERRE D HRK
B e

J'L/_\d:

HRBRHEE () EEREAR TW
HHEIIR B B 1T AR 2K 2800.00% : K (i) 48
%E@ZK@ETé@ﬂ%ﬁé&%ﬁéﬁ@tﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂ%ﬁ
BB BITIRA 275.00% °



The Rights Shares, being allotted, issued and fully paid, rank
pari passu in all aspects among themselves and with the existing
Shares in issue at the time of allotment and issue of the Right
Shares.

The Subscription Price of HK$0.10 per Rights Share represented,
among others, a discount of approximately 9.09% over the closing
price of HK$0.110 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 17 October 2023, being the date of entering into of the Placing
Agreement.

The net price per Rights Share was approximately HK$0.0997.
The aggregate nominal value of the Rights Shares was
approximately HK$474,468,438.60.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, with respect to the placing
of the Unsubscribed Rights Shares, (i) each of the Placees under
the Placing and where appropriate, their respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s), is independent of and not connected with
the Company and its connected persons and not a connected
person of the Company; and (ii) none of the Placees has become
a substantial shareholder of the Company (as defined under the
Listing Rules) upon completion of the Placing.

The Directors consider that fundraising activities by the
Company are strategically significant for the Group’s growth and
development at all material times and the Rights Issue, being
pre-emptive in nature, allowed the Qualifying Shareholders to
participate in the future growth and development of the Group
and at the same time offered them to maintain their respective
proportional shareholdings in the Company. Furthermore, the
Directors are of the view that the Rights Issue, as a fundraising
method, is in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole for the purposes of strengthening the
capital base of the Company, increasing the Group’s operational
flexibility and in turn supporting the Company’s continuing
development and business growth.

TR B 10 B 3%~ BT R BUR BRIR - 1R
e EkEEZERBETHBREOREE %
THRERNEMAB LT AR ZEARRFHA -

REBEEFRERKRMDOIOBETR (EFE
BIRMOR-_ZE=_=F+A+t8 (B3]
MRS WE BH) R FTET R 2 W
BEFR%0.110/8 T HTE£19.09% ©

BRI (0 2 F B 49 50.099778 7T o i
A& 1D 2 BT {E %) 5474,468,438.6078 JT ©

BESLEL A BEREHAM &
BREESE RS RERBEBRROMS -
(WEEEEETZZARAR (WEA)
HEAZEREZHEEABILNARR
AEBEATBEAFESEHERE BWIFE
RAARIZBEAT: Ri)REEFETK
% BMEARAKBEARRZEERE (T
ER EWHRA) -

EERR EHERKA RNABETESR
ABHAEENERLREREBEEARK
BEE AR (BELHEE)ANELE
RERZEREBE 2 RARRERRER F
FEAERBRAFEERARAE 2K
RELLPI - ptoN EERA B (IER—T&
SEHTA)NEARAEBRZBRBRE
Meas AR A R A2 EANERE BN
SEEEBEZERN EMXBHARAZE
BEREEBER-
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The Rights Issue became unconditional on 6 February 2024.

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue amounted to
HK$474.47 million and the net proceeds (after deduction of
relevant costs and expenses) were approximately HK$470.82
million.

On 27 March 2024, the Board has resolved to change the use of
proceeds from the Rights Issue upon re-assessing the allocation
of resources into the Group’s existing business segments so as to
deploy its financial resources more effectively, seize other business
opportunities and contribute to a further diversified business
base of the Group. For further details, including the reasons for
the change of use of proceeds, please refer to the New UOP
Announcement. The proceeds raised from and the details of the
use of proceeds of the Rights Issue in respect of the revised use
of proceeds are set out below:

Proceeds intended
Intended revised use of each of the revised

proceeds as disclosed in the use of proceeds

New UOP Announcement BAR HEZEXERAH
FMERERRASHE ERERERD RERERR
FERENRERETRE FreRE BRMNASRE
HK$ million HK$ million
BEAETR BEETRT
(approximately) (approximately)
(#E4) (BE4)
(A)  Working capital for the Group’s 194.00 194.00
principally engaged businesses
REAEBRIEXBNEEESR
(i) In respect of money 100.00 100.00
lending business
WEXEH A HE
(i) In respect of margin 0.00 0.00
financing business
FRBEZBAE
(i) In respect of asset 50.00 50.00
management business
BEEBEEKAE
(iv)  In respect of corporate 44.00 44.00

finance business

CRBEXBIE

Utilised proceeds
to be applied for on the intended use

up to the date of
this annual report

HEER =
o

At

“HFEZRRNERABEK

R 2 TS B 4258 £474,470,00008 7T
MATISHRIEFE (LHBREBEEBRAX
%) #9/5470,820,000/% T °

RZZE-_NE=A=-++H EEeNE
T EAEEREEB Y BNERREE
BORZBEEBRABRENRSE R
MEABMERMBER ILEEL K -
Wi — P REARNEEZ T EBER -
E—SHB (REEEMSRERAERZE
M) BLETASRERRRAE -HKRE
EZHEREREBLEEBITMSRER
B HEBRFASRERRFBEHINET

Unutilised
proceeds
up to the date of

Expected timeline for
the use of unutilised

this annual report proceeds

BEEAFHRAH ERABA

REAMERE B8 ROE M TE B IR
HK$ million
BEETR
(approximately)
(#R)
0.00

0.00 Not applicable

NiEA

0.00 Not applicable

NEA

0.00 Not applicable

TiE A

0.00 Not applicable

NEHA



Proceeds intended Utilised proceeds
to be applied for on the intended use
each of the revised up to the date of
use of proceeds this annual report

Intended revised use of
proceeds as disclosed in the

New UOP Announcement BAR EEASERBEH
HMERERRASHE BERTERAEN RETERRZ
FERENRELEIT AR FrgRAE BANRSRNE
HK$ million HK$ million
BE#BT BE#ET
(approximately) (approximately)
(BE4) (BE4)
Reserved as seed money 140.00 140.00
for the investment funds to be
established and operated
under the Group’s asset
management business
ERBETFESRENAEHE
EEEBREBHRB I
REES
(i) seed money for an 90.00 90.00
investment fund to be
established with focus
primarily on major
secondary equity markets
in Hong Kong,
PRC and the USA
ERBEFESRENE
FUKRREZRT5
REE2 (XZE@EM
BE HEREEDN
FERE-HMS)
(i) seed money for an 50.00 50.00

investment fund to be
established with focus
primarily on private
equity targets seeking
initial public offerings
in the securities markets
of Hong Kong and
the USA
EREFESRENK
& Hpre-IPO R &
HEe (ZZEMES
R EEIE 5T )

Unutilised
proceeds

up to the date of
this annual report
EERFHRAHY
ABARERE
HK$ million
BEER
(approximately)

(#4)

0.00

0.00

0.00

Expected timeline for
the use of unutilised
proceeds

ERAABA

P 18 FRO8 B9 T 5 B PR

Not applicable
TER

Not applicable
i
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Intended revised use of
proceeds as disclosed in the
New UOP Announcement
MR REABRAERE
FENENREKETARZ

General working capital of the
Group, including staff cost,
rental expenses and other
office overhead of the Group

REREE-—REEES
BREREENE KA
HeRAXRAMBARX

(i) paying staff costs

SRBIRA

(i) paying rental expenses and
other office overhead of
the Group

ERNAEERNHESRHX
REAM AR X

(i) paying cost of upgrading IT
system
X ERB KRBT R
R

Investment into and operation of
companies within the financial
technology sector

WEREESRBM BN AT

Proceeds intended

Utilised proceeds

to be applied for on the intended use

each of the revised
use of proceeds

B AR
BERERAZEN
8 ®ME

HK$ million
HEBER
(approximately)

(#4)

56.82

32.82

19.00

5.00

24.00

up to the date of
this annual report
EEXRFHRAY
RERTERR
BANAERE
HK$ million
BEER
(approximately)

(#4)

56.82

32.82

19.00

5.00

24.00

Unutilised
proceeds

up to the date of
this annual report
EERFHRAHY
ABARERE
HK$ million
BEER
(approximately)

(#4)

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

Expected timeline for

the use of unutilised
proceeds
ERAEH

i 45 7008 1Y TE I R IR

Not applicable
TER

Not applicable
@A

Not applicable
TiE R

Not applicable
N iE A



Total:
st

Intended revised use of
proceeds as disclosed in the
New UOP Announcement
NRREABRAERE
FERENREKETARZ

Repayment of the principal
amount of the corporate bonds
and the interest accrued
therefrom (in the aggregate
amount outstanding being
approximately HK$14.46
million), which are becoming
due and payable during the
period from December
2023 to April 2024

BER-_Z_=F1+-RZ
T WFM A AR 2 HE
HRBESFAE REEEH A

(REE LT 514,460,000
BIT)

New purpose: Investment
Immigration

A% REBR

New purpose: Clean Energy
Investment
AR RRERIRE

New purpose: Cryptocurrency
Investment

A% MEEERE

Proceeds intended
to be applied for
each of the revised
use of proceeds

B AR
BERTERAEN
8 ®E

HK$ million
BHEETT
(approximately)

(#4)

10.00

16.00

25.00

5.00

470.82

Utilised proceeds
on the intended use
up to the date of
this annual report
EEXRFHRAY
RETERRZ
BANAERE
HK$ million
BEER
(approximately)

(#4)

10.00

16.00

25.00

5.00

470.82

Unutilised
proceeds

up to the date of
this annual report
EERFHRAHY
ABARERE
HK$ million
BEER
(approximately)

(#4)

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

Expected timeline for
the use of unutilised
proceeds

ERAABA

P 18 FRO8 B9 T 5 B PR

Not applicable
NaEAa

Not applicable
TE R

Not applicable
TER

Not applicable
NEAa
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References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 28 June 2024 and 24 July 2024 (collectively, the “Placing
of New Shares Announcements”) in relation to the placing of
new Shares under General Mandate. Unless otherwise specified,
capitalised terms used in this annual report shall have the
same meanings as those defined in the Placing of New Shares
Announcements.

On 28 June 2024 (after trading hours of the Stock Exchange), the
Company entered into a placing agreement (the “June Placing
Agreement”) with Fortune (HK) Securities Limited (the “Placing
Agent”), pursuant to which the Placing Agent has conditionally
agreed, as the Company’s placing agent, to procure, on a best
effort basis, no fewer than six placees (the “June Placees”), who
and whose ultimate beneficial owners (where applicable) will be
independent third parties, to subscribe (the “June Placing”) for
up to a maximum of 316,312,292 new shares at the placing price
of HK$0.90 per new share.

On 24 July 2024, the Company announced that a total of
273,776,000 placing shares (the “June Placing Shares”) have
been successfully placed by the Placing Agent to no less than six
June Placees at the placing price of HK$0.90 per June Placing
Share, representing approximately 4.15% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the June Placing Shares immediately upon the completion of the
June Placing on 24 July 2024.

The June Placing Shares rank, upon issue, pari passu in all
aspects among themselves and with the other shares in issue at
the completion date.

ZRMARARBBHA-ZT-_WMF A
T+t NBEZE-_MF+LA=Z+WMAAR
BRE —REEREFTRNHZ2AE (5
(MEHFRGLE]) BREBFFEWN K
FRMAFAREREETROAEARE
HEEBMEREE-

RZE_MENAZ+NB (BT
SERE) ARAEERELFFR QA
(BEREDITY—BESHZE ([KA
BEHZE]) Bt BREREEFEHGR
BEUERAARRARIZEERE) RENE
ERFERDRNEEBA ([NAEEA])
(BFERFEEZEREZHEEAA (WEA)
ARBNE=H)RREESRHRK0.90
7B TT R BB & £316,312,202% F1 AL 15 ([ 75
AREE®E]) -

=l 1t =l By ol /1% = B/ /N =
BEEREEZESR N ARERD0.90% T
ZHEBRTDPRANZ N AEREAKD
Bo & & ££273,776,0000% B & B 15 ([N B
RERS]) HERBEE_Z _NF+A
TtHBEERANARESTEHEAQRK
REERETANARERMMBRAZE E
TR AR 494.15% ©

NABRERO ML 2B REZTK BB Z
HWBEETRNESTEZARFMHAL-



The placing price of HK$0.90 per June Placing Share represented
a discount of 10% over the closing price of HK$1.00 per share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on 28 June 2024, being the date
of the June Placing Agreement.

The net issue price per June Placing Share was approximately
HK$0.89. The aggregate nominal value of the June Placing Shares
was HK$27,377,600.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, with respect to the June
Placing of the June Placing Shares, (i) each of the June Placees
and where appropriate, their respective ultimate beneficial
owner(s), is independent of and not connected with the Company
and its connected persons and not a connected person of the
Company; and (i) none of the June Placees has become a
substantial shareholder of the Company (as defined under the
Listing Rules) upon completion of the June Placing.

The Directors are of the view that the June Placing will strengthen
the financial position of the Group by raising additional funds for
the Group and thereby providing a higher liquidity and operational
flexibility to the Group by increasing its working capital through
the June Placing without (i) increasing the interest burden on the
Group; and (ii) affecting the financial position and the liquidity risk
of the Group by means of equity fundraising. The June Placing
also represents good opportunities to broaden the Shareholders’
base.

The gross proceeds from the June Placing received by the Group
amounted to HK$246.40 million and the net proceeds (after
deduction of relevant expenses) received by the Company under
the June Placing was approximately HK$243.90 million.

Bl E B &N AR ER©K0.908 TR (75
R-ZZ_WMFENAZ+NAB (BN AlcE
s B HA) 72 Bt 32 AT A R U T (B B AR 1.00
BT E10% ©

&

t%/ﬂm%%@Z%%ﬁE%%o%%
SHARSERGD 2 LH1E A27,377,600
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S

i

BEEKFEL—VAESHEMRM &
BERHEE AANAREBRN 2 NARES
BEmME ()&NAEREAR (ER) &
BXHRRESEHEAEABINRARARHE
FAEATHREFEEMERE BYFAR
BlZBEAL: Ry /N AREFETK
B MEBEBANAEREAKRSERARZEER
R(OEERLMRA) -

EERA NAREEERR/AEEEE
BINED EMMABRERBNT BN
BRANAEEEFHEEM-—REEEST
RAEBRHEZARBESNEANE
BRI MASHEMNAEENNEE
B R AETRAEREMZENRERN
HBERARREBESRR - N AlLE SR
TREEFA R B 2 R -
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The proceeds raised from and the details of the use of proceeds

of the June Placing up to the date of this annual report are as

follows:

Intended use of proceeds as
disclosed in the Placing for

Proceeds to be

Utilised proceeds

up to the date of

New Shares Announcements applied this annual report
REHFRODAEMEE HKERAKN BEAFHAHD
FIERENEERZ FBFIE BEHANMEBRIE
HK$ million HK$ million
BEER BEER
(approximately) (approximately)
(BE4) (BE4)
Operation and enhancement of 142.00 142.00
the Group'’s existing businesses
REERBEBESE R
Investments to be made under 50.00 50.00
the Group’s equity investment business
REEREREEBNIREERR
Continuous development and expansion 25.00 25.00
into financial technology businesses
SEERRERCRBIRER
General working capital of the Group 26.90 26.90
REEN—REEER
Total: 243.90 243.90
et

As at 31 March 2025, the nominal value of the total issued share
capital of the Company was approximately HK$745,847,499.90
comprising 7,458,474,999 shares of the Company of HK$0.10
each (the “Shares”).

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure and makes adjustments to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic conditions. For the licensed
subsidiaries of the Group, the Group ensures each of them
maintains a liquid capital level that is adequate to support
the level of activities with a sufficient buffer to accommodate
increases in liquidity requirements arising from potential increases
in the level of business activities. During the Reporting Year, all
the licensed subsidiaries of the Group complied with the liquid
capital requirements under the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules (Cap. 571 sub. leg. N of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules”).

BEAFHREH ~NAREFEEEZM
SRENMAEFEREFBHIIMOT

Unutilised
proceeds

up to the date of
this annual report

Expected timeline
for the use of
unutilised proceeds

BEAFHRAH FERAKREH

AEANRERE FiT 18 SRR B9 TR HA B BR
HK$ million
BEER
(approximately)
(#R)

0.00 Not applicable

i

0.00 Not applicable

T iE A

0.00 Not applicable

NEAa

0.00 Not applicable

TiE A
0.00

NRZE_AF=FA=+—H AQAaD3%
TR AN BB EEX) B 745,847,499.9078 7T
B 157,458,474,9990% T IR E {B0.10/8 7T 2
RAalfgn (TR]) -

AEERGEHRITREEEEALE
WAEEERBE 2 ESHEAEBIED
AR - RAEEFECHMBARME &
CEERRASEENBARNAREESE
ERE EUSREBRLE UREER
EBA R EBEEmMSI N RDES 2
FBREFARTMEERNEN -RAREFE
AEBBFENBARHETE SN
BERESTINEZESRBE (FHBER)
RA([BERPE (BBRER)KRA])T
ZREESHTE -



The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to Shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balances.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes
corporate bonds, lease liabilities, cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, which comprises
issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of
the review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and take appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure. The overall
strategy of the Group remains unchanged during the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

For certain subsidiaries of the Company, they are regulated by the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) of Hong Kong and
are required to comply with certain minimum capital requirements
according to the rules of SFC. Our management monitors, on a
daily basis, the subsidiaries’ liquid capital level to ensure they
meet with the minimum liquid capital requirement in accordance
with the Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules. The
range of liquid capital is from HK$100,000 to HK$3,000,000 or
5% of their total adjusted liabilities, whichever is higher.

There is no non-compliance of the capital requirements of the
Group members imposed by the respective regulators during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

During the Reporting Year, the Group mainly financed its
operations by cash generated from operating activities and
proceeds from fund raising activities.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$841,714,000 (as at 31 March
2024: approximately HK$864,100,000) and approximately
HK$678,890,000 (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$290,652,000) respectively, while the current ratio was about
1.24 times (as at 31 March 2024: 2.97 times).
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As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s aggregate cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$92,186,000
(as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$289,257,000), of
which approximately 80.07% was denominated in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") (as at 31 March 2024: approximately 98.22%),
approximately 9.83% was denominated in United States
dollars (“USD”) (as at 31 March 2024: approximately 1.47%),
approximately 10.00% was denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
(as at 31 March 2024: 0.27%), and approximately 0.10% was
denominated in SGD (as at 31 March 2024: approximately 0.04%),
representing 10.95% (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
38.47%) of total current assets. As at 31 March 2025, the Group
had no bank borrowing (as at 31 March 2024: nil).

During the Reporting Year, no financial instruments were used
for hedging purposes. As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio,
measured on the basis of total borrowings (including borrowings,
lease liabilities and corporate bonds) as a percentage of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, was approximately
10.97% (as at 31 March 2024: approximately 3.05%). The debt
ratio, defined as total debts over total assets, was approximately
14.88% (as at 31 March 2024: 27.96%).

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no additional
corporate bond was issued.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held investments at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$585,942,000 (as
at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$253,273,000), with net
gains on investments at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$50,145,000 (2024: net losses of approximately
HK$3,481,000).

As at 31 March 2025, none of each individual underlying
investment of the above mentioned investments constitutes 5% or
above of the total assets of the Group.

RZE-_RARF=ZA=Z=+—"H xEEHZ
BekReEEYWE L4 £E92,186,000

BT(R_ZE-_WFEF=ZA=Z=+—H:%
289,257,000/ 7T ) + H# 4980.07% (R =
E_PFE=A=+—H:498.22% ) LAB

(I8l E - 49.83% (R=—F =Y
FEZRA=Z+—HB:#1.47%)AETT ([ %
FTI)EHE#10.00% (R=ZZE=_MF =
B=+—B:4027% ) UARE (AR
) ENRL010% (R-ZZE-_WF=A
=+ —H:%0.04% ) AFT N ST EHE - 4
ERRBEERAE10.95% (R - - MF
ZA=Z+—B:43347%) N _E_-FH
F=ZA=1T—HB FAEEIERTER (R
TE-NNF=ZR=+—H:E)-

RAREFE HEeH T EELSHRASE-
R-E-_RAF=ZA=+—H REEE (L
EEE HEABERRARBEHR)GARQR
BEANELEGABOUHAEZERNEGENL
K E1097% (RZZE_WF=A=+—
H:493.05%) EBLEX(EEARBRED
BrAMREBE) 4 E1488% (R - —MF
—AZ=Z+—HB:27.96%) °

BHE - Z-_RAFER_ZT_MNF=A=+—
BIEFE SMEETARES-

R—_E_RAF=ZA=+—H K&EH
BFRERRAFTEIIABZEZHREY
585,942,000 L (R—_ZE _WFE = A

=+ —B:4253,273,000/& T) "I A
TFTEINABZEZERENRIFENE

50,145,000 70 (=T — P 4F : E5 18 5 58
493,481,000/ 7T, ) °

R-ZE-_RAF=A=+—H ' F#EEHN
F-HEAEKEEOTERAEERE
B Z25% KA ko



The Group has significant investment in Wealthink Al-Innovation
Capital Limited (“Wealthink”), being associates of the Group.

Wealthink is a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange as an investment company regulated under Chapter
21 of the Listing Rules. Wealthink-Al Innovation Capital Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Wealthink Group”) are
principally engaged in investment holding activities in Hong Kong
and the PRC, with the involvement of investment in a diversified
portfolio of global investments with respect to both listed and
private enterprises.

On 18 October 2024, Marvel Champion Investment Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the
acquisition of 2,751,339,130 shares of Wealthink, upon which, (i)
the Company has been beneficially interested in 3,064,454,515
shares of Wealthink, representing approximately 29.13% equity
interest in Wealthink; and (ii) Wealthink has become an associate
of the Group. For further details, please refer to the section
headed “Very Substantial Acquisition and Connected Transaction
— Acquisition of Shares in Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited
listed on the Stock Exchange involving the Issue of Consideration
Shares under Specific Mandate”.

The carrying amount of the investment in Wealthink as at 31
March 2025 was approximately HK$2,896,923,000, representing
approximately 62.81% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 March
2025.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised
share of profit and other comprehensive expense from
Wealthink in the amount of approximately HK$10,777,000 and
HK$29,617,000, respectively. No dividend was received during
the Reporting Year.
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Throughout 2024, the Company continuously strengthened its
core competencies in licensed financial businesses by leveraging
its comprehensive licensed business framework to deepen cross-
border integrated financial services, thus achieving high-quality
and stable business growth. As a pivotal milestone in its strategic
upgrading, the Company was formally renamed as “GoFintech
Quantum Innovation Limited” during the Reporting Year to drive
the financial infrastructure reform with quantum technology. In
the field of underlying technology convergence, the Company
actively invested in the fundamental R&D and technology
application for quantum algorithms while proactively responding
to the implementation of Hong Kong’'s legislative regime to
regulate the issuance, offering and marketing of stablecoins by
strategically positioning itself in offshore RMB stablecoin issuance
and compliant settlement operations. Through this dual-track
strategy of “quantum computing + digital asset infrastructure”,
the Company aims to empower ecosystem development and
scenario innovation for cross-border payments, facilitate efficient
capital allocation and achieve breakthroughs in proprietary
financial technology, thereby supporting the establishment of an
innovation-focused financial ecosystem featuring high efficiency
and mutual trust.

Looking ahead to 2025, the Company will maintain its technology-
driven approach, continuously advancing its comprehensive
licensed financial businesses through technological innovation.
The Company will actively focus on the emerging quantum
technology sector to accelerate deployment across the quantum
technology industry chain, integrating technology, capital and
market resources to build an internationally competitive sci-
tech innovation platform. Furthermore, the Company will explore
financial service applications in cultural and creative industries,
supply chain operations, cross-border trade and other domains.
In cultural and creative industries, the Company will leverage
its licensed status and professional teams to establish service
systems for art auctions, financing, and real-world asset
tokenization to expand high-value-added cultural finance markets.
In supply chain operations and cross-border trade, with its
strategic position anchored in Hong Kong, supported by Chinese
markets and extending globally, the Company will empower supply
chain operations with technology-driven finance to integrate
logistics, capital flows and other operational segments. Moving
forward, the Group will continue to enhance our comprehensive
service capabilities with the Group’s principally-engaged licensed
financial businesses as the cornerstone and technological
innovation as the growth driver, constantly creating value for
shareholders, customers and partners of the Company and
achieving long-term sustainable business development.
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On 23 August 2024, the Company, Marvel Champion Investment
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Dr. Liu Zhiwei,
Trenda Capital Pte. Ltd. and Caitex Technology Holdings
Limited as vendors, pursuant to which, the said purchaser
has conditionally agreed to acquire and the said vendors have
conditionally agreed to sell 2,751,339,130 shares (the “Target
Wealthink Shares”) of Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited, a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability,
the shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1140), at the consideration in the amount
of HK$302,647,304.00. The said consideration was satisfied by
the allotment of 340,053,151 shares of the Company at the issue
price of approximately HK$0.89 per share under the specific
mandate sought by the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 4 October 2024. The aggregate nominal value
of share capital for the 340,053,151 shares of the Company is
HK$34,005,315.10.

The completion of the said transactions under the sale and
purchase agreement took place on 18 October 2024, and
upon which, (i) the Company has been beneficially interested in
3,064,454,515 Target Wealthink Shares via the said purchaser,
representing approximately 29.13% equity interest in Wealthink
Al-Innovation Capital Limited as at the date of completion; (ii)
Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited has become an associate
of the Group; (iii) the financial results of Wealthink Al-Innovation
Capital Limited and its subsidiaries has been accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group as investment in
an associate using the equity method of accounting; and (iv) the
Company has become a substantial shareholder of Wealthink Al-
Innovation Capital Limited.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated
23 August 2024, 13 September 2024, 4 October 2024 and
18 October 2024, and the circular of the Company dated 17
September 2024.
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On 31 December 2024, the Company, as the purchaser, and
Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (“Wealthink Al”) as the
vendor entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to purchase
and Wealthink Al has conditionally agreed to sell the 60,000,000
shares (the “Target CSOP Shares”) of CSOP Asset Management
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, representing 22.50% of the entire issued share capital
of CSOP Asset Management Limited, at the consideration in
the amount of HK$1,110,000,000, which shall be settled by
the allotment and issuance of the 1,405,063,292 shares of
the Company at the issue price of approximately HK$0.79 per
share under the specific mandate to be sought by the Company
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company (the
“Acquisition”). The aggregate nominal value of share capital for
the 1,405,063,292 shares of the Company is HK$140,506,329.20.

As at the date of this annual report, certain conditions precedent
to completion of the transactions contemplated under the sale
and purchase agreement which include, among other things, the
approval of the Acquisition, the sale and purchase agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder by the Shareholders at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be convened
on 15 July 2025, have not been fulfilled. The parties shall use
reasonable endeavours to finalise the transaction on or before
31 July 2025, being the long stop date of the sale and purchase
agreement.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated
31 December 2024, 21 January 2025, 30 April 2025, 7 May 2025,
12 May 2025, 15 July 2025 and circular dated 25 June 2025.

Save and except for the abovementioned, there was no material
acquisition or disposal of the Group during the Reporting Year.
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As at 31 March 2025, save as note 36, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities (as at 31 March 2024: nil).

As at 31 March 2025, no asset of the Group was subject to any
charge (as at 31 March 2024: Nil).

The Group has properly put in place credit management policies
which cover the examination of the approval of client’s trading
and credit limits, regular review of facilities granted, monitoring of
credit exposures and the follow up of credit risks associated with
overdue debts. The policies are reviewed and updated regularly.

During the Reporting Year, the Group mainly used Hong Kong
dollars in its business transactions. The Board considers that the
Group’s foreign currency exposure is insignificant.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 62 employees in total
(2024: 67 employees). The related employees’ costs for the
Reporting Year (excluding Directors’ remunerations) amounted
to approximately HK$67,473,000 (2024: approximately
HK$29,997,000). The Group remunerated employees based on
the industry practice and individual’s performance. Staff benefits
include contributions to retirement benefit scheme, medical
allowance and other fringe benefits. In addition, the Group
maintains the share option scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants based on their
contributions.
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References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 9 April 2025, 17 April 2025 and 25 April 2025 (collectively,
the “2025 Placing of New Shares Announcements”) in relation
to the placing of new Shares under General Mandate. Unless
otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in this section shall
have the same meanings as those defined in the 2025 Placing of
New Shares Announcements.

On 9 April 2025 (after trading hours of the Stock Exchange), the
Company entered into a placing agreement (the “2025 Placing
Agreement”) with Fortune (HK) Securities Limited (the “Placing
Agent”’), pursuant to which the Placing Agent has conditionally
agreed, as the Company’s placing agent, to procure, on a best
effort basis, no fewer than six placees (the “2025 Placees”), who
and whose ultimate beneficial owners (where applicable) will be
independent third parties, to subscribe (the “2025 Placing”) for
up to a maximum of 372,923,749 new shares at the placing price
of HK$1.12 per new share.

On 25 April 2025, the Company announced that a total of
231,500,000 placing shares (the “2025 Placing Shares”) have
been successfully placed by the Placing Agent to no less than six
2025 Placees at the placing price of HK$1.12 per 2025 Placing
Share, representing approximately 3.01% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the 2025 Placing Shares immediately upon the completion of the
2025 Placing on 25 April 2025.

The 2025 Placing Shares rank, upon issue, pari passu in all
aspects among themselves and with the other shares in issue at
the completion date.
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The placing price of HK$1.12 per 2025 Placing Share represented
a discount of 5.08% over the closing price of HK$1.18 per share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 9 April 2025, being the date
of the 2025 Placing Agreement.

The net issue price per 2025 Placing Share was approximately
HK$1.11. The aggregate nominal value of the 2025 Placing
Shares was HK$23,150,000.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, with respect to the 2025
Placing of the 2025 Placing Shares, (i) each of the 2025 Placees
and where appropriate, their respective ultimate beneficial
owner(s), is independent of and not connected with the Company
and its connected persons and not a connected person of the
Company; and (ii) none of the 2025 Placees has become a
substantial shareholder of the Company (as defined under the
Listing Rules) upon completion of the 2025 Placing.

The Directors are of the view that the 2025 Placing can provide a
higher liquidity to increase the Group’s operational flexibility and
to sustain its capability for financing any of its potential business
development opportunities upon the Group’s existing businesses,
as and when suitable opportunity arises. Furthermore, the
2025 Placing will strengthen the financial position of the Group
and provide working capital to the Group to meet any future
financial obligations of the Group. In addition, the 2025 Placing
also represents good opportunities to broaden the Company’s
shareholders’ base. Last but not least, the Group is able to (i)
increase its working capital through the 2025 Placing without
incurring interest burden on the Group due to debt financing; and
(i) enhance the financial position and the resistance to liquidity
risk of the Group by means of equity fundraising.

The gross proceeds from the 2025 Placing received by the Group
amounted to HK$259.28 million and the net proceeds (after
deduction of relevant expenses) received by the Company under
the 2025 Placing was approximately HK$256.60 million.
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The proceeds raised from and the details of the use of proceeds

of the 2025 Placing up to the date of this annual report are as

follows:

Intended use of proceeds as
disclosed in the 2025 Placing of
New Shares Announcements
ZECREBRETROGAE
FRBERESRENEERR

Investments to be made under the
Group’s equity investment business

AKBEREREXBNRERR

Continuous development and expansion
into new business areas

FERRMORNEBEE

Operation and enhancement of the
Group’s existing businesses

AEBRBEEBHES REF

General working capital of the Group

AEEN—REEES

Total
@it

Proceeds to be
applied
HEAH

e RAE

HK$ million
BEAT
(approximately)

(B£49)

66.29

66.29

62.01

62.01

256.60

Utilised proceeds
up to the date of
this annual report
BERFHRAH
EHANRBNE
HK$ million
BEAT
(approximately)

($49)

60.00

2.20

62.01

4.20

128.41

BEAFHREH —_T_AFEEFESE

S ZFBRBERAA
LU
Unutilised
proceeds

up to the date of
this annual report
BEAFEHRAH
REANFBNRE
HK$ million
BERET
(approximately)

(#49)

6.29

64.09

0.00

57.81

128.19

SREAZRFEET

Expected timeline
for the use of
unutilised proceeds
ERABA

Fir 15 7008 1O 78 2 R (R

Expected to be utilised
by June 2026

FEHR T - RF
NAREA
Expected to be utilised
by June 2027
BHR-ZZT=+F
NARIEA

Not applicable

TEA

Expected to be utilised
by December 2026
BHRZZTZRF
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Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
29 April 2025 (the “Loan Capitalisation Announcement”) in
relation to, among other things, the Loan Capitalisation. Unless
otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in this section
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Loan
Capitalisation Announcement.

On 29 April 2025 (after trading hours of the Stock Exchange), the
Company and the Lender entered into the Loan Capitalisation
Agreement, pursuant to which the Lender (as the subscriber) has
conditionally agreed to subscribe (for himself or his nominee) for,
and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue,
458,769,789 Capitalisation Shares, at the Issue Price of HK$1.28
per Capitalisation Share. The consideration of the allotment and
issue of the Capitalisation Shares in the amount of approximately
HK$587.225 million shall be settled by means of offsetting against
the Repayment Amount of approximately HK$587.225 million.

As at the date of the Loan Capitalisation Agreement, the
Outstanding Loan Sum amounted to approximately HK$587.225
million. Upon Completion, the Repayment Amount (being the
whole amount of the Outstanding Loan Sum) shall be deemed to
have been repaid and the Group will no longer be indebted to the
Lender pursuant to the Shareholder’s Facilities under the Loan
Agreements.

For details of the Loan Capitalisation, please refer to the Loan
Capitalisation Announcement. A circular containing, amongst other
things, (i) further details of the Loan Capitalisation; (ii) a letter of
advice from the Independent Board Committee to the Independent
Shareholders; (iii) a letter of advice from the Independent Financial
Adviser in relation to the Loan Capitalisation; (iv) a notice to
convene the EGM; and (v) other information as required under the
Listing Rules, is expected to be despatched to the Shareholders
on or before 31 August 2025 (or as the case may be, such time
as and when appropriate in accordance with the Listing Rules).

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this annual report,
there were no other significant events affecting the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries after the end of the Reporting Year and up
to the date of this annual report requiring disclosure in this annual
report.
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Ms. SUN Qing, aged 64, was appointed as an executive
Director in April 2020, and further appointed as a member of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee on February 2024. She joined the Group in August
2019 and is responsible for human resources and administrative
management of the Group. She is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Sun graduated from Beijing
Correspondence College of Finance and Commerce in 1988
majoring in industrial accounting. Ms. Sun also obtained the
accountant qualification awarded by the Ministry of Finance of the
PRC in 1994.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Sun worked in Everbright
Securities Company Limited (listed on both the main board of the
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange) for nearly
20 years, mainly responsible for the company’s finance, human
resources and comprehensive back office management. She has
over 20 years of working experience in the financial industry and
has extensive experience in various management tasks such as
finance, auditing and human resources.

Ms. Sun was a non-executive director of IBO Technology
Company Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange) from July 2020 to February 2021. She has been an
independent director of Shenzhen Sunrise New Energy Company
Limited (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) since 9
December 2024.
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Dr. NIE Riming, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in October 2023. Dr. Nie graduated from Zhejiang
University in 2005 with a bachelor’'s degree in Engineering and
further obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration
from Fudan University in 2014 and a Ph.D. in Economics from
Fudan University in 2021. Dr. Nie is currently the vice president
and a researcher at the Shanghai Institute of Finance and Law.
Dr. Nie has been a visiting scholar at the University of California,
San Diego from February 2024 to February 2025. He was also a
visiting senior research assistant of Hong Kong Baptist University
(School of Business) in March 2013. Dr. Nie has over 16 years of
experience in finance and economics.

Since November 2018, Dr. Nie has served as a director of
Purekind Fund Management Co., Ltd. from December 2015
to October 2016, Dr. Nie was a supervisor of Bestone Asset
Management Corporation Limited.

Mr. LI Chunguang, aged 40, graduated from Tsinghua University
in 2009 with a bachelor's degree in Architecture and further
obtained a master’s degree in Philosophy from Columbia
University in the United States in 2012. Mr. Li has extensive
experience in the fields of artificial intelligence, blockchain and
digital technology. He is currently the president and chief scientist
of the Renxue International Foundation, a researcher at the
Tsinghua (Qingdao) Academy of Arts and Science Innovation
Research, a member of the Academic and Technical Committee of
the Metaverse and Al 30 Forum, and an academic chairperson of
the Youth Branch of the Chinese Society for Futures Studies.

From May 2018 to October 2020, Mr. Li served as the vice
president and chief expert of the Forum 30 on Global Al and
Blockchain. From October 2015 to September 2018, Mr. Li served
as the president and chief expert of Beijing Holographic Think
Tank Culture Technology Co., Ltd. From October 2015 to June
2018, Mr. Li served as the vice president and chief expert of
Beijing Triple Community Technology Co., Ltd. From December
2013 to September 2015, Mr. Li served as the vice president
of Beijing INFOBOX Technology Co., Ltd. From November 2012
to November 2013, he served as the director of the strategic
planning department of Beijing 55world Information Technology
Co., Ltd..
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Mr. Hua Yang, aged 49, has been re-designated as a non-
executive Director on 28 February 2024. He was appointed as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in January 2023. He has
extensive experience in assets management, equity investment,
insurance, and business administration. He is a co-founder and
a partner of Source Capital Management Co., Ltd. (& /R&E K&
EAHR AT, the first insurance-company-backed private equity
investment fund approved by the China Insurance Regulatory
Commission, from March 2015 to June 2022.

Mr. Hua joined the Group in October 2017 as a non-executive
Director and was re-designated as an executive Director and was
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company between March 2018
to April 2020. He was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company and executive Director on January 2023 and March
2023 respectively, and resigned on February 2024. Mr. Hua was
a managing director of a subsidiary of the Group from April 2020
to 31 January 2023. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hua was the
general manager of Sun Life Everbright Asset Management Co.,
Ltd. from March 2012 to March 2015. During the period from
1997 to 2012, he had held various senior positions with insurance
and securities companies and had completed various initial public
offering projects and share placing projects, as well as corporate
bonds issuance for a number of companies, etc.

Mr. Hua graduated with a bachelor’s degree in economics and
management from Beijing Forestry University in 1997. He also
obtained an executive master of business administration degree
(EMBA) from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 2005.

ERAE 49 R_ZT_MNF = A
TN NBRAERIANTEST KR _-ZF
T -ABRZAERARRARIERBITE
BRREEETRE KREXRE REREIFZE
BrE#ELERR BT —h¥F=H
EE_FRA BRREREANEESA
RAR (BEFBRRREBSEEZESHE
NEXRRZLEREREER)NES
Blis ARERBA -

EEER_FT—EtFTAMAREEE
EERTESE WR_E—N\E=AF=
T _TFNARAEARAANTESTRALA
BRHTE BRZ-ZE-_=F—AK=
T = F=RANREZEAREARAIERE
HOTEAATES E T _WF_A
R _FTFOMAE_ZTE_=F—H
=t+—H EX4EHAASE—FHHRBA
AMNESRLEE - RIMAKREE R/ L
ER—_E——F=AF2_F—H&F=H
HEETEAARKBAEEEERODEBRA
AMNBEEBE - R—NWNEtFET—=F
HE - FERZHERBEERESFAREES
EAmBRBAi KEEA BEKITKE
AERAFAEESEE RRMNDESER A
KON ZERARIKINETRARESRS-

HEEER-—NANEFEERIERHRERKR
B RSEEERET BN -HAR_T
THEFRBRIBERSAEBAETL
EEBELTEA-



Mr. CHAN Kin Sang, aged 73, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee
of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) in July 2014. He
was further appointed as a member of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee in December
2022. Mr. Chan was appointed as the chairman of the Board, an
authorised representative of the Company and the chairman of
the Nomination Committee in February 2024. Mr. Chan is currently
a partner of Kwan & Chow, Solicitors (a law firm which provides
various services including corporate matters and litigations). Mr.
Chan obtained a bachelor’s degree in Laws from the University of
Hong Kong in 1979 and a postgraduate certificate in Laws from
the University of Hong Kong in 1980. He has been a practising
solicitor in Hong Kong since April 1982 and has been admitted as
a Notary Public since April 1997 and a China-appointed Attesting
Officer since January 2000. Mr. Chan has also been a Fellow of
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors since August 2004.

Mr. Chan has been a non-executive director of Sino Harbour
Holdings Group Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange) since 1 April 2020.

Over the past three years, Mr. Chan was an independent non-
executive director of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company
Limited (listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange) from November
2018 to April 2024 and he was an independent non-executive
director of Pak Tak International Limited (listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange) from April 2018 to December 2024.
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Mr. CHIU Kung Chik, aged 40, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in March 2017. He was
re-designated from a member of the Audit Committee to the
chairman of the Audit Committee in March 2020. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Chiu graduated from the University
of Chicago with a bachelor’s degree in Economics. He has
extensive experience and knowledge in investment banking,
capital financing, corporate restructuring, merger and acquisition,
complex transaction structuring, etc. Mr. Chiu has been an
independent non-executive director of Shandong Hi-Speed New
Energy Group Limited (formerly known as Beijing Enterprises
Clean Energy Group Limited, listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange) since 29 July 2016. He is also a non-executive
director of Link Holdings Limited (listed on the GEM board of the
Stock Exchange) since 2 May 20283.

From 2008 to 2015, Mr. Chiu worked with UBS AG in the
investment banking department in its Hong Kong office, primarily
focusing on advising large scale corporate clients on their capital
market activities. During the aforesaid period, he had completed
a number of high-profile capital market transactions, merger and
acquisition transactions as well as debt financing transactions.
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Ms. LUl Mei Ka, aged 40, was appointed as an independent non
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee in
September 2023. Ms. Lui graduated from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong with a degree in bachelor of business administration
in 2006 and is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Since 27 September 2018, Ms. Lui has been the chief financial
officer and a joint company secretary of Feiyu Technology
International Company Limited (stock code: 1022), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Since 21 April
2017, Ms. Lui has also been an independent non-executive
director of China Tangshang Holdings Limited (stock code: 674), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Since
30 September 2024, Ms. Lui has also been an independent non-
executive director of China Tontine Wines Group Limited (stock
code: 389), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Ms. Lui has over 17 years of experience in financial management
and corporate finance. From October 2016 to July 2018, she was
the chief financial officer and company secretary of GR Properties
Limited (stock code: 108), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and which is engaged in property
development and investment. From March 2014 to May 2016,
she was the company secretary and financial controller of LT
Commercial Real Estate Limited, a company previously listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange under the stock code 112,
which was engaged in property development and investment.
Prior to that, Ms. Lui had about seven years of experience in
auditing and accounting at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from
September 2006 to August 2013.
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Mr. YUAN Tianfu, aged 36, joined the Group in January 2022 and
was further appointed as the co-CEO in February 2024. Mr. Yuan
focuses on the Group’s strategic planning, direct investment,
securities investment, investment portfolio management and other
businesses. Mr. Yuan currently serves as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yuan graduated from Tsinghua
University in 2011 with a bachelor’s degree in Electronic Science
and Technology, and further obtained a master’s degree in
Business Administration from Renmin University of China in 2016.

Mr. Yuan has nearly 16 years of experience in the financial industry
and is familiar with the environment, regulations and operations of
the mainland China, Hong Kong and international capital markets.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Yuan served as the senior project
manager of the strategic investment department and the vice
Ltd. from
June 2011 to December 2014. From January 2015 to December

president of Anbang Insurance Group Holdings Co.,

2019, he served as the head of the office of the board of directors
of Tongchuang Jiuding Investment Management Group Holdings
Co., Ltd. From January 2020 to December 2021,
the vice president of Kunwu Jiuding Investment Management Co.,
Ltd..
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Mr. ZHANG Huachen, aged 33, joined the Group in September
2022 and was further appointed as the co-CEO in February 2024.
Mr. Zhang focuses on the Group’s investment operations, financial
technology project investment and financing business, as well as
the Company’s Type 1, 4 and 9 licensed businesses regulated
by the Securities and Futures Commission. He is currently a Type
1 and Type 4 licensed representative and a Type 9 responsible
officer registered under the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and
currently serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Zhang has over 10 years of extensive experience in the capital
market. He is familiar with investments in the fields of financial
technology and digital assets, and has in-depth understanding
of international investment banking, private equity investment,
setting up and operations of special purpose acquisition
companies (SPAC) in the Hong Kong and U.S. stock markets
and fund operations. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang had
held management positions with a number of reputable financial
institutions including Huarong International Asset Management
Limited and etc., and had successfully completed various private
equity financing, stock secondary market investment, fixed-income
financing and corporate mergers & acquisitions projects. Mr.
Zhang has obtained a master’s degree in Business Management
from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2015.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 167 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting Year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 170 of this annual report.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s distributable
reserves (net amount of share premium and accumulated losses)
is HK$212,821,000 and HK$72,515,000 as at 31 March 2025 and
2024 respectively.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not make
any charitable donations.

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements and reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 280 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025 is set out in the section headed “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” on pages 13 to 47 of this annual
report. These discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.
Description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group can be found throughout this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, as far as the Board and
the management are aware, there was no breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
that has a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees and customers to meet its short-
term and long-term business goals. During the year ended
31 March 2025, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its employees and customers.

The Group is committed to operate in compliance with the
applicable environmental laws as well as to protect the
environment by minimizing the negative impact of the Group’s
existing business activities on the environment.
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The Company’s original share option scheme was adopted on
19 August 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”), which was
expired on 18 August 2021 and replaced by a new share option
scheme approved by the Shareholders on 2 September 2021 (the
“2021 Share Option Scheme”). A summary of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme is set out below:

The purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Company to grant options to selected participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

The Board (which expression shall include a duly authorised
committee thereof) may, at its absolute discretion, invite
any person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants, to take up options to subscribe for Shares:

(i)  any employee;
(i) any business associate;

(i) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any invested entity; and

(iv) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
invested entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any invested entity.

The eligibility of any of the above classes of participants to
the grant of any option shall be determined by the Board
from time to time and on a case-by-case basis subject to
the Board’s opinion as to, among others, their contribution
or potential contribution to the development and growth of
the Group or invested entity.
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As approved by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 2 September 2021 (the
“2021 AGM”), the scheme limit of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme was approved to allow the Company to grant share
options for up to 91,530,788 Shares, representing (i) 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of the
2021 AGM; and (i) 1.45% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of this annual report.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted to any grantee (including both exercised and
outstanding share options) in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares then in
issue.

For any grant of share options under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates shall be approved by independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director
who is the grantee of the options in question).

For any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder
of the Company or an independent non-executive Director,
or any of their respective associates, would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the
12-month period exceed 0.1% of the Shares then in issue
and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million,
the proposed grant is also subject to the approval by the
Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEEHREE (R)

PERIOD WITHIN WHICH THE SHARES
MUST BE TAKEN UP UNDER AN OPTION

The period during which the share option may be exercised
is determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save
that no share option may be exercised more than 10 years
after it has been granted.

MINIMUM PERIOD FOR WHICH AN
OPTION MUST BE HELD BEFORE IT CAN
BE EXERCISED

Unless the Board otherwise determines and states in the
offer of grant of an option to a Participant, there is no
minimum period for which a share option granted under the
2021 Share Option Scheme shall be held before it can be
exercised.

AMOUNT PAYABLE ON ACCEPTANCE OF
THE OPTION AND THE PERIOD WITHIN
WHICH PAYMENTS SHALL BE MADE

HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company upon
acceptance of the share option which must be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer.

BASIS OF DETERMINING THE EXERCISE
PRICE

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer of the grant of the share options; (ii) the
average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the 5 trading days immediately preceding the date
of the offer of the grant of the share options; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of the
offer of the grant of the share options.

GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited Annual Report 2025
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

EETEHRESE (A)

REMAINING LIFE OF THE 2021 SHARE 9. —E_—FEREFTEZ
OPTION SCHEME F Ef F B
The 2021 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective —E - -FEREE A RN
for a period of 10 years from its adoption date until 2 EI Hﬁﬁ_i)& ERHE—_T=—FAN
September 2031, subject to the early termination provisions AZBIE BB+ E HXHRER
contained therein. Fra 2 te B4R IE &S -
DETAILS OF MOVEMENTS IN OPTIONS 10. R1E L HHEIE17.071K 5%
UNDER THE 2021 SHARE OPTION F T —FERETE
SCHEME DURING THE REPORTING =] Tﬁﬁ/ix BEREARKEFE
YEAR PURSUANT TO RULE 17.07 OF THE A1) B 5F 15
LISTING RULES
The details of the outstanding options which were granted BE_Z--—FEREFIETH
under the 2021 Share Option Scheme and their movements MARITENBRESFERER AR
during the Reporting Year are set out below: EFERNNEEHBERHITINAT
Number of options Share price of the Company
BREZA KAIRBER
(Note 2)
(Hik)
Immediately
Granted Adjusted Exercised  Cancelled/ Immediately  before the
during the during the during the lapsed during before the date of
As at 1 April Reporting Reporting Reporting  the Reporting Asat31 dateof grant  exercise of
Name and category of participants Date of grant Vesting period  Exercise period Exercise price 2024 Year Year Year Year  March 2025 of options options
R-B-QmE RERE RERE RARE WAREFE R-F-RF HERBRE REEERE
SREREREN REAH L Eit:d Tkl MA-R EEARH FEABEE  EEATE AEH/AN ZASt-A BEAMA  GEASE
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
(&) (%) (&)
Director and chief executives
ESRBBANAR
Ms. SUN Qing 27 March 2025 Note () 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026 0.480 4,168,000 - - - 4,168,000 0470 N/A
ERT CECREZRCHER MER “ECREMA-RE Sk
= Sy B
Mr. ZHANG Huachen 27 March 2025 Note (1) 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026 0.480 32,000,000 - - - - 32,000,000 0470 N/A
FERAE “E-RESA-HHR () “T-REME-FE TR
“E-REZAZT-H
Mr. YUAN Tianfu 27 March 2025 Note (1) 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026 0.480 32,000,000 - - - - 32,000,000 0470 NA
RRKRGE CECRECRCHER MER “ECREMA-RE Sk
= Sy B
Other employee participants 27 March 2025 Note (1) 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026 0480 23,332,000 - - - (5,832,000 17,500,000 0470 N/A
in aggregate “ET-RESA-HER MEN) —3-R§MA-AZE ER
EhERSREL “E-REZAZT-H
Total: 91,500,000 - - - (5,832,000) 85,668,000
i

HEEFRERAH
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Notes:

(1) The vesting of the options is subject to performance targets
for the 2025 fiscal year to be determined by the Board
based on the internal assessment system of the Group. The
assessment will be made based on the individual performance
of the participants, performance of the team or department
that the participant belongs to and the performance of the
Group as a whole. On the condition that the said performance
targets are satisfied, the share options shall be vested on 1
April 2025.

(2)  The share price of the Company immediately before the date
of the grant of the options disclosed herein was the closing
price quoted by the Stock Exchange on the trading day
immediately prior to the date of the grant of the options. The
share price of the Company immediately before the date of
exercise of the options disclosed herein was the weighted
average of the closing price(s) of the shares on the day(s)
immediately before the date(s) on which the options within the
disclosure category were exercised.

The Group is in compliance with the requirements as
stipulated in Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 2
“Share-based Payment” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Details of the fair value of the
aforementioned share options at the date of grant and the
accounting standard and policy adopted are set out in notes
3, 33 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Upon
exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the
nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise
price over the nominal value of each share is recorded by
the Company in the share premium account. Share options
which lapse or are cancelled prior to the expiration of their
exercise period are deleted from the register of outstanding
share options.

Details of the model and significant assumptions used to
estimate the fair value of the share options granted by
the Company to eligible participants during the Reporting
Year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements. Such option pricing model requires input of
subjective assumptions. Any changes in the subjective input
assumptions may materially affect the estimation of the fair
value of the share options.
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The number of options available for grant under the 2021
Share Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the
Reporting Year was 30,788 and nil respectively. The number
of shares of the Company that may be issued in respect
of options granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme
during the Reporting Year divided by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue for the Reporting Year
was 0%. The Company did not grant any options pursuant
to the 2021 Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Year.

During the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 29 May 2024 (the “EGM”), the Shareholders has
resolved to terminate the 2021 Share Option Scheme, upon
which no further share options may be granted but the
provisions of the 2021 Share Option Scheme will remain in
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of any share option granted prior to its termination
or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the 2021 Share Option Scheme. Thus the share
options granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme prior
to the termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the rules of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme.
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The Shareholders has resolved to adopt the share award scheme AR O AR B & Bl K& F Rt A
of the Company (the “Share Award Scheme”) during the EGM. A ARA AR 82BN =& ([ R E@at &) -
summary of the Share Award Scheme is set out below: D RENFE 2B EH TN T -

64

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions which the eligible
participants of the Share Award Scheme (the “Eligible
Participants”) have made or may make to the Group, with
the view to achieving the following principal objectives: (i) to
provide the Company with a flexible means of remunerating,
incentivising, retaining, rewarding, compensating and/or
providing benefits to the Eligible Participants; (ii) to align
the interests of the Eligible Participants with those of the
Company and Shareholders by providing such Eligible
Participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and becoming Shareholders, so as
to optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of
the Group and particular in its fulfilment of strategic targets;
(i) to encourage the Eligible Participants to contribute to
the long-term growth, performance and profitability of the
Company and to enhance the value of the Company and
its Shares for the benefit of the Company and Shareholders
as a whole; and (iv) attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining ongoing business relationships with the Eligible
Participants whose contributions are, or, will or are expected
to be, beneficial to the Group.
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The Eligible Participants shall comprise: (i) any employee of
the Company, Director (including independent non-executive
Directors) or officer of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
(including persons who are granted Share Award under
the Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment
contracts with the respective company of the Group (each
such person being an “Employee Participant”); (i) any
employee, director or officer of the Affiliate (each such
person being a “Related Entity Participant”); and (iii) any
service providers whom the Board or the committee of the
Board (the “Committee”), in its sole discretion, determines
that have contributed or will contribute to the Group (each
such person being a “Service Provider Participant”).

The total number of Shares which may be issued
pursuant to the Share Award Scheme is 541,098,796
Shares, representing (i) approximately 8.55% of the entire
issued share capital as at the date of the EGM; and (ii)
approximately 7.04% of the entire issued share capital as at
the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares which may be issued pursuant
to award of Shares (“Share Awards”) granted to Service
Provider Participants is 63,262,458 Shares, being not more
than 1% of the entire issued share capital as at the date of
this annual report.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all options and awards (including Share Awards
granted to each Eligible Participant pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme, excluding any options and Share Awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Scheme) in any period of 12 month period up to and
including the date of such grant shall not in aggregate
exceed 1% of the entire issued share capital at the relevant

“

time, without Shareholder’ s approval (the Individual

Limit").

Pursuant to Rule 17.04(1) of the Listing Rules, any grant of
Share Award to any Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates under the Share Award Scheme or any other
share schemes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who or whose associate
is the grantee of the Share Award), or if required by the
Listing Rules, the Remuneration Committee.

Pursuant to Rule 17.04(2) of the Listing Rules, Shareholders’
approval is required at a general meeting where any grant
of Awarded Shares to a Director (other than an independent
non-executive Director) or chief executive of the Company,
or any of his/her associates that would result in the Shares
issued and to be issued in respect of the Share Award
granted to such person under the Share Award Scheme and
all other share schemes (excluding any Share Award lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme)
in any 12 month period up to and including the date of such
grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the issued
share capital of the Company.
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Pursuant to Rule 17.04(3) of the Listing Rules, Shareholders’
approval is required at a general meeting where any grant of
Awarded Shares to an independent non-executive Director
or a substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of his/
her/its associates that would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued in respect of all options and Share Award
granted to such person under the Share Award Scheme and
all other share scheme (excluding any options and Share
Award lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Award Scheme) in any 12 month period up to and including
the date of such grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the issued share capital of the Company.

The Board or the Remuneration Committee may determine
in its absolute discretion and on a case-by-case basis and
specify in a letter to the grantee in respect of the grant of
Share Award (the “Award Letter”), inter alia, (i) the amount
payable on acceptance of the Share Award and (ii) the
period within which any such payments must be made,
being the issue price for the Share Award.

Unless otherwise specified in the Award Letter, the grantee
shall have ten business days from the date of grant to
accept the Share Award by giving written notice of their
acceptance to the Company, together with remittance in
favour of the Company of any consideration payable upon
grant of the Share Award. To the extent that a Share Award
is not accepted within the time specified in the Award Letter
or pursuant to the Scheme Rules (as defined below), it shall
be deemed to have been irrevocably declined and shall
automatically lapse.
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Subject to the satisfaction of all conditions of vesting
applicable to the vesting of Awarded Shares to each grantee
of Share Awards (the “Grantee”), the Awarded Shares
held by the trustee appointed by the Company for the
administration of the Share Award Scheme (the “Trustee”)
on behalf of such Grantee shall vest in such Grantee in
accordance with the applicable vesting schedule as set out
in the award letter to the Grantee, and the Trustee shall
cause the Awarded Shares to be transferred to such Grantee
in accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme (the
“Scheme Rules”).

The Share Award granted under the Share Award Scheme
shall be held for not less than 12 months before being
vested on the Eligible Participant save and except to certain
exceptional circumstances in accordance with Scheme
Rules. The Board believes that this aligns with the Listing
Rules and purpose of the Share Award Scheme.

Subject to early termination, the Share Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years (the “Scheme
Period”) commencing on its adoption date of 3 June 2024.
After the Scheme Period, no further Share Award may be
granted, but the Scheme Rules shall remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to any
Share Award made before the expiry of such period. Share
Award granted during the Scheme Period, but which remain
outstanding and have not lapsed as at the expiry of the
Scheme Period, shall continue to be valid in accordance
with their terms of grant notwithstanding the expiry of the
Scheme Period.
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The details of the outstanding Share Awards which
were granted under the Share Award Scheme and their

RIE
B A

B in SR B 8 b Y 15 R 1T 1%

EBFEIREREABREFE
HEIFRESMT
Share price of
the Company
AAARGER
(Note 2)
(HzE2)
before the date  before the date
As at of grant of of vesting of
31 March 2025  Share Awards  Share Awards
RZBZRE REEROHRED NBEERGRB
=A=t-H Rt B HA SEARA
(HK$) (HK$)
(A7) (&)
6,080,000 1.01 N/A
@R
512,000 1.01 N/A
@R
512,000 1.01 N/A
@R
512,000 1.01 N/A
@R
6,080,000 1.01 N/A
@R
6,080,000 1.01 N/A
@R
6,080,000 1.01 N/A
@R
57,760,000 1.01 N/A
TER
83,616,000
AR A5 A% 1) 2R B a8 2 16K R Ak 1

movements during the Reporting Year are set out below: A &Y
Number of Share Awards
ROZBYE
Granted Lapsed
Vesting As at during the during the
Name and category of participants Date of grant Period 1 April 2024  Reporting Year ~ Reporting Year
RZB-ME REABEFER NEREFER
SRERERER REBH HEE mA-H B b3
Directors, chief executives, substantial Shareholders and their respective associates
ES BRBAR TERRRAZAMNBEA
Ms. SUN Qing 26 July 2024 (Note 1) - 6,080,000 -
BERt ZE-MELA=T/A (3E1)
Mr. CHAN Kin Sang 26 July 2024 (Note 1) - 512,000 -
RigEEE ZE-MELA=T/A (3E1)
Mr. CHIU Kung Chik 26 July 2024 (Note 1) - 512,000 -
BAERE ZE-MELAZTAA (F3E1)
Ms. LUI Mei Ka 26 July 2024 (Note 1) - 512,000 -
EXENT “E-mEEAZTAA (3E1)
Mr. ZHANG Huachen 26 July 2024 (Note 1) - 6,080,000 -
RERKAE ZE-MELAZTAA (F3E1)
Mr. YUAN Tianfu 26 July 2024 (Note 1) - 6,080,000 -
RAKEAE “E-mEEAZTAA (3E1)
Mr. LIU Haoyuan 26 July 2024 (Note 1) - 6,080,000 -
MEEEE “E-mEEAZTAA (F3E1)
Other employee participants 26 July 2024 (Note 1) - 77,824,000 (20,064,000)
in aggregate
HitEESRERS “R-MELAZTRE (F3E1)
Total: - 103,680,000 (20,064,000)
@it
Notes: B 5 -
(1) In accordance with the terms and conditions of the Share (1)

Award Scheme and subject to the fulfillment of all vesting
conditions to the vesting of the Shares Awards on the
grantees as specified in the rules of the Share Award Scheme
and the respective letters to the grantees in respect of the
grant of Share Awards (as the case may be), the Share
Awards shall respectively vest on the following dates: (i) 25%
of the Share Awards shall vest on the second anniversary
of the grant date; (i) 25% of the Share Awards shall vest on
the third anniversary of the grant date; (iii) 25% of the Share
Awards shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the grant
date; and (iv) 25% of the Share Awards shall vest on the fifth
anniversary of the grant date.
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(2)  The share price of the Company immediately before the date
of the grant of the Share Awards disclosed herein was the
closing price quoted by the Stock Exchange on the trading
day immediately prior to the date of the grant of the Share
Awards. The share price of the Company immediately before
the date of exercise of the Share Awards disclosed herein was
the weighted average of the closing price(s) of the shares on
the day(s) immediately before the date(s) on which the Share
Awards within the disclosure category were vested.

Details of the fair value of the aforementioned Share Awards
at the date of grant and the accounting standard and
policy adopted are set out in notes 3, 33 and 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As the Share Award Scheme had not been adopted at
the beginning of the Reporting Year, the number of Share
Awards available for grant under the scheme mandate
limit of the Share Award Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”) and the service provider sublimit of the Share Award
Scheme (the “Service Provider Sublimit”) at the beginning
of the Reporting Year is not applicable. The number of Share
Awards available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit
and the Service Provider Sublimit at the end of the Reporting
Year was 437,413,796 and 63,262,458 respectively. The
number of shares of the Company that may be issued in
respect of Share Awards granted under the Share Award
Scheme during the Reporting Year divided by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue for the Reporting
Year was 1.55%. During the Reporting Year, the Company
has granted 103,680,000 Share Awards under the Share
Award Scheme.

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to the Share
Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into during the year ended 31 March
2025.
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The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the
date of this Directors’ Report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. SUN Qing

Non-executive Director
Mr. HAN Hanting (Retired on 12 August 2024)

Dr. NIE Riming
Mr. LI Chunguang
Mr. HUA Yang

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAN Kin Sang (Chairman)

Mr. CHIU Kung Chik

Mr. LI Gaofeng (Retired on 12 August 2024)

Ms. LUl Mei Ka

Pursuant to Article 100 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”), any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or, subject to authorization
by the Shareholders in general meeting, as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting.

There is no Directors appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy and shall hold office until the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM pursuant to Article 100 of
the Articles of Association.

Pursuant to Article 117 of the Articles of Association, at each
AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director, including those appointed for a
specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.
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Accordingly, Ms. SUN Qing, Mr. HUA Yang and Mr. CHAN Kin
Sang shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 48 to 55
of this annual report.

The Company has entered into employment contracts or letters
of appointment with each of the Directors for a specific term,
subject to the renewal provisions contained therein and retirement
by rotation and re-election at the AGMs. None of the Directors
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has employment
contract or letter of appointment with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favor, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has maintained Directors’ liability insurance during
the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this annual
report which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.
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As at 31 March 2025, save as disclosed in the sections headed
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME” and “SHARE AWARD SCHEME” as
set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 58 to 63 and pages 64
to 70 of this annual report respectively, none of the Directors or
chief executives of the Company or their respective associates
had any other interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required pursuant to section
352 of the SFO to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company referred to therein, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY” above and the sections headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” and “SHARE AWARD SCHEME” as set out in the
Directors’ Report on pages 58 to 63 and pages 64 to 70 of this
annual report respectively, at no time during the year ended
31 March 2025 was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and the chief
executives of the Company, their respective spouse or minor
children (natural or adopted) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEEHREE (R)

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS" MATERIAL
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” in the Directors’ Report on pages 76 to 79 and
under “related party transactions” as set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements
or contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with the Directors or the controlling shareholders of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the Directors was
interested in any business apart from the Group’s businesses
which compete or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with businesses of the Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2025, as far as is known to the Directors and
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, the substantial Shareholders
(other than a Director or a chief executive of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares
of the Company were as follows:

GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited Annual Report 2025
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Total interest

Approximate
percentage of

Interest in
Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares
R G2
BRRER & &4 &
Dr. LIU Zhiwei (note 1) Beneficial owner 1,244,258,000
Interest of controlled 340,053,151
corporation
MEEREREL (1) BafiA A
X HEE R
Mr. WANG Tao Beneficial owner 406,102,308
ITEEE ExEBA
GoFintech ESOP Limited Beneficial owner 518,400,000
(note 2)
GoFintech ESOP Limited ExBEBA
(BFzE2)
PS Trust Limited Trustee 518,400,000
(“PS Trust”) (note 2)
HEELEBR QA XA

(THEEFE]) (KE2)
Note:

1. Dr. Liu Zhiwei directly holds 1,244,258,000 Shares and is deemed
to be interested in 340,053,151 Shares held by Caitex Technology
Holdings Limited, a company wholly-owned by Chunda International
Capital Management Co., Ltd., which in turn is wholly-owned by Dr.
LIU Zhiwei.

2 PS Trust is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
GoFintech ESOP Limited. GoFintech ESOP Limited is a special
purpose vehicle wholly-owned by PS Trust, the trustee appointed
by the Company for the administration of the Share Award Scheme
adopted by the Company on 3 June 2024.

Interest in in Shares and the issued share
underlying underlying capital of the
shares shares Company
BB 5K NN
REE R 5 HER®Z ERITRA
2 iR BHaEs L
- 1,244,258,000 16.68%
- 340,053,151 4.56%
- 406,102,308 5.44%
- 518,400,000 6.95%
- 518,400,000 6.95%

B 5k

W58 18 &+ & B 45 H1,244,258,000% A&
19 It # 48 & 7 Caitex Technology Holdings
Limited ¥ & #1340,053,151 & fi& 1
75 # 7 ° Caitex Technology Holdings
Limited /& — 8 B3 Chunda International
Capital Management Co., Ltd. 2 & # A&
#) /A & » i Chunda International Capital
Management Co., Ltd. A¥IEEB L2 &
%A -

HEEE R A GoFintech ESOP
Limited R BB P HEERES -
GoFintech ESOP Limited B E3E2 &
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors
were not aware of any substantial Shareholder (who was not
the Director or chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares of
the Company which was required to be entered in the aforesaid
register pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” as set out in the Directors’ Report on pages
76 to 79 of this annual report, the related party transactions set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements are fully
exempted from announcement, reporting, annual review and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the requirements
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of such transactions.

During the year, the Company had the following connected
transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in compliance
with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 12 June 2024 and 28 June 2024 (collectively, the
“Announcements”), in relation to, among other things, the
Acquisition and the Equity Transfer Agreement. Unless the
context otherwise requires, capitalised terms used in this
section shall have the same meanings as those defined in
the Announcements.

On 12 June 2024, (after trading hours of the Stock
Exchange), the Purchaser (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) and the Vendor entered into the Equity
Transfer Agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser
has conditionally agreed to acquire and the Vendor
has conditionally agreed to sell the Target Equity at the
Consideration in the amount of HK$39.50 million.

As at the relevant time, the Vendor Dr. LIU Zhiwei was a
substantial shareholder of the Company and the former
chairman of the Board and an executive Director. Therefore,
the Vendor was a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules, and the Acquisition constituted a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

The Consideration for the Acquisition was HK$39.50 million,
which was paid by the Purchaser to the Vendor at such time
and in such manner as follows: (i) a sum of HK$35.55 million
was paid within 15 days upon the entering into of the Equity
Transfer Agreement; and (i) the remaining balance in the
amount of HK$3.95 million was paid within 15 days upon
completion of the Registration of Change.
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References are made to the announcements of the
Company dated 23 August 2024, 13 September 2024,
4 October 2024 and 18 October 2024 (collectively, the
“YSA Announcements”) and the circular of the Company
dated 17 September 2024 (the “Circular”) in relation to,
among other things, the Acquisition, the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder.
Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalised terms
used in this section shall have the same meanings as those
defined in the Circular.

On 23 August 2024 (after trading hours of the Stock
Exchange), the Company, the Purchaser (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreement with the Vendors, pursuant to which,
the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire and
the Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell the Sale
Shares, being 2,751,339,130 Target Shares (representing
approximately 26.15% of the entire issued share capital of
the Target Company), at the Consideration in the amount of
HK$302,647,304.00. The Consideration shall be satisfied by
the allotment and issuance of the Consideration Shares at
the Issue Price (i.e. approximately HK$0.89 per Share) under
the Specific Mandate to be sought by the Company at the
EGM.

As the relevant time, Vendor A, Dr. Liu Zhiwei, was a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Furthermore, Dr. Liu
Zhiwei was beneficially interested in the entire issued share
capital of both Vendor B and Vendor C. Therefore, as Vendor
A was a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules and Vendor B and Vendor C were both associates
of Vendor A, a connected person of the Company, the
Acquisition constituted a connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Completion took place on 18 October 2024 in accordance
with the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Upon
Completion, the Company was beneficially interested
in 3,064,454,515 Target Shares via the Purchaser (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), representing
approximately 29.13% equity interest in the Target Company
as at the date of Completion. Moreover, upon Completion,
(i) the Target Company became an associate of the Group;
(i) the financial results of the Target Group was accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements of the Group
as investment in an associate using the equity method of
accounting; and (iiij the Company became a substantial
shareholder of the Target Company.

The Consideration has been satisfied by the allotment and
issuance of the Consideration Shares (i.e. 340,053,151
Shares) at the Issue Price (i.e. approximately HK$0.89 per
Share) under the Specific Mandate sought by the Company
at the EGM. The aggregate nominal value of share capital for
the Consideration Shares was HK$34,005,315.10.

All of the connected transactions entered by the Company
above have complied with the applicable disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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No contract concerning the management and/or administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share was held by the public as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the percentage of the
aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer
and five largest customers accounted for 67% and 96% of the
Group'’s total revenue, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the percentage of the
aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 79% and
98% of the Group’s cost of revenue, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
the Group's five largest customers and suppliers during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group and the
employer’s retirement benefit costs charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in notes 3, 11 and 13
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’ s listed securities
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

The Company’s compliance with the corporate governance codes
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 85 to
112 of this annual report.

The purchase, sale and transfer of Shares registered in the
Company’s Hong Kong branch register of members will be subject
to Hong Kong stamp duty. The current rate charged on each of
the purchaser and seller (or transferee and transferor) is 0.13% of
the consideration or, if greater, the fair value of the Shares being
bought/sold or transferred (rounded up to the nearest HK$ 000).
In addition, a fixed duty of HK$5.00 is currently payable on an
instrument of transfer of Shares.

Profits from dealings in the Share arising in or derived from Hong
Kong may also be subject to Hong Kong profits tax.

Under the present Cayman Islands laws, transfers and other
dispositions of Shares are exempt from Cayman Islands stamp
duty.
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Intending holders and investors of the Shares are recommended
to consult their professional advisers if they are in any doubt as
to the taxation implications (including tax relief) of subscribing
for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or dealing in Shares. It is
emphasized that none of the Company or its Directors or officers
will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities of,
holders of Shares resulting from their subscription for, purchase,
holding, disposal of or dealing in such Shares.

There has been no change in the Directors’ information required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules
during the period from 28 November 2024 (i.e. the date of the
Board’s approval of the interim results for the six months ended
30 September 2024) to 30 June 2025 (i.e. the date of the Board’s
approval of the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2025).

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. CHIU Kung Chik (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. CHAN Kin Sang and Ms. LUI Mei Ka.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed the internal controls and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited consolidated financial
statements and annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025.
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The Company and Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant
Thornton”) could not reach a consensus on the audit fee for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022. Accordingly, Grant Thornton
was not proposed to be re-appointed upon its retirement as the
auditor of the Company at the 2021 AGM.

On 20 July 2021, as recommended by the Audit Committee, the
Board has resolved to propose the appointment of BDO limited
(“BDO”) as the Company’s auditor for the year ended 31 March
2022 following the retirement of Grant Thornton.

BDO has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2023 in the 2022 AGM to hold office
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

BDO has resigned as the auditor of the Company on 30 October
2023, due to the Company and BDO could not reach a consensus
on the proposed audit fees for the year ended 31 March 2024.

On 30 October 2023, as recommended by the Audit Committee,
the Board has resolved to appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
(“ZHONGHUI ANDA”) as the Company’s new auditor to fill the
casual vacancy arising from the resignation of BDO and to hold
office until the next annual general meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 were audited by ZHONGHUI
ANDA which will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution will be proposed to the Shareholders to
re-appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA as auditor of the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in auditor of
the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

CHAN Kin Sang
Chairman and Independent Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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The Company’s commitment to the highest standards of
corporate governance is driven by the Board which, led by the
Chairman, assumes overall responsibility for the governance of the
Company, taking into account of the interests of the Shareholders,
the development of its businesses and the changing external
environment.

The Company believes that good corporate governance is
fundamental in ensuring that the Company is well managed in the
interests of all of its Shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has
complied with all code provisions and, where appropriate, met the
recommended best practices of the CG Code.

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transaction. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 March 2025.

The Company has also established its management policy on
trading securities of the Company by Directors and relevant
employees of the Company, which is not less exacting than the
Model Code, for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to possess inside information of the Company. No incident
of non-compliance of such policy by the employees was noted by
the Company.
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The Board is collectively responsible for formulating of the
Group’s overall strategy, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s
business operations and performance, preparing and approving
financial statements, considering and approving material contracts
and transactions as well as other significant policies and financial
matters. The Board takes the responsibility to oversee internal
controls and risk management systems and to review of the
effectiveness of such systems, monitoring the performance of
the senior management and determining the policy for corporate
governance. The Board also gives clear directions as to the
powers delegated to the senior management for the day-to-day
operation, business strategies and administrative functions of the
Group.

As at 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this annual report, the
composition of the Board was as follows:

Executive Directors Non-executive Directors

HTES FHUTES
Ms. SUN Qing Mr. HAN Hanting (retired on 12 August 2024)
. BRELE (R=ZF-AE/\A+=HEF)
Dr. NIE Riming
HHABL

Mr. LI Chunguang
FEREE

Mr. HUA Yang
EHEE

The Chairman and the independent non-executive Directors
have met at least once every year without the presence of other
Directors and the management and such meeting was held on 28
November 2024.
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Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. CHAN Kin Sang (Chairman)
REERE (2E)

Mr. CHIU Kung Chik
BAERE

Mr. LI Gaofeng (retired on 12 August 2024)
FaBRE (R-F_OF\H+_HRE)

Ms. LUl Mei Ka
BERNT
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Number of Board meetings, committees meetings and general
meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2025 and the
attendance rate of the individual Directors are set out below:

NEE-T-RE=A=+-BL&E
NBRFrEEEES ZEESHARRE
A2 BE A RERESE HEEH
T

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
Directors (“BM”) (“ACM”) (“RCM”) (“NCM”) (“GM”)
Ezg B8 ) RBE
8% ZB893 Z£EB883 ZEgg3 RRAE
(€8 (T&E%& 1 (TR=
Epg 2%) ZBg8g8%]) zEggR]) ZEggxl) ([RRXAEg])
Executive Directors HITES
SUN Qing BE 21/21 N/A i@ B 2/2 11 4/4
Non-executive Directors FHTES
HAN Hanting’ HHE 010 NATEAR NATEE NATEAR 0/2
NIE Riming = 21/21  NATER NATEA NATEHR 4/4
LI Chunguang 2EKL 2121 NATRER NATER NATEA 4/4
HUA Yang =5 2121 NATER NATER NATEA 4/4

Independent non-executive Directors BV FHTES

CHAN Kin Sang (Chairman) BREEE (X)) 21/21
CHIU Kung Chik HAE 21/21
LI Gaofeng? Falge 16/16
LUI Mei Ka EEE 21/21
1. Mr. HAN Hanting has retired as a non-executive Director with effect

from 12 August 2024.

28 Mr. LI Gaofeng has retired as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 12 August 2024.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

2/2 2/2 11 4/4
2/2 2/2 11 4/4
1/ 2/2 1/ 2/2
2/2 2/2 1/ 4/4
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The biographical details of all existing Directors are set out in the
section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
in that section, none of the Directors has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) with other Board members.

The Board is provided with relevant information concerning
matters to be brought for its decision. Regular board meetings
are held at approximately quarterly intervals and at least 14 days
notice will be given to the Directors before each board meeting is
held. Board papers are dispatched to the Directors at least 3 days
prior to the meetings.

Directors have to declare their interests before the meetings in
accordance with the Articles of Association. Directors who are
considered to have a conflict of interest or material interests in
the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed will not be
counted as the quorum of the meeting and are required to abstain
from voting on the relevant resolutions.

The Company maintains the minutes of the board meetings for
inspection by Directors.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board
and the Executive Committee of the Company (the “Executive
Committee”). Decisions on important matters are reserved to
the Board while decisions on the Group’s general operations
are delegated to the Executive Committee. Important matters
including but not limited to major acquisitions and disposals,
connected transactions, annual budgets, approval of annual and
interim results, other significant operational and financial matters
and those affecting the Group’s strategic policies.
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The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to the management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensures that
sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of
the Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to
serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

According to the code provision under the CG Code requiring
directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held
in public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved to the
Company, the Directors update the Company regarding offices
held in public companies and organisations, and other significant
commitments on a regular basis.
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The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters relating
to the approval and monitoring of policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict
of interests), financial information, appointment of directors and
other significant financial and operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

Newly appointed Directors are provided with briefings and
orientation on their legal and other responsibilities as a Director
and the role of the Board.

Information package comprising the latest development in laws,
rules and regulations relating to the duties and responsibilities
of Directors will be forwarded to each Director from time to
time for their information and reference. “A Guide on Directors’
Duties” published by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong,
and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for Independent Non-
Executive Directors” published by The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors have also been forwarded to each newly appointed
Director for their information and reference.

In addition, the Company has also from time to time provided
information and briefings to Directors on the latest development
of the laws, rules and regulations relating to Directors’ duties and
responsibilities. The Company has, on an individual basis, advised
Directors on queries or issues arising from the performance of
their duties.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has provided
training on updates of legal and regulatory regime to the Directors
on 28 November 2024, covering the topics of (i) directors’ duties;
(i) notifiable transactions and connected transactions; and (iii)
directors’ dealing in securities and disclosure of interest. Besides,
individual Directors who had participated in other continuous
professional training organized by professional bodies and/or
government authorities also provided the Company with their
records of continuous professional development. Such training
records were kept by the Company.
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The Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed

and refreshed by the following means:

(1)

Participation in in-house seminars and/or briefings provided
by the Company relating to the updates on legal and
regulatory, corporate governance requirements and industry-
related issues;

Participation in the continuous professional training
seminars/conferences/courses/workshops organized by
other professional bodies and/or government authorities on
topics relating to directors’ duties and/or their respective
professionalism; and

Accessing and/or reading, via the Internet, the materials
relating to the latest development in laws, rules and
regulations in relation to the directors’ duties and
responsibilities, corporate governance, business and industry
developments, and finance industry, as well as watching
videos prepared by the Stock Exchange in relation to the
aforesaid topics.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, all the Directors

participated in continuous professional development and the

relevant details are set out below:

Members of the Board

EEERE

Executive Directors HITES
SUN Qing " A
Non-executive Directors FHTES
HAN Hanting BT

NIE Riming = H

LI Chunguang TER
HUA Yang £ B
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFEHITESE
CHAN Kin Sang BeR {2 A=
CHIU Kung Chik HAHR

LI Gaofeng =4

LUI Mei Ka EER

EZZEUTHARERRINENES
Z FGE K B B
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The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover in
respect of possible legal actions against its Directors and officers.

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The role of the Chairman
is currently performed by Mr. CHAN Kin Sang, who is an
independent non-executive Director, while the role of the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company is currently performed by Mr.
YUAN Tianfu and Mr. ZHANG Huachen jointly.

The Chairman is responsible for taking the lead in formulating the
overall strategies and policies of the Group. He ensures that the
Board functions effectively and all material issues of the Company
are discussed in a timely manner. The Chairman also leads the
Board to establish good corporate governance policies and
procedures for the Group as a whole.

The Chief Executive Officers, supported by the other executive
Directors and the senior management of the Company, are
responsible for the daily business operations and management
of the Group. They monitor the implementation of the Group’s
strategy with respect to the achievement of its business
objectives.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has entered into letters of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of one year with effect from the
date of appointment subject to the terms of renewal contained
therein and retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Articles of Association.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the

Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee are disclosed on
both the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee was established in October 2005.
It currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHIU Kung Chik (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. CHAN Kin Sang and Ms. LUl Mei Ka, and one
executive Director, namely Ms. SUN Qing. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee was revised on 29 November
2023 and are aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code.
The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(a)

to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board'’s corporate goals and
objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. This should include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive for
the Company;
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to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration; and

to review and approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Remuneration

Committee held 2 meetings to discuss and deal with the following

major matters:

to review the remuneration package of all Directors and
senior management;

to review the effectiveness of the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee;

to consider the remuneration packages for the new Directors
and senior management, and make recommendations to the
Board thereon;

to consider the plan for adjustment of remunerations for
Directors; and

to approve the grant of share awards under Share Award
Scheme, details of which are disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 26 July 2024.

Remuneration of Directors and senior management is

recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by

the Board with reference to their qualifications, experience, duties

and responsibilities within the Company and the prevailing market

conditions.
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The Nomination Committee was established in December 2007.
It currently comprises one executive Director, namely Ms. SUN
Qing, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
CHAN Kin Sang (chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr.
CHIU Kung Chik and Ms. LUl Mei Ka. The terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee was revised on 29 February 2012 and
are aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for
directorship;

() to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

The Nomination Committee identifies and nominates qualified
individual to the Board for consideration. All newly appointed
Directors are subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the
AGM or at the next following general meeting of the Company
immediately following their appointment pursuant to the Articles of
Association. In considering the new appointment or re-nomination
of Directors, the Nomination Committee will focus their decisions
based on attributes such as integrity, industry experience and
professional and technical skills together with the ability to
contribute time and afford to carry out their duties effectively and
responsibly.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to discuss and deal with the following major
matters:

to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;

- to review and assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors;

- to discuss the list of Directors who are subject to retirement
by rotation at the annual general meeting of the Company
and make recommendation to the Board on their re-election
as Directors;

- to review the effectiveness of the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee;

= to consider the changes of Directors, senior management
and Board committee members and make recommend to
the Board thereon; and

- to review the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company for 2024-2025, and set the
gender diversity objectives at the Board level and the Group-
wide employee level.

A nomination policy was adopted by the Company in
November 2018 (the “Nomination Policy”’) which sets out
the selection criteria and nomination procedures in identifying
and recommending candidates as Directors for the Board’s
consideration. In assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee will take
into account (i) the Company’s actual needs, (i) the candidate’s
skills and professional experience that are complementary to the
other members of the Board and (iii) the diversity of the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, etc.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy
from time to time and discuss any revisions required, and will
recommend such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.
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The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity
of its Board members. It had adopted a Board Diversity Policy (the
“Policy”) in August 2013. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and competence. The ultimate decision will be
based on merits and contributions that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

In order to achieve a diversity of perspectives amongst the
structure, size and composition of the Board, when making the
recommendation to the Board for appointment or re-appointment
of Directors, the Nomination Committee will take into account
certain objective criteria such as gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills
and knowledge, and length of service, etc. Besides, it will also
take into account factors based on the Company’s business
model and specific needs from time to time.

In addition, the Policy is reviewed annually to ensure its
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board is composed of members of different genders to
maintain an appropriate balance of diversity. All appointments of
Directors will be considered against measurable objectives for
the benefits of diversity on the Board with a view to developing a
pipeline of potential successors to the Board to maintain gender
diversity. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the proportion of
male and female members of the Board was approximately 85.7%
and 14.3% respectively, achieving gender diversity on the Board.
The Company’s current goal is to maintain the proportion of
female members on the Board at the current level at least and will
strive to increase the proportion of female directors to achieve an
appropriate balance of gender diversity.

As at 31 March 2025, the proportion of male and female in
the workforce of the Company was approximately 59.68%
and 40.32% respectively. The Company will also ensure that
there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior
level and provide such staff with more appropriate on-the-job
training so that the Company will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to the Board in the near
future.
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The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to
ensure a strong independent element on the Board, which allows
the Board effectively exercises independent judgment to better
safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that
need improvement or further development. The evaluation process
also clarifies what actions of the Company need to be taken
to maintain and improve the Board performance, for instance,
addressing individual training and development needs of each
Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

The Audit Committee was established in April 2001 and currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
CHIU Kung Chik (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. CHAN
Kin Sang and Ms. LUI Mei Ka. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee was revised on 30 December 2015 and are aligned
with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the
Audit Committee are as follows:
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to be primarily responsible for making recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

to develop and implement policy on engaging of an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;
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(d)

to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-year report
and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to
review significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them. In reviewing these reports before submission to the
Board, the Audit Committee should focus particularly on:

() any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(i)~ major judgmental areas;

(i)~ significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(v) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vii compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

regarding (d) above:

()  members of the Audit Committee should liaise with
the Board and senior management and the Audit
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company’s auditor; and

(i)  the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditor;
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to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board’s risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’ s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and
to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company,
and to review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’s management letter;
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(m)

(P)

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relations with the external auditor;

to report to the Board on the matters set out above; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee held
two meetings to consider and approve, inter alia, the following
matters:

(@)

to review the half-year and annual financial statements
before submission to the Board, with a focus on compliance
with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and other
requirements in relation to financial reporting of the Audit
Committee;

to review and discuss the effectiveness of the internal
controls system throughout the Group, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management;

to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and other financial reporting matters;

to review the effectiveness of the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee;

to discuss with the auditor on the annual audit scope; and

to make recommendations to the Board in relations to the
re-appointment and change of auditors of the Group, discuss
independence of the auditors and approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the auditors.

The Board considered that the risk management and internal
control systems of Company for the year ended 31 March 2025
were effective and adequate.
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The Executive Committee was established in April 2017 with
written terms of reference that specifies its authorities and duties.
The working rules of the Executive Committee were revised on
14 April 2023. It currently comprises all executive Directors and
the relevant department heads of the Company and is chaired
by the executive Director. The Executive Committee is primarily
responsible for supervising the day-to-day operation of the Group,
implementing business strategies made by the Board and making
investment decisions within its authorities, etc. The Executive
Committee meets as and when necessary.

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

(i)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(i)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board has duly
discharged the above-mentioned duties.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
ERER®RE ()

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the auditor’s remuneration
paid or payable by the Group to ZHONGHUI ANDA in respect of
the audit and other non-audit services were as follows:
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HK$’ 000

TETT

Audit services Z BBk 7% 900
Non-audit services IEZ B RS

— other professional services —HEMEERE 400

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The responsibilities of ZHONGHUI ANDA to the shareholders of
the Company are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
page 166 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements for the financial year ended
31 March 2025 and ensuring that such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flow and in compliance with the relevant laws
and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies
and applied them consistently; made prudent and reasonable
judgments and estimates; and have prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited Annual Report 2025
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Ms. YAN Xin (“Ms. Yan”) is the company secretary of the
Company. Ms. Yan is an employee of the Company. For the year
ended 31 March 2025, Ms. Yan has undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Board gives high priority to balanced, clear and transparent
communications which allow Shareholders and investors to
understand the Group’s prospects and the market environment in
which it operates. The Company communicates with Shareholders
and investors in different ways to ensure that their views and
concerns are understood and addressed in a constructive way.

In March 2012, the Board has established a Shareholders
communication policy and a Shareholders’ guide is in place to
ensure that Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about
the Group. The policy is uploaded on the Company’s website
and has been regularly reviewed during the year to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company’s website has become the primary platform of
communication between the Company and the Shareholders.
The investor relations section of the website is kept under regular
review by the Company to ensure that information related to
Shareholders is disseminated in an accurate and timely manner.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company convened
one annual general meeting and 3 extraordinary general meetings.
Members of the Board and Board committees also attended the
general meetings of the Company to answer relevant questions
raised at the meetings. Separate resolutions were proposed at
general meetings for any significant separate issues.
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The particulars of Shareholders’ rights relating to, inter alia,
putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings, convening
of extraordinary general meetings and making enquiries to the
Group are as follows:

Pursuant to Article 120 of the Articles of Association, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention
to propose that person for election as a Director, signed by a
Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election
as a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed
by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been
lodged at the registration office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

To include a resolution relating to other matters in a general
meeting, Shareholders are requested to follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in section 615 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong). The relevant
Shareholders’ Guide has also been published on the Company’s
website.
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Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association, the Board
may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on the
written requisition of any two or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings
may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such
requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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The Board is grateful to Shareholders and other stakeholders for
their views, and welcomes their questions and concerns raised in
relation to the management and governance of the Group.

Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Board by post to the Company
at Units No. 4102-06, 41/F, COSCO Tower, 183 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong or by email to info@290.com.hk for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

A dividend policy was adopted by the Company in November
2018 (the “Dividend Policy”) which sets out the guideline for
distribution of dividends to the Shareholders. The Dividend Policy
aims to strike a balance between the Shareholders’ interests and
the Company’s capital requirement for business operation and
development needs. The recommendation of the payment of any
dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and
any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board will take into
account, inter alia, the Group’s financial results and liquidity,
its business strategies and development plans, as well as other
factors that the Board may consider appropriate.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary.

The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association (in both
English and Chinese) is available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. On 12 August 2024, the third
amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of Association
of the Company was duly passed by Shareholders at the 2024
annual general meeting of the Company.
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The Company has an internal audit function. Board acknowledges
its responsibility for establishing and maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems, and
for determining the nature and extent of risk it is willing to
take in pursuing business objectives of the Group. Yet, such
risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company has a risk management policy in place to formalize
the procedures in identifying, evaluating and monitoring the
risks which may be encountered by the Group in the course of
business. By tackling the risks in a systematic way, the Board
believes that the same can be minimized or under control at a
reasonable level.

The process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks are as follows:

1. each business unit/department identifies the risks that
encountered or may be encountered by them in the course
of business/operation;

2. business units/departments compile a list of risks which
contains the following information for every single risk
identified by them:
of risk;

(a) risk classification; (b) contents

(c) measures taken; (d) risk ranking; and (e)
recommendations to deal with such risk, and email this list
to the Executive Committee and the Compliance and Risk
Management Department (the “CRM Department”) for

review and assessment;

3. the Executive Committee and the CRM Department discuss,
assess and determine whether further action is required to
be taken against the identified risks or whether such risks
should be reported to the Board;
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4.  if reporting to the Board is required, the Company Secretary
will send the materials to the Board for discussion and
revert the Board’s decision to the relevant business unit/
department for action/follow up.

Besides, internal control measures and/or procedures have also
been designed and implemented for safeguarding the Group’s
assets against unauthorized use or disposal, maintaining proper
accounting records, and monitoring the compliance with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company has a CRM Department to monitor the overall risk
management and compliance issues of the Group on an on-going
basis. Quarterly reports on compliance, risk management and
internal control issues of the Group will be prepared by the CRM
Department and tabled before the regular Audit Committee and
Board meetings for review and discussion. The Company also
approved the establishment of the Investment Decision and Risk
Management Committee on 28 April 2023 and the adoption of
the Measures and Procedures for Investment Decision and Risk
Management. The Investment Decision and Risk Management
Committee is specifically responsible for investment decision-
making and risk management matters under the guidance of
the Executive Committee. The Investment Decision and Risk
Management Committee meets regularly or when necessary to
consider matters relating to risk management and make decisions.
Modifications and improvements on the existing risk management
and internal control policies will be carried out from time to time
as required.

The CRM Department carries out reviews of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group or specific business
segments of the Group, having regard to specific corporate and
fundraising exercises that have taken place and the applicable
regulatory and independence requirements on an annual basis.
The Company’s reviews have not revealed systemic deficiencies
of medium risk or above. The results of the review were
submitted by the CRM Department to the Audit Committee for
their consideration. The Board, based on the review of the Audit
Committee, confirmed the effectiveness and adequacy of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.
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The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, as well as their training
programmes and budgets.

Hence, the Board considers that the existing risk management
and internal control systems of the Group are effective and
adequate to meet its needs in its current business environment.

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of inside
information and for compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations, an updated policy on handling the inside information
has been approved by the Board in August 2017, pursuant to
which, the Company has taken a series of procedures to identify
and preserve the confidentiality of the price sensitive information
and to disclose the same to the public in a timely manner,
if required. All staff are also required to observe the code of
ethical standards stated in Staff Handbook to keep non-public
information confidential.

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
investor relations and communication by maintaining regular
meetings with institutional Shareholders, fund managers and
analysts through different means including meetings, presentations
and correspondence. In an effort to enhance communications with
the Shareholders and investors, the Company maintains a website
(www.290.com.hk) to disseminate information relating to the latest
business developments and all corporate announcements.

The annual general meeting is a valuable forum for the Board
to communicate directly with the Shareholders. No less than 21
days’ notice in writing will be distributed to all Shareholders prior
to the annual general meeting. The circular of the annual general
meeting sets out the details of each proposed resolution and other
relevant information. Separate resolutions are proposed at the
general meetings of the Company on each substantially separate
issue, including the election of individual Directors. Shareholders
have the opportunity to participate and vote in general meetings
and are informed of the rules and voting procedures that govern
the general meeting.

BERZREBENEEASREES LYK
EHRBE I HCER BETEERKER2
B URBIMEBEXZBIRERE
RRERGRRE-

At EFeRA AKERENERE
BERAMEZERRSERR AR E
HERERNEBRREPHFE K-

AERBERK AT ERLTEEEANR
BERFEERAEMNRRA EFEER
—E—tENAMEEEFZCEEAR
HEBR B ARFBERR—R5E
7 LA 8 Bl o AR % R (B R & B I K2 B [A)
ANBBRBEZFEN(WTE) - AEETL
MEBFEITFMEABAMEEZESFE
BIEAFAERRE -

RARFERDMEEBEREREEBEM
BEBER THEEBERR EZSLE
kommem FAeEezs SHREE
EoRMBRERRRKEEEZBR AR
A & & 3 — {8 48 v (www.290.com.hk) * 77
FREREEETEFRERCENKERA

rERE-

BRBFAGNESSERERRER
LEEFE BRRBFANGETHKAK
RELAPR -+ —RAZEEBA KR
BERGBREINBHEARERBERLZ
HAARNTREMBAERN ANRBIFERA
EXBYERAREBRRAE LREBY
RER BREEZENEE -RRAKS
SERRASYRE LRE BEEHR
BEBRRARGZHRAUNEREF-

111



112

The 2024 annual general meeting of the Company was held at
Units No. 4102-06, 41/F, COSCO Tower, 183 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong. All Directors attended the 2024 annual
general meeting. The external auditor of the Company, ZHONGHUI
ANDA, also attended the 2024 annual general meeting to answer
questions raised by the Shareholders.

Having considered the various existing channels of communication
and the feedbacks from the Shareholders, investors and analysts,
the Board considers that the Shareholders’ communication policy
has been properly implemented and effective during the year
ended 31 March 2025.
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GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited (“GoFintech” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to
as the “Group”) is pleased to present its Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”), which summarised
the environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) initiatives
and accomplishments for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the
“Reporting Year” or “2025").

Founded in 2002, GoFintech is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities and
insurance brokerage, equity investment and provision of asset
management, corporate finance, margin financing, money lending
services, supply chain operations as well as investments in
artworks. The Group’s operations are located primarily in Hong
Kong with offices in Mainland China.

ESG investing has been moving mainstream as climate-related
risks reshape the principles of investment decisions. As a
significant player in China’s financial market, GoFintech has been
vigilant on those trends and the impacts that may assert on its
business.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased
to present the ESG Report of the Group, which reviews the
Group’s ESG initiatives, plans, performance, as well as its
sustainable development in respect of environmental protection,
labour practices, business operations, supply chain management
and other ESG issues for the Reporting Year. As a responsible
corporation, the Group views ESG commitment as part of
its responsibilities and is committed to incorporating ESG
considerations into its decision-making process.
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Regarding corporate governance, the Group has applied a top-
down approach to manage the Group’s ESG-related issues. The
Board has the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategies
and reporting, as well as overseeing and managing its ESG-related
issues, in achieving green operations for sustainable development.
The Board reviews and confirms the Group’s ESG-related risks
and opportunities, performance, goals and targets, progress
made against ESG-related goals and targets, management
approaches, strategies, priorities of the Group’s material ESG-
related issues, and policies annually with the assistance of the
Group’s designated personnel from the business and functional
departments. With the assistance of ESG professionals, the Board
is equipped with the skills, experience and knowledge needed
for overseeing the ESG strategy of the Group. The Board also
ensures the effectiveness of ESG risk management and internal
control mechanism.

The Group’s designated personnel from the business and
functional departments facilitate the Board’s oversight of ESG-
related issues. They are responsible for overseeing and reviewing
the Group’s ESG-related policies and performance; monitoring
and managing ESG-related risks and opportunities, and the
effectiveness of the ESG management systems; and identifying
and prioritising the Group’s ESG-related issues. They also
propose and recommend to the Board on the Group’s ESG-
related strategies, priorities, goals and targets, and report the
relevant ESG-related matters to the Board annually.

The reporting scope of this ESG Report is in line with the annual
report, covering all the Group’s business operations, including
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China. The Group’s
business segments include securities brokerage and margin
financing, corporate finance, money lending, consultancy and
insurance brokerage, asset management, equity investment as
well as the new investment immigration business. During the
Reporting Year, the Group has diversified its businesses into the
supply chain operations business and investments in artworks.
These business segments represent all of the Group’s revenue for
the Reporting Year. To align with the ongoing business expansion,
the Group will make efforts to broaden the scope of disclosure.
This will be achieved by enhancing the data collection process
across multiple operational locations.
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The content including data in preparing this ESG Report is
primarily based on the internal policies and documents as well as
information provided by various key stakeholders.

This ESG Report serves to provide details of the Group’s ESG
policies and practices of its business in Hong Kong and Mainland
China, which has been prepared and compiled in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in the Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rule”) on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of the
annual report.

During preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied the
following reporting principles of the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify and
prioritise material ESG issues during the Reporting Year, thereby
adopting the confirmed material ESG issues as the focus for the
preparation of this ESG Report. The materiality of ESG issues was
reviewed and confirmed by the Board and senior management
of the Group. Please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholders
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” for further details.

Quantitative: The standards and methodologies used in the
calculation of relevant data in this ESG Report, as well as the
applicable assumptions were disclosed. The key performance
indicators (“KPIs”) are supplemented by explanatory notes to
establish benchmarks where feasible.

Consistency: The preparation approach of this ESG Report was
substantially consistent with the ESG report of previous year and
explanations were provided regarding data with changes in the
scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies.
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This ESG Report has undergone the internal review process of the
Group’s management and has been approved by the Board.

GoFintech started the ESG journey from its own operations to
ensure full compliance with all applicable laws and regulations,
and aim at becoming a leading player in the sector. During the
Reporting Year, the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and
Financial Controller (“FC”) continued to take lead in exploring ESG
practices. The Group made commitments in two areas:

1)  Continue green operations within GoFintech

2)  Anticipate and address the Group’s stakeholders’ concerns

In addition, the Group understands that climate change is posing
imminent impacts on the environment and the communities
in which the Group operates.
change, enhance decarbonisation and respond to the Group’s
stakeholders’ concerns, the Group has set targets related to

In order to mitigate climate

greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, waste management and
energy consumption. The targets were approved by the Board
and the progress towards these targets will be reviewed by the
management, the result of the review is reported to the Board
annually. The Group will continue to work on environmental
protection and minimising its carbon footprint in order to achieve
long-term sustainability of the environment and community
where it operates. Details of the targets are mentioned in the
sections headed “GHG Emissions and Air Emissions”, “Waste
and “Energy Consumption”

Management” under aspect

“Environmental”.
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Stakeholders are interest groups who are involved in the
Group’s business and have significant impact on the Group’s
success. GoFintech applied the following principles to assess its
stakeholders and their importance during the Reporting Year:

° Impact on the viability of the Group’s business model

° Impact on the efficiency and reputation of the Group

o Impact on the direction and quality of the Group’s decision-
making

Having two decades’ development, the Group appreciates the
importance of effective communication with external and internal
parties. The Group has built channels in its daily operation to
understand views and expectations of its stakeholders, who are
customers, employees, shareholders, government and regulatory
authorities, suppliers and the community.
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The table below provides highlights of stakeholder engagement

activities:

Stakeholders
B0E

Customers

EP

Employees

=

Communication Channels

BERE

o Customer service hotline
and email

J Company website

s XFPRBEARREH

o DA

° Trainings and workshops

. Performance evaluation or
appraisal

J Internal announcement

. BHI R I

o BAFHEAER

. W_LB/\ﬁ:

Expectations

e

o Integrity

o High quality services

o Complaint handling
mechanism

o HfE

o  BER®

o RFREKH

o Humanity and labour rights

o Occupational health and
safety

o Career development

o Equal opportunity

o ANERB TR
o BERERLZ
o  EXUE

. ¥3ie

TRIEFNHEL2REHRE

Management Responses

EEELDE

U Ensuring contractual obligations
are in place for protection of
customers’ benefits and rights

. Collecting customers’ opinion
from various channels in
order to improve customer
satisfaction

o  HERHETANEML NURE
PR & R R

e NEBRBUEEFPER N
RITEFPRER

. Paying attention to
occupational health and safety,
creating a comfortable working
environment

o Encouraging employees to
participate in continuous
education and professional
trainings to enhance
competency

o Holding team building function
to increase workplace
collaboration

J Setting up contractual
obligations to protect labour
rights

o  IBEBERERLE FEF
BOIERER

o BEESZEREEERER
SEEIA SR T 8E

o BHREKER
EENRE

o HFTRNEERERSIEZ

BB ARE TIE



Stakeholders
BhE

Shareholders

e

Government and
Regulatory
Authorities

B REE#E

Suppliers
R

Community

R

Communication Channels

BERE

J Annual general meeting and
other shareholder meetings

o Financial reports

o Announcements and

circulars
o REBFREREMRE
Ag

o HBRSE
o  RERAH

o Routine reports

o Written or electronic
correspondences

o PITRE

o ZEHETFHER

J Business cooperation

«  HAXAE

o ESG reports
. BRE MHehERHE

Expectations

Financial performance
Information transparency
Operating risks
management

Corporate sustainability
HBRH

ERERE
SERRERE
PEAREER

Compliance with laws and
regulations
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Management Responses
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Ensuring efficient
communications and
information disclosure through
shareholder’s meetings,
annual reports and regular
announcements published on
official websites
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Upholding integrity and
operating business in
compliance with law and
regulations

Paying tax on time in return
contributing to the society
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Ensuring contractual obligations
are in place to protect mutual
benefit

Performing supplier selection
with due care to ensure fair and
open procurement
HRHERNELE REMRE
%

BEGEHED BRREBEQ
SN

Encouraging employees to
participate in volunteer and
charitable activities
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Materiality assessment is a process of identifying and assessing
the ESG issues that are important to the Group’s business and its
stakeholder. With the assistance of the Group’s management and
the designated personnel, a list of material ESG issues has been
identified.

Factors such as business strategic objectives and policies,
industrial standards and legal and regulatory responsibilities have
been taken into consideration for identifying the Group’s material
ESG issues, covering environmental protection, climate change,
operating practices, employment and labour practices.

To prioritise the identified material ESG issues, the Group
conducted a materiality assessment survey during the Reporting
Year. Management and employees of different business units
and departments were invited to evaluate the significance of
the identified ESG issues to the Group’s stakeholders and
its businesses. Based on the results of the survey, the Group
compiled the materiality matrix.

The results of the materiality assessment were reviewed by the
Group’s management, and approved by the Board. The materiality
matrix below mapped out the identified material ESG issues
and their respective level of importance on their influence on
stakeholders and significance on the sustainable development of
the Group. Those material ESG issues reflected are compared
against GoFintech’s own strategic and operational focus to
produce a series of aligned priorities.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX
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Based on the result of materiality assessment, GoFintech
identified three major sustainable business development priorities
among all material ESG issues, which are shown as below:

° Anti-corruption and Anti-fraud

° Product Responsibility

o AML and CTF

During the Reporting Year, the Group confirmed that it has
established appropriate and effective management policies and
internal control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that

the information disclosed in the ESG Report complies with the
“comply or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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As a financial institution, GoFintech provides services to a wide
range of corporate and private clients who trust it to bring
financial solutions and grow their assets and wealth. The Group
is committed to the quality of its products and customer services
throughout its operations. The Group has also developed a series
of internal policies and procedures with regular updates to ensure
strict compliance.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations in
relation to product responsibility and product quality, including
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to its products and services provided as well as methods
of redress. Such laws and regulations include but are not
limited to the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) of Hong
Kong, Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong, Trade Descriptions
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
of Hong Kong, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests, the Product
Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China, and the Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China.

Product quality starts with product safety, which is at the core
of the Group’s commitment to all clients. The Group has placed
great importance on due diligence and risk monitoring processes
in product planning and on-going management. Product reliability
is the next layer of quality assurance initiative. It is conducted by a
set of check and balance processes amongst various professional
teams. As the health and safety risks involved in the Group’s
services are not material, the Group is not applicable to disclose
the product recall procedure or the percentage of total products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
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At operation level, senior officers are assigned to supervise the
daily operation to ensure compliance with the Group’s internal
policies and risk control management requirements. If the Group
is aware of any fraudulent or non-compliance cases including but
not limited to fraudulent GoFintech corporate website, mobile
apps and WeChat group that could lead to fraud or any loss
of the Group’s customers, the Group will report immediately to
the Hong Kong Police and police authorities in Mainland China,
and file a brief with relevant regulators if feasible. Meanwhile,
the Group will make public announcement through external
engagement channels exposing such fraudulent acts in order to
protect its reputation and the interest of customers.

GoFintech aspires to provide the best customer experience
as it can in product variety, product quality and customer
communications. The Group believes in providing quality advice
and insights to customers and has established a dedicated team
of professionals with diverse experience and in-depth knowledge
of its services. They offer valuable counsel to customers across
the Group’s major service offerings.

The Group’s customer service quality assurance measure is
guided by the principle of transparency. The role of quality
reviewers has been established many years ago with the
designated duty of overseeing the process of customer service,
including assessing service quality through telephone tapes on
sample check basis.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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In addition, the Group actively seeks customer feedback on a
regular basis and closes gaps where possible, as it believes
feedback is a valuable mechanism for building a stronger
customer-oriented corporate culture. Complaints Handling
Procedure is one of the internal policies, providing detailed
processes to follow when dealing with customers’ complaints. A
variety of customer communication channels were set up, such
as telephone hotline and dedicated email address. Both are made
prominently on the client statements to ensure customers are
aware of those channels for their opinions. Once a complaint has
been received, the Group will investigate the received complaint
competently, diligently and impartially, and also offer appropriate
redress or remedial action accordingly. During the complaint
investigation, the client will be kept informed of the investigation
progress as appropriate. During the Reporting Year, the Group
have not received any material complaints (2024: nil).
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Customer’s data privacy is handled with utmost care at GoFintech
and is the most important commitment the Group has made to its
clients. The Group had developed Privacy Policy to comply with
the applicable data protection laws and regulations, including but
not limited to Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong. It
also ensures that appropriate technical measures are put in place
to protect the personal data against any unauthorised use or
access.

The Group has established a system whereby all data is
categorised, while authorisation on usage, filing, editing and
access are clearly defined. In principle, staff only access client
personal data on a need-to-know basis when opening and
maintaining client’s account. The head of legal department is also
the Group’s Information Security Officer with the responsibility to
ensure the relevance and the enforcement of the Privacy Policy.

As a business continuity strategy, extra network security measures
have been taken when some of the Group’s employees had to
work from home. It covered remote access policy and procedures
upgrade, intrusion detection systems and monitoring, virus and
malware protection, vulnerability management, incident response
planning, and patch management.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
received complaints in relation to breaches of customer privacy,
losses or misuse of client’s data. The Group will review its data
protection measures regularly to ensure its effectiveness.
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GoFintech treasures the trust that its clients put into its advice
and service, and the Group has never taken it for granted. The
Group appreciates that ample competition helps improve the
quality of product and service and benefits customers at large.
Therefore, the Group advocates for fair competition and follows
best practice in product and service marketing activities. As
a company providing financial services, the Group does not
consider advertising and labelling as a material ESG issue for it. In
the Group’s dealings with its clients, information provided should
be complete, true, accurate, clear, and comply with all relevant
laws and regulations regarding the proper advertising, including
but not limited to Trade Descriptions Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group respects the intellectual property rights and strives to
protect intellectual property rights of its own. On the other hand,
the Group equally respects the intellectual property rights of the
others. All software installed by the Group are purchased through
legitimate sources. During the Reporting Year, the Group was not
aware of any cases of infringement of intellectual property rights.

As a financial service provider, the Group’s suppliers are mainly
general office supplies providers. In order to provide a fair
assessment of suppliers’ selection, the Group has adopted
relevant policies and evaluated needed services based on
a combination of capability, efficiency, competitiveness and
reputation of the suppliers before entering into the contractual
agreements. If any inconsistency is found between the Group’s
requirements and their act, the Group will suspend the

cooperation until improvement is made.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has engaged a total of 22
major suppliers (2024:16), all of which have gone through the
aforementioned procurement practices of the Group.
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The number of major suppliers by geographical region is as
follows:

By Geographical Region & it 2 &l 2
Hong Kong BB
Mainland China A A
The United States EH

The United Kingdom T

In view of green supply chain management, the Group strives
to engage suppliers who incorporate the consideration
of environmental and social risks into their supply chain
management. The Group periodically evaluates and monitors
the performance of its suppliers to ensure their compliance with
laws and regulations relating to environmental and social policies,
service standards, contract conditions and quality provisions.
Any non-compliance with relevant environmental and social laws
and regulations discovered by the designated personnel from the
Group will be promptly reported to the management. Corrective
action plan will be carried out to remediate the identified risk in
a timely manner. The supplier who continuously fails to meet the
Group’s requirement could be subject to termination of supplier
contract.

The Group attaches importance to the environmental impacts of
the purchased goods and services. More environmentally friendly
products or services should be procured by the Group when
it is feasible, to minimise negative impacts on the environment
and human health, and conserve natural resources. The Group
will provide the necessary guidance to its suppliers and service
providers on how to implement good environmental and social
practices throughout the supply chain engagement process.

The Group will review the above measures regularly to ensure its
effectiveness.
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The Group advocates an operating environment of fairness and
a corporate culture of integrity and honesty. Employees, senior
management and directors are guided with the Group’s principles
of business ethics and integrity.

GoFintech has zero tolerance towards any form of corruption,
bribery, forgery, extortion, conspiracy, embezzlement and
collusion. Anti-corruption policies and procedures are crystalised
in both Code of Conduct and Employee Handbook to drive both
mind-set and behavioural change. Head of Compliance and Risk
Management Department leads all related work streams from
policy setting to enforcement.

All employees are required to act in full compliance with all
anticorruption related internal policies, laws and regulations,
including but not limited to Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
of Hong Kong and the Company Law and Criminal Law of
the People’s Republic of China. Anti-corruption training is
mandatory for all employees including the directors. The Group
promised to provide internal and external anti-corruption and
corporate governance training and related training materials
for its employees and directors annually. During the Reporting
Year, the Group has provided anti-corruption training materials
for all directors and employees for their self-study. In addition, 2
Continuous Professional Training (“CPT”) courses were provided
to directors and employees. One of the courses was a 0.5-hour
seminar on the prevention of bribery, attended by 5 directors and
9 employees. The other was a 2-hour seminar covering topic on
AML, attended by 4 directors and 6 employees.

The Group’s operation policy requires:

1.  No confidential commercial information of the Group shall
be disclosed, discussed and shared with third parties for
personal interest.

2. All employees are prohibited to give and accept personal,
commercial, regulatory or contractual advantage, by using
the excuse of work or the authority granted from the Group.
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S If any misconducts are found and proven, the Group will
apply disciplinary actions in accordance with set policies.

GoFintech has taken AML and CTF as one of the most imperative
compliance requirements. The Group has established AML and
CTF Policy and Prevention of Bribery and Conflict of Interest
Handling Guideline with updates on a compliance tool used by
the Group during the Reporting Year to ensure that all business
operations comply with relevant laws and regulations. The Group
also formulated relevant policies and measures including customer
acceptance policies, customer due diligence process, ongoing
monitoring, and customer and transaction record keeping to
prevent any breaches throughout the transaction.

The Group also regularly conducts internal training relating to AML
and CTF procedure and recent updates on relevant regulation
and other topics related to licensed regulated activities. The
compliance training provided up-to-date information regarding
to AML and CTF, including but not limited to the regulatory
framework, stakeholders’ roles and responsibilities, procedure
and importance of conducting customer due diligence, and the
transaction monitoring system. By doing so, the Group ensures
its employees are equipped with sufficient knowledge and
awareness, regarding to AML and CTF, therefore, minimising the
risk of relevant breaches.

GoFintech formulated a whistleblowing system for employees and
external parties to report any suspected irregularities or doubts
on misconduct. Such report will be raised to the Group by post
or email in confidence and anonymity. Upon receiving the report,
the Group will conduct the investigation in a fair and impartial way
for every reporting. If there is any evidence of illegal conduct or
breach of laws and regulations, it shall be referred to the relevant
public or regulatory bodies such as the Hong Kong Police Force,
the Independent Commission against Corruption, the Securities
and Futures Commission, or relevant regulatory body. Disciplinary
actions would be adopted once the guilty or misconduct is
proven. The Group is committed to protecting the identity of
whistleblowers and retaliation against them. Related practices are
reviewed regularly to ensure their effectiveness.
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During the Reporting Year, there were no concluded legal cases
regarding corruptive practices brought against the Group or its
employees, and no reports were received through the Group’s
whistleblowing channels. Also, the Group has not identified any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and Mainland China including but not limited to
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China and Criminal Law of the
People’s Republic of China.

Talents have long been recognised as one of the major
competitive strengths in financial industry, and GoFintech has
continued its investment to attract and retain talents. The Group
has established the Employee Handbook which build a holistic and
harmony system for employment practice, covering compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

The Group is committed to promoting equal opportunities
and diversity in recruitment. The Group’s hiring, appraisal and
promotion policies are merit-based regardless of individual’s
gender orientation, racial background, age, religion, marital status
and so on, and relevant processes are clear and transparent.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has not identified any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
including but not limited to Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong, Bill of Rights Ordinance
of Hong Kong, Sex Discrimination Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Disability Discrimination Ordinance of Hong Kong, Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance and Race Discrimination Ordinance of
Hong Kong, Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China that would have a
significant impact on the Group.
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The Group recognises its employees’ qualifications, experiences
and work performances by offering attractive remuneration
packages. In order to retain talents, remuneration packages are
reviewed annually and bonuses are paid each year, according to
the work performance, seniority and contribution to the Group, to
recognise employees’ hard work throughout the year.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has a total of 62 employees (as
at 31 March 2024: 67). The workforce distributions by gender, age
group, employment type and geographical region are as follows:

Categories HEA

By Gender %1 Bl 8l o
Male ES

Female 2

By Age Group EERARE 5
Under 31 31EE AT

31-40 31K E405%
41-50 4158 Z508%
Over 50 1B 5057

By Employment Type RERERSES
Full-time a1

Part-time B

By Geographical Region % ih & 8 o
Hong Kong BB
Mainland China B A B,

The promotion of employees depends on their performances,
working ability, intrinsic potential, and the needs of the Group’s
entities. The basis and process for management to determine
promotion, transfer and demotion of employees are clearly defined
to protect the interest of both the employees and the Group. Only
with the appropriate approval, the relevant actions can be carried
out.
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Employment termination of employees are arranged in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations. Unreasonable dismissal under
any circumstances is strictly prohibited, dismissal will be based
on appropriate and lawful grounds supported by internal policies
of the Group. During the Reporting Year, the Group’s overall
turnover rate was approximately 46.51%' (2024: approximately
32.79%). The employee turnover rate by gender, age group, and
geographical region was as follows:

Turnover Rate? Tk &2

By Gender & B &l 5
Male =

Female Z

By Age Group RERAR B2
Under 31 1B A T

31-40 315X E405%
41-50 4158 Z505%
Over 50 1B @505%

By Geographical Region % it = &l 5
Hong Kong BB

Mainland China NETA:
Note(s):

1. The overall employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the

number of employees leaving employment during the financial year
by the average number of employees at the beginning and the end
of the financial year, and multiplying by 100%.

2. The employee turnover rate by category is calculated by dividing the
number of employees leaving employment in the specific category
during the financial year by the average number of employees at the
beginning and the end of the financial year in the specific category,
and multiplying by 100%.
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AEENEREERARAER/HN6.51% (=
T MEE: 432.79%) c R R F A8
R RiRE D HRERAERMT

2024
—ENEE

30.56%
36.00%

22.22%
42.31%
19.35%
38.10%

36.70%

GhE
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The Group has formulated policies in determining the working
hours and rest periods for employees following local employment
laws and regulations. In addition to the statutory benefits, such as
paid annual leave, maternity leave, paid sick leave and marriage
leave, the Group continues to offer employees with casual Fridays,
festival gifts, training subsidy, qualification allowance, travel and
overtime allowance. Qualified members were also offered with
housing allowance under the Group’s Staff Residential Rental
Subsidy program.

The Group offers a variety of communications means with the
staff, for instance, weekly all-staff-meeting and management
meeting. During the Reporting Year, an all-staff-meeting was
held as a conclusion for the years 2022-2024. In additional, the
Group’s Townhall Meeting is held regularly. All these channels
effectively cascade the Group’s policies and principles throughout
the organisation.

To maintain an embracing and collaborative workplace culture, the
Group provides equal opportunities in all aspects of employment
and ensures the workplace is free from discrimination, physical or
verbal harassment against any individual because of race, religion,
colour, gender, physical or mental capability, age, place of origin,
marital status, and sexual orientation. The Group also strives
to ensure that complaints, afflictions and concerns, including
whistleblowing, are dealt with promptly and confidentially. The
Group has zero tolerance for sexual harassment or abuse in the
workplace in any form.

Due to the office-based operation, the Group does not involve
significant safety risks. Nevertheless, the Group does not overlook
the responsibility to safeguard employees’ health and safety.
The Group has formulated various management requirements in
accordance with relevant occupational health and safety laws
and regulations. The relevant health and safety measures and
response plans are clearly stated in the Employee Handbook.
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Acknowledging the relatively longer time spent in front of
computers as the reality of financial industry practitioners, the
Group has provided protective equipment and furniture, such as
ergonomic chairs and lightings, to help relieve body stiffness and
eye stress. Regular breaks during the day with desk-side stretch
exercise have always been encouraged. The management team
will continue to seek feedback from the staff on the support
needed from the Group so that the staff can be more focused and
well-motivated to deliver first-class service to customers.

The Group adhered to placing the health and safety of employees
as its top priority, therefore the relevant precautionary measures
remained the same as the previous years. The Group provided
highly sought-after protective measures for staff, such as face
masks and sanitising packages, through its overseas network.
The Group also made flexible work arrangements including home
office for its staff on the basis of no compromise on customer
service quality.

Sanitising measures were put in place in offices when employees
returned to work. Employees’ body temperatures were also taken
regularly, and the Group issued a policy to arrange employees to
go for immediate medical treatment should their body temperature
exceed 37.3T at Group’s expense where necessary. The
Group will review the relevant measures regularly to ensure their
effectiveness.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety-related laws
and regulations, including but not limited to Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, Employees Compensation
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases that would
have a significant impact on the Group. In the past three years
(including the Reporting Year), the Group did not record any cases
of work-related fatalities. In addition, the Group did not record
any work-related injuries nor losses in working days due to work-
related injuries during the Reporting Year (2024: nil).
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The level of professionalism of GoFintech’'s team is its building
block. The Group holds that principle and enables continued
professional training of staff as such that they will play to their
strength and deliver high-quality performance. The Group
encourages staff to participate in external seminars and industrial
events to keep abreast of industry challenges and best practices,
at the same time, the Group offers internal trainings in areas of
legal, compliance, business ethics and other licensed regulated
activities. The Group also offers subsidies on external training
programs, license fees and qualification allowance.

To ensure employees’ professionalism and the service quality
provided, the Group regularly conducts internal trainings
relating to AML and CTF procedure, recent updates on relevant
regulations and other topics related to licensed regulated
activities. The Group also provides cyber security training to its
employees, in order to prevent any relevant incident leading to
customers’ or the Group’s loss or threat. Employees were taught
to conduct the best practice and the procedure of timely response

in case of any breaches.

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded approximately
25.00%° (2024: approximately 26.44%) of trained employee, with
an average of approximately 1.90* (2024: approximately 3.04)
training hours per employee.

Percentage of Trained Employee®

RNEEE DL

Categories il

By Gender BRI E 2
Male 5

Female I

By Employee Category REEERES
Management EEAB

General staff —RET
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25.40% 3.04
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Categories Al

By Gender &4 B &8l 5
Male =

Female Z

By Employee Category REEBERE S
Management BEEABR
General staff —RET

Note(s):

The percentage of trained employee is calculated by dividing
the total number of employees who took part in training during
the financial year by the total number of employees, covering
the employees as at the end of the financial year and resigned
employees during the financial year, and multiplying by 100%.

The average training hours per employee is calculated by dividing
the total training hours during the financial year by the total number
of employees, covering the employees as at the end of the financial
year and resigned employees during the financial year.

The percentage of trained employees by category is calculated by
dividing the number of employees in the specified category who
took part in training during the financial year by the total number
of employees in the specified category, covering the employees as
at the end of the financial year and resigned employees during the
financial year, and multiplying by 100%.

The average training hours by category is calculated by dividing
the total number of training hours for employees in the specified
category during the financial year by the number of employees in
the specified category, covering the employees as at the end of the
financial year and resigned employees during the financial year.

The breakdown of trained employee by category is calculated by
dividing the number of employees in the specified category who
took part in training during the financial year by the total number of
employees who took part in training during the financial year, and
multiplying by 100%.
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In strict compliance with relevant local labour laws and
regulations, the Group prohibits to hire child labour and requires
verifying the age of applicants during the recruitment process.
The Group strictly follows the internal policies, in which all staffs
are required to sign employment contract before employment to
safeguard legal rights of both parties. Furthermore, employees
of the Group work overtime on a voluntary basis to prevent any
breaches of labour standards. Any punishments, management
methods and behaviours involving verbal abuse, physical
punishment, physical abuse, oppression, sexual harassment
against its employees are prohibited for any reasons. The Group
also conducts regular reviews and inspections to prevent any child
labour or forced labour in operation. If the case of child labour
is found, it will be dealt with in the light of the circumstances,
including terminating the employment contracts of the child labour
and reporting to legal authorities. For the case of forced labour,
the Group will terminate the employment contracts of the staff
who is responsible for the cause of the case. The measures will
be reviewed regularly to ensure their effectiveness.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has not identified any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to child and forced labour, including but are not limited to
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China that would have a significant impact
on the Group.

The Group’s business itself does not create a significant
direct impact on or engagement with the community in neither
environmental nor social aspects. However, the Group believes
that contribution to social causes and development of local
communities is part of its corporate social responsibility. It has
upheld the principle of corporate social responsibility throughout
its operations and implemented policy to maintain its community
investment.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group has devoted significant
resources to providing internal job-related training to staff for
the new business segments and community activities were rare.
The Group will focus more on social participation and community
investment, especially related to labour needs and health, and
continue to encourage the employees to actively participate in
charitable activities and voluntary services coordinated by non-
profit organisations. The Group believes that promoting the
awareness of corporate social responsibilities among staffs would
not just help the society and business in general, but more about
their personal growth. The Group welcomes opportunities of
sponsorship or partnership for charity events, and organising
volunteer work to support vulnerable groups in Hong Kong.

The Group is committed to building an environmentally friendly
corporation image. It pursues to minimise resource consumption
and adopts environmentally friendly practices across the business
with the relevant environmental protection policies set for the
Group’s business operations. The Group provides financial
products and services to a wide range of corporate clients and
individual customers. For the Group’s staff to carry out daily work,
the Group rents office spaces which have been furnished with
office equipment. The Group uses electricity, water and waste
management services provided by the leased premises. Due to
the office-based business nature, the Group’s daily operation has
limited environmental impact.

However, the Group proactively implements emissions reduction
and energy conservation measures to achieve efficient use of
resources, enhancing its sustainability development. Various
initiatives have been implemented throughout its operations such
as minimising the use of paper and reducing water consumption.
Through active monitoring and managing the use of resources, the
Group aims to reduce its carbon footprints as well as its operating
cost.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group has not identified any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that
would have a significant impact on the Group. The relevant laws
and regulations include, but are not limited to Air Pollution Control
Ordinance of Hong Kong, Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

The Group recognises that climate change has been affecting its
business operations and the Group is exposed to both physical
and transition risks. The Group’s primary responsibility is to
implement environmental policies to reduce its GHG emissions
and the environmental footprint as a whole by ensuring that its
assets and operations are prepared to withstand, or respond
to, expected climate impacts. The Group has initiated a climate
change assessment under the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) framework to identify and
mitigate the potential climate-related risks that may arise from
its business operations. At the same time, the potential climate-
related opportunities have also been identified. These risks and
opportunities mainly stem from the following dimensions:

Climate change leads to the increase of extreme weather events,
such as typhoons, storms and heavy rainfall. These events may
potentially disrupt the daily operations of the Group by causing
damages to power grid and communication infrastructure.
Additionally, they can impede employees’ ability to work or
commute, leading to injuries. Consequently, the Group may
experience partial halt or even permanent cessation of business
operations, which expose the Group to risks associated with
reduced revenue and higher operational costs from negative
impacts on workforce.
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To better manage the above physical risks, the Group has
formulated emergency plan which is reviewed regularly to
response such events, including procedures to approach typhoons
and black rainstorms. The relevant procedures and measures are
outlined in the Employee Handbook. When it is anticipated that
extreme weather events will happen, the senior management will
react according to the plans and timely communicate with the
employees about the work arrangements to ensure staff safety
and operational continuity.

Climate change can lead to market volatility, affecting asset
valuations and investment returns. Shifts in consumer preferences
toward sustainable products can disrupt markets and impact
investment portfolios.

As a mitigation, the Group has planned to implement advanced
risk assessment tools to evaluate climate-related impacts on
assets and investments. This includes scenario analysis and
stress testing for better decision-making. It is also part of the
Group’s strategy to diversify investment portfolios to include a
mix of assets less susceptible to climate-related market volatility,
such as low-carbon and climate-resilient investments. In addition,
the Group will regularly train employees and adopt internal
policies and processes to align with market trends and regulatory
standards.

RIELAERBERERFSELN AEEC
ﬂmfﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁwﬁﬂlmﬁk

TR ETEREHBEANEECRRHN
&V°@ﬁﬁf&$m%51¥ﬁ¢%ﬂ°
ERASRLABKRARELAR SRERE
%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ*l&ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ
BIERHE UBRABRZEREERE
{132 =

RIRE(LAI S| BTG RE R EEEME
K% & O 5 o ﬁ%%ﬂgtﬁqm—ﬁ—ﬂ%?m :
AEBETSEATEREMLS

REREERRE NEEFERATEN
RS TE  ARFEREHEBAEEYE
F&&ﬁmwa BREBBREIINTRE
NRHRFRR ARG - R TBARE D
HIREHERBZ R BEEMARTS
XREEEATSENBTENZREE W
ERERRIREERE b NEE
% 7 B Al B T 30 5R 48 A BB BUR SR AR -
UNEFMEBERNEEERE-



The Group anticipates that there will be more stringent climate
legislations and regulations to support the global vision of
carbon neutrality. From a listed company’s perspective, the
Group acknowledges the stricter requirements of climate-
related disclosures. One example is the update of the Stock
Exchange’'s ESG reporting framework in respect of disclosures
regarding significant climate-related issues. The Group’s business
operations may be materially and adversely affected under the
stricter environmental laws and regulations if it fails to comply with
the laws and regulations as applicable to its businesses from time
to time. Negative publicity may also arise due to failure to meet
the compliance requirements for climate change. The Group’s
related capital investment and compliance costs thus increase.

In response to the policy and legal risks as well as the reputation
risks, the Group regularly monitors existing and emerging trends,
policies and regulations relevant to climate and be prepared
to alert the top management where necessary to avoid cost
increments, non-compliance fines or reputational risks due to
delayed response.

ESG investing has been moving mainstream as climate-related
risks reshape the principles of investment decisions. As a
significant player in China’s financial market, the Group will grasp
the opportunities arising from the emerging trend of green finance.
In 2024, the Group allocated HK$1 million towards a green
deposit of which the funds will be used to finance and/or refinance
an eligible green project. Moving forward, the Group remains
committed to actively supporting climate-friendly endeavours by
facilitating the development and innovation of climate-friendly
products and technologies.

AEBEEAKEEEBEBNREZED R
ERAZF 2P MHER - AEER
Ao EMABME  HRIKERE R K
BHRTEE QB L —EP 525
RFEHFTEREARGHREEERE
MERE HERERBREER - EEBR
MIRBEABLERERT HAKEREE
BT TR ERAREZBEORERER N
SENEBEENREEAMXIEAS
MEE - MAENTEREELTENER
EXR-NAEHRAASE-AEEN
HAEAKRERARKASREMIE M-

REHBRRIOAERRANRBERR &K
SEEHENRERIKEBANERA MG
BB BERKEAR AR 0 BRI
RESSERE NWEBEAREEEMSE
BRRAE I N EREN N ERER

RE HELERRERKEHEBRRE
BERERKRFAMBBER - ERTEHS
BmMSEZELEE AEEKERGZECS
BT EBRTENRBE - N_T_NFE -
7N 5 B £ #51,000,0008 TIE B BT
HEESBERREERGZEHENR
BR/SBRE-RKRK RNEBBEER
B FRERERNEE HHRBERER
7 h T B i B A 3 R Bl T o

141



142

The major sources of the Group’s GHG emissions are direct
GHG emissions (Scope 1) from petrol consumed by company-
owned vehicles, energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)
from purchased electricity consumption in offices, and other
indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) from paper waste disposed
at landfill and employees’ air business travels. To minimise the
environmental impacts of GHG emissions from the Group’s
business operations, the Group has set a target to reduce its
GHG emissions intensity (tCO,e/employee) by the financial year
ending 31 March 2026 (“2026”), using 2024 as the baseline year
(2024: 2.75 tCO e/employee).

The Group has implemented policies to manage the air and GHG
emissions from its operations. Meanwhile, the Group seeks to
educate its staff members to increase the office environmental
awareness. Besides, the Group has actively adopted energy
conservation measures which are described in the section headed
“Energy Consumption” under aspect “Environmental”.

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s total GHG emissions
intensity was approximately 0.9 tCO,e/employee, which has
decreased by approximately 67.27% compared to the target
baseline. The reduction was mainly attributable to reduction
in direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) after streamlining the use
of motor vehicles as described below, despite an increase in
other indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) due to more frequent
air business travel. The Group will continue to monitor its GHG
emissions and implement relevant measures, reduce its GHG
emissions intensity progressively and aim to achieve the target of
reducing GHG emission intensity by 2026.
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The Group’s GHG emissions performance was as follows:

GHG Emissions® Unit
BERBHH By

Scope 1 - Company-owned vehicles tCO e

HEY -AREEER “ELREE
Direct GHG emissions tCOe
ERRERBERE B_E{tREE
Scope 2 - Purchased electricity tCO e

HE2 -INEES —AtikE=
Scope 3 - Paper waste disposed at landfill and air tCO.e

business travel

HE - HEERRARERMERBEK “8RES
Indirect GHG emissions tCO,e

BERERBENE

Total GHG emissions - Scope 1,2 and 3
BERBEHHAE-&E - 2K3

Total GHG emissions intensity®

REERBENTE

Note(s):

tCO,e
WS {tREE

tCO,e/employee

M-E{HER EE

GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide
equivalent and are based on, including but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute and the World
Business Council for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare an
ESG Report - Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, “Global Warming Potential
Values” from the Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) of the United
Nation Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, and the “2024
Sustainability Report” published by the HK Electric Investments and
HK Electric Investments Limited.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 62 (as at 31 March
2024: 67; as at 31 March 2023: 55) employees. These data are also
used for calculating other intensity data.

AEERRERBHFBRRRMOT

2024 2023
“ENEE “E_CFE

150.33 15.43
150.33 15.43
24.15 26.42

9.78 11.11
33.93 37.53
184.26 52.96

2.75 0.96

BEREEREBEUN-—SLLREENTE
f‘iiﬂ CTHER(BREERER)ERE
TR 7T BT It R T?%iggﬂ)?&lf'ﬁi%%@
BH CRAERERERATSE =
R EZE)  BERETEMD <<11Dﬁiﬁfﬁ
RE e RERRE M= REH
RIBVIEZERES)  BFBERIRZ L
EMZEBRMHNENRFTHHRS (ARG)
M (ERECEREE) REBRENERE
EE R E NIRE B R A A TR (2024
FRFBEERRE) -

RZZE-—AF=ZA=+—H AxEEAE
HE2HZ (RZE-NMFE=A=+—H8:
678 RZE_=F=A=+—H:55%)
BE -ZEEENTARTEEMEEH
e
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The major source of the Group’s air emissions is company-
owned vehicles. The Group has taken the following measures to
minimise the GHG emissions and air emissions from its business
operations:

o Choose the shortest route when vehicles are travelling
between the Group’s operating locations and destinations to
reduce consumption of fuel;

° Turn off engines for idling vehicles;

° Conduct regular vehicle maintenance to ensure efficient use
of fuel; and

° Encourage employees to hold video conference call.

In order to further strengthen the management of company-
owned vehicles, the Group has formulated a comprehensive
Vehicle Usage Management Methods to ensure the efficient and
responsible use of the vehicles. Key commitments include but are
not limited to:

o Strict usage principles: Company vehicles are strictly limited
to official business only, and all expenses must be approved
and centrally managed.

° Standardised procedures: Use of company vehicles requires
prior application and approval, ensuring vehicles are only
used for essential business needs.

° Daily and scheduled maintenance: Vehicles undergo daily
inspections, monthly checks, and regular maintenance,
ensuring optimal vehicle condition and fuel efficiency, which
helps reduce emissions.

The Group has adopted various vehicle control measures to
minimise the pollutants emitted during its business operation that
are described above in this section. Through these measures, the
Group demonstrates its commitment to reducing fuel consumption
and vehicle emissions, aligning with its broader ESG objectives.

AEBERERNNIERRALABAR
Bl -AEBORBMIATERE URER
BXEBLENREREREREN:

e FEARAEEMNKLSWEERN
b B - 33 4 B RE B BR AR DA BB 5 WA R

o [FEHER:

s TEHRBH®W ERERABEAMRE:
54

- mEEEBRTAEGSZE-

RE—FZNBRAPEBEMEE ~A&E
EFEE2EN (EREREEZIE) - A
BREALBEEMERER ZO0&H
BEETERR

e BREMRARE:AREMERNA
BRE AR ARERLG— &
B o

e BREMALEF BEAFLHBNE
- BREANBEABRRK -

e HREETHRE:-WITESARE A
Bl ESgE REEHKEN
RE R R R - 1 T Rk D BEIR o

AEBERMNZREWMEERLE UEE
B D AN B SRR At SR E B AR T BEX
Bk - BRLEEFEE ARETRE
HAOBDMFEREWMBE N A REE
BZHWRE HtEe@RERBZ-



In addition to the effective implementation of the above policy, the
Group’s total air emissions has substantially reduced during the
Reporting Year as compared to 2024 due to replacing the use of
motor vehicles with mass transportation such as rail. The Group’s
air emissions performance was as follows:

Air Emissions™ Unit
& R E B By
Nitrogen Oxides (NOXx) g
AL (NOx) )
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) g
i 21k ¥ (SOx) 2
Particulate Matter (PM) g
BIZRLT (PM) 2

Note(s):

10. The calculation method of air emissions and the related emission
factors were based on, including but not limited to, “How to Prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

Due to the Group’s minimal water consumption in its daily
operation, there were no significant water discharges during
the Reporting Year. Moreover, the management office of the
building exclusively handles water supply and discharge, making
it impractical to provide water withdrawal and discharge data or
sub-metering specifically for the Group as an individual occupant.
More water conservation measures are described in the section
headed “Water Consumption” under aspect “Environmental”.

BB MBMIT EABRIN AR E R ERE
ARBBTANBERIE RAREFE
AEBZERIREER T _MNFE
BETR AEENERERRROT :

2024 2023
“EONEFEE —E-=FE
37,870.21 3,899.94
828.05 85.27
2,788.30 287.14

b i :

10. BERBEMHWEETARBRERRERT
AR (BREETRR) B M (1
MREBRE e RERAME Mk —:
RIZARERIERERIESD -

HRASEERTEEETRAKERD &
RBEFEWEKXEISKBER LN H
KRR EREERER Fit- K
5 B 1F = (8 B 78 P #0852 4 B 8 /Y BUK
REKREBE R D RER - E L HikKEEH
RIEREIBEADH [KIRIBFE] —6f-
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In view of the Group’s business nature, the Group did not
generate a material amount of hazardous waste during the
Reporting Year. Where it is required to handle hazardous waste,
the Group will independently store and transport the hazardous
waste to third-party professionals for safe and legal processing.

The non-hazardous waste generated by the Group is mainly office
paper from daily business operations. During 2024, the Group
has set target to maintain the total non-hazardous waste disposal
intensity (tonnes/employee) at the level of 0.02 tonnes/employee
for 2025. To achieve the target, the Group has taken various
measures to minimise the environmental impact and promote
“green office” concept. In particular, the Group promotes “think
before you print” attitude in order to encourage paperless offices
by facilitating the use of electronic means for communication such
as intranet, email, internal workflow system to reduce printing and
paper copies. Moreover, the reduction measures for other kinds of
wastes include:

° Set up recycling bins to collect recyclable products; and

° Encourage employees to reduce the use of one-off products.

ERNAEENEHELE AEEREARS
FRIEBELAANEREED NTEKE
BEERYE AEEEKETEYB L
FREXGEZNTEERBULT LR
BRI ERIE

AEBELENEZTEDNTIZREETER
SETPORLCRAK-R_T_MOFEE K
SEEHEER E_T_LAFERKEERE
EEVEERE (M EBEIRAFEES
EE0.02MM KT - RERZBER A&
EERBZEBEEEBAEHRENTEN

REGZERHAIHNEBES KNEBE AR
BIEHAN=8]82 XEBELKLHED

HECAEFEATX flWABE &
B AFIERERAZT RIOTEHEY
o b oI - H b 1R BY BE 32 W) &Y Rl RE HE b 2
1’

o MELOWAKER BUWEM: &

e WEEIRMAERA—RMEM-



During the Reporting Year, the Group’s total non-hazardous waste
disposal intensity was approximately 0.01 tonnes/employee, which
has decreased by approximately 50% from 2024 (0.02 tonnes/
employee) due to drop in business need for printing. The Group
has achieved the target of the total non-hazardous waste disposal
intensity it set in 2024. The Group will continue to monitor the
amount of non-hazardous waste it generated and implement
relevant measures, reduce its non-hazardous waste intensity
progressively. For the year ending 31 March 2026 (“2026”), the
Group aims to achieve the target of maintaining the total non-
hazardous waste disposal intensity at no more than 0.02 tonnes/
employee.

The Group’s waste disposal performance was as follows:

Non-hazardous Waste Unit
BERY By
Office paper tonnes
NS 5
Total non-hazardous waste disposal tonnes
BEERYZEAE W

Total non-hazardous waste disposal intensity

REEBNRERE

tonnes/employee

W/ &8

RAREFE ASEREZENEER
EANEZEBOIM R _NFE
(0.02H8, BB ) TR 450% EZ AN ¥
BITHRRKRL AEBEEERER =T
CHFERENREEEMEEYEH
E AEEREBEREELENEEZEY
BEVERBBER BLRELESE
MEE - HNBE BT E=A=+—
BHEEE([ZE-XAFE]) - A£EH
BEERBREZEEMESTERBTETDT
#8380.0208, (& 8 »

AEENEMESRIRWOT
2024 2023
2 NEE “E_CFE
1.03 0.99
1.03 0.99
0.02 0.02
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The major sources of the Group’s energy consumption were
direct energy consumption from petrol consumed by company-
owned vehicles and indirect energy consumption from purchased
electricity used in the offices. To minimise the environmental
impacts of energy consumption from the Group’s business
operations, the Group has set target to reduce the total energy
consumption intensity (kWh/employee) by 2026, using 2024 as
the baseline year (2024: 8,694.14 kWh/employee). To achieve
the target, the Group has implemented company-owned vehicles
management methods as described in the section headed “GHG
Emissions and Air Emissions” to reduce its energy consumption
by company-owned vehicles. In addition, the Group encourages
employees to establish energy-saving habits at offices and has
also implemented various energy-saving measures including:

° Replace lighting control system with light emitting diode
(‘LED”) bulbs;

° Maintain indoor temperature at 25.5C ;

° Conduct regular maintenance to avoid excessive electricity
usage;

° Use electronic devices in energy-saving mode where
possible;

° Lower the brightness of the monitor screen;
° Switch off the monitors during lunch hours; and

° Turn off the light when leaving the offices.

AEEGEREENETERREALAFES
ERERABEEANEEREREREAR
WAEEANIIBEHELNBERR
HE - BEBEAEBEKEEREBRNER
HEHRBENFZERZER)  A&E D
TEE U—S-_NEEERAREEFE (=
TEE 8694 14FREEE) KB
T ANFERBREAERERETE (T
ER/BE) AREHRZEZ A£XEEE
mIBEEREERERERER] — &
MARBBEERERE A UL ARH
EEMAEREE I AEEHBE
EERBAGHAAEZTE YEHRZED
REFE I BLIE

o MUK _HE ([LED ) B BKER
BR 22 6l 2R 4

s ERNAERFKAEREK25.5E:

s THHRENBREMAILERE:

e RENLAERAEREIRE:

s REBRTHEREHNTE:
s TFTERBEHMABERSE X

o BERMAERREE-



During the Reporting Year, the Group’s total energy consumption
intensity was approximately 1,309.14 kWh/employee, which has
substantially decreased by approximately 84.94% from the target
baseline. The main reason of the reduction was the decrease in
vehicle consumption as described in the paragraph headed “GHG
Emissions and Air Emissions” above. The Group will continue to
monitor its energy consumption and implement relevant measures,
reduce its energy consumption intensity progressively and aim
to achieve the target of reducing the total energy consumption
intensity by 2026.

The Group’s energy consumption performance was as follows:

Types of Energy" Unit
ERER Bfy
Direct energy consumption - Petrol kWh

EREERERE S ThE

Indirect energy consumption — Purchased electricity kWh

AEZRERE—INEEN TRE

Total energy consumption kWh
BEREEE TRE

Total energy consumption intensity kWh/employee
BRRERERE TEE/EE
Note(s):

11.  The unit conversion method of energy consumption data is
formulated based on the Energy Statistics Manual issued by
International Energy Agency.

RABREFE NEENBRERERTE
WEEEEEBE1800. 14T K RAERE

HE IR KR D 4984.94% o It PR 18 = B 57
AR EXEERESEREEIBER] —

B EREREREERD ANEBH
BB B REEB R aﬁﬂﬁf‘%?am
BEFABREERREESZE  FRER
:ﬁimaﬁhﬁ“ufﬁﬁﬁfma
=

AEEMERBEFERIRAOT :

2024 2023
“ENEE —E_CFE
545,914.20 56,218.50
36,593.00 38,860.00
582,507.20 95,078.50
8,694.14 1,728.70

GhE

1. BRRERBEEBENEMRETEANRER
BRBEIR B P 3 M 2 CREIR BUR T ) I

E o
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As the Group operates in office premises of which both the water
supply and discharge are solely controlled by the building’s
management office, there is no issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose. The provision of water withdrawal and discharge
data or sub-meter for the Group as an individual occupant is
not available, therefore target setting for water efficiency is not
applicable. The Group’s water consumption is minimal. Yet, the
Group promotes water-saving practices in the workplace by
encouraging its employees to reduce water use in order to raise
the awareness on water conservation, including:

° Conduct regular maintenance and repair of toilet flushing
system;

° Remind employees to turn off taps tightly after using to avoid
dripping of water;

° Use water-saving appliances in water facilities where
possible;

° Notify relevant department if problems are found to avoid
wasting water resources; and

° Post water-saving reminders in pantry and toilets to remind
employees on water conservation.

Since the Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial
services, packaging is not involved in the usual course of the
Group’s business, and therefore the use of packaging materials
during the Reporting Year is not applicable.

A 7N £ B 3 35 BT RO K R BE K15 i
MEEEREDEEE Bt N FHERR
R KR 77 T A A R - AN SR B A fE B
P EER L HUK R BKBIR S 5 kB2
AtEERERKSHZBE R - BEAKE
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A AR BB TR MK RiERE
IKE B HEEEEE:

o TEHRENEENERL:

e REESHERKEBEEKESR ML
R

s MKRBEEERMEKEURFE:

e —BHEEMBIABAMEMEF A
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The Group has implemented different policies to govern the
impact on the environment of its operations. To enhance working
efficiency, the Group is committed to providing employees a
comfortable and green workplace. Office areas are inspected
regularly to ensure that a good working environment is maintained.
Once the Group has found problems within the workplace,
precautionary measures will be promptly taken to minimise the
potential harm to employees. In addition, the Group cleans air-
conditioning systems regularly. Inspections of indoor air quality
have been conducted, and the results have consistently been
satisfactory, with no remediation required.

AEEDERZEATNRANBE REEHE
LEHRENEE - BETTERE K
SEENREERHESE RENTIFES
reASEEeEHmER RGN BRE
FRENTHERR  —BHRTESHAE
FERE AEBE R R RERIADN 5
BHREBERMPEHETINEESE UM
AEBEEHERERHEAR ENEREER
BMADERMERBFESARE BFX

R 8 5018 7

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Section/Declaration
BEEERE -8 -1

Governance Structure The ESG Governance Structure
BIARIE RIE g RERMNGERE
Reporting Principles Reporting Framework

R A WEESR

Reporting Boundary Reporting Scope

WEHE WEHE
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMERS

Description

=8

#

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA  HERY

General Disclosure

— R R

KPI A1.1

B B2 4B IR IR AL

KPI A1.2

B BB IR IR AL .2

KPI A1.3

BB A IEIRAL3

KPI A1.4

BB A IR IRAL 4

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRBRIRERBYN RKRLHEES BF

MNEEERYVHNELEFH:

(&) HE: &

() BFHBETATERTENEBEERRRD

B & K o

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.
PEr e £ M AE B BE BUR -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (HBE1) kepRAEE (BE2) R=REBHERE (X
WBEAE) R (WER)BE (WMASESELN FIAR
MEETHE) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
FTEXAEREEMRE (UEE) K (WER)ZE
(INABEEEAMN SGHERKETE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
FMEABREEEMESE (AETE) R
(IMABEEEAMN SHEHRZEFTE)

(Em) =&

Section/Declaration

2B

Environmental

B

Environmental - GHG
Emissions and Air Emissions
RIE—IRERBH M NER
HER

Environmental - GHG
Emissions and Air Emissions

RE-LEREBHBINER
BEDR

Environmental — Waste
Management

RIE-BEYEIE

Environmental — Waste
Management

RE-BYERE



Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMER

KPI A1.5

BB A IR IRALS

KPI A1.6

FA B A IEIRAL.6

Description

g

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

R FET B8 B IR R A ERE L B AT ERER
B 27 B o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

AR AEERBEEEZEYHN A RIEMPTE] LA
HEE B IR R AEDELBFARIA R -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2 : EREA

General Disclosure

— IR
KPI A2.1

B 52 4B IR IR A1

KPI A2.2

B 5 48 IR 1R A2.2
KPI A2.3

BB B W IEIRA2.3

KPI A2.4

FABEAE IR IRA2.4

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.
BRERER (BHERLIR KREAMRME)BBEK -
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in 000s)

and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

REBAESNEER XEELER (WE - R3ohm) 2

HE(ATHETRKFHE
BIHERMEETHE)
Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit

I NBE (MAGESEM -

of production volume, per facility).

BEKEREE (MABEESEM SERMEAE) -
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

BT Y e REANGERERRENELE R
FREREREY 2D B8

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

Mt SREGE A KR ER B EREE - LRI 28 A
K e B R R REDE L BRI 25

Section/Declaration
E88H

Environmental - GHG
Emissions and Air Emissions
RIE—RERBH M NER
HER

Environmental — Waste
Management

RIE-BYER

Environmental

IRIE
Environmental — Energy
Consumption

RIE—BEIRHRE

Environmental — Water
Consumption
BRIR—KIRHFE
Environmental — Energy
Consumption
RIE—BLIRERE

Environmental — Water
Consumption

RE—IKRER
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMERS

KPI A2.5

FABEAE IR IRA2.5

Description

g

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

HRmABEEMANEE (UEGE) &
BAEBEAME-

(@A)

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBEA3 :BERRXRER

General Disclosure

— IR
KPI A3.1

B8 52 48 I 1R A3.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts
on the environment and natural resources.
MEBETAHRBERRAEREXNERNZENBER -
Description of the significant impacts of activities on
the environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them.
HMEREHHIRBERRABERNEAZERDK
REREETENTH-

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EmEA4 : RIZE1L

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI A4.1

B 52 B IR IR AL

154

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

BRI NEHERRAIGEGHETAEETENEX
RIRMEBEEEHBER

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
RRE R RAREEHBETAEETENERRIEN
MEE REHTH-

Section/Declaration
E8BH

Environmental — Use of
Packaging Materials (Not
applicable — explained)
RE-BEMBBNER (T
HEA-CBE)

Environmental — Working
Environment

B - TR
Environmental — Working

Environment

B - TR

Environmental — Climate
Change Mitigation and
Adaptation

R — RiR 2 H R & NE

13

458

Environmental — Climate
Change Mitigation and
Adaptation

RIE— SRR 28 RAE

&



Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMER

Description

g

Aspect B1: Employment

EEB1:ER

General Disclosure

— R FR

KPI B1.1

B B2 4B AR IR B A

KPI B1.2

BB A IEIRB.2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment

and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

ERFME@RE BEREA TERE RH TF

e % - IR DA K CH 5538 K AE Al |

(a) BE: K

(o) EBTHETABERTENRBERLAD

EoR= g

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for

example, full-or part-time), age group and geographical

region.

RIER - ERAL (M RERE)  Fidn kiR

ElomEEESE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

geographical region.

SR B A B B R B B 5 B (B B RSk R o

Section/Declaration

-0 -1

Employment

(=25

Employment — The Group's
Talent Policy

BE-—AEEOHASBER

Employment — The Group’s
Talent Policy

BIR-—AREOHAT BE
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMERS

Description

#

=8

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

BEHB2 . #EHEZE

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI B2.1

B8 52 4R IR 15 B2.1
KPI B2.2
BASAR K12 B2.2

KPI B2.3

BB AE M IE1EB2.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

BRRMZE2TFRBERREBEEROBELEEN

() BEX: K&

(o) EBTHETABERTENRBERLAD

B & #L e

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in

each of the past three years including the reporting

year.

BE=ZF (BRERFE)SFEAITHMNABRLL

;Eio

Lost days due to work injury.

AIGEATIEAH:

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

TR AN B R R EEZT 2 EME  ARBEERITR

ERNEe

Section/Declaration

-0 -1

Employment — Employees’
Health and Safety

BE-REEEEREZE

Employment — Employees’
Health and Safety

BE-REREREZ2

Employment — Employees’
Health and Safety
EE-—EEREHEZS
Employment — Employees’
Health and Safety

BE-REEFREZE



Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMER

Description

g

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EHB3 : & & K&

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI B3.1

B B2 A AR 1R B3

KPI B3.2

BB IR 1R B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
ERRAEERITIERENMNBRREMNEEK -H
MIEHES -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

RERIREEEN (NEREEE FREEE) S
DHXFNEERDL -

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.
RERINREEEMNE S BREETKXIINFHE
2o

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EMEB4 : 8% T 4|

General Disclosure

— AR R

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BB IEE TR E5TH:

(@) BX: &

() BFHBETATERTENEBEERRRD

BB HL o

Section/Declaration

-0 -1

Employment — Employees’
Development and Training

BE-—EEZHRKLEI

Employment — Employees’
Development and Training

B —1&E %R KE

Employment — Employees’
Development and Training

BE-EEZRKLEI

Employment — Labour
Standards

fEfE— 5% 4R
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMERS

KPI B4.1

B2 AR FE 1R B4 1
KPI B4.2

BB A M IEIRBA.2

Description

g

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

g BB EN N ER AR R E T KRG 5T
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.
R EERERS

SR HBR B BB AT ERRERAY 28R o

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EEB5: HEHEERE

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI B5.1

Bl §2 48 IR 1% B5.1

KPI B5.2

BB A IR 1R B5.2

KPI B5.3

BB A M HE1RB5.3

158

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of
the supply chain.

EEHEENRE L ERABER

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

it SHERHAE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
futEEERHtERED
EREE URHEERTRERT A

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

B RN EEE R ARE Mg R RO
B ARAEBINITRERT &

RENTTH BIE G RH

Section/Declaration
E8BH

Employment — Labour
Standards
BRE-%T
Employment — Labour
Standards
e

]

Sustainable Business
Operations — Supply Chain

Management
AREEGEE-—HERE
i

Sustainable Business
Operations — Supply Chain
Management
AREREGEE
B
Sustainable Business

—HEEE

Operations — Supply Chain
Management

ARFEEKEE
3
Sustainable Business

—HEEE

Operations — Supply Chain
Management

AREXEKE
ﬁ

B-HERE



Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMER

KPI B5.4

B B2 4 IR B5.4

Description

g

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

i A BROE (IR R (2 2 AIRIRE o ARFS B1E 1] -
ARBRERITRERT A

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

— AR FR

KPI B6.1

B B2 A 1515 B6.1

KPI B6.2

B B4 W HEIRB6.2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and services

provided and methods of redress.

BRAfMEHERNRBENRRELZS BE S&EK

FLFEEE AR ER -

(@ BEX: K&

(o) B THETABERTENRBERLAD

o=

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to

recalls for safety and health reasons.

EEACEREmBEITR L REREmmAR
LGIIER N

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BRERNERIREORFEE A RBETTE-

Section/Declaration
E88H

Sustainable Business
Operations — Supply Chain
Management

AREXGEE—HERE
#

Sustainable Business
Operations

AREEGEE

Sustainable Business
Operations — Product
Responsibility (Not applicable
— explained)
AREEGEE-—EmaE
(TEA-BERE)
Sustainable Business
Operations — Customer
Services
ARFEEGEE - TR RE
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMERS

KPI B6.3

BB 45 W HE1EB6.3

KPI B6.4

BASR AR K F5 15 B6 4
KPI B6.5

BB A M IE1RB6.5

Description

g

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

i g R RER B ERERNBED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

Rt EERTBREREMBKERF -
Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

WAUBBEERRERLBERR K RBEEHRTRE
Bk

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

— AR R

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

BRAPILEHE B

(@) HE: &

() BFHBETAGTERTENEBEERRRD

B & # o

HRERRRER

Section/Declaration
E8BH

Sustainable Business
Operations — Intellectual
Property Rights and
Responsible Marketing
AFFEEG S E - MBERE
SRR

Sustainable Business
Operations — Customer
Services
AREEBEE-—TFPRE
Sustainable Business
Operations — Customer
Privacy Protection and Cyber
Security
ARHEEBEE-EPNLE
RERBBLTE

Business Ethics and Practice

BEERBLE

&



Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPIs

BE - —REER
HARANMER

KPI B7.1

B8 52 AR IR 1R BT .1
KPI B7.2
BASR AR 1R BT .2

KPI B7.3

BB A IR 1R BT.3

Description

g

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RERPANHBETARERERLEWEELENES
FARMHEE MFAGER-

Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
PSS e R R RIZ T - A RMBRIRIT REER %o
Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.

WAREFERBE TRENREISHE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEBS - HERE

General Disclosure

— AR R

KPI B8.1

Bl §2 4 A HE 1% B8 1

KPI B8.2

BB A W HEIEBs.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

BN R2ERTREEMEHRFZMBERE
FBEADEERMLRAMEAEEK -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).
HIERER (#E REEFE BIHER -BER-
X85 ) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

EEIGREMBAER (WEEXERH) -

Section/Declaration
E88H

Business Ethics and Practice
— Whistleblowing Mechanism
R EEERTE R RS
Business Ethics and Practice
EEEERER

Business Ethics and Practice
— Anti-corruption and Anti-
fraud, AML and CTF

BRERAERA-RESRK
REGE - RABEERBBE

Community Investment

R E

Community Investment

HERE
Community Investment

R R E
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ZHONGHUI
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GOFINTECH QUANTUM INNOVATION LIMITED (FORMERLY
KNOWN AS GOFINTECH INNOVATION LIMITED)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited (formerly known
as GoFintech Innovation Limited) (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 167 to 279, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

R EHEETRAFARAR(ABEEAR
HAERQA)ZBERR

(REEHEEMELZFRLA)

RNIZEAD (AT (R EFIIE
MRE167TE27T9OE BN EE FARIFTBR A A
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HNBAR (#EBEE])NEEHK
BEx AER-_ZE-_RAFE=A=+—A0HY
REVBRAAREBEZB EFENLR
AREEREMEZARER GAEEED
R BEABERERUNGAEUBREMN
F(BREEESHBERER) -
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investments at fair value through profit
or loss and investments in artworks at fair value with the changes
in fair value recognised in the consolidated profit or loss. This
fair value measurement is significant to our audit because the
balance of investments at fair value through profit or loss using
level 3 fair value measurement and investments in artworks
of HK$857,781,000 as at 31 March 2025 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s fair
value measurement involves application of judgement and is
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuers engaged by client;

= Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuers to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in
the valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the
investments at fair value through profit or loss using level 3 fair
value measurement and investments in artworks is supported by
the available evidence.

FARBFFFTHASRERMNERHAE R
REAXAHRGAMBREANETRA/E
ENFER-ZEFFTHERMBABEBES
MBHRERLERBMHENTRSERE
MEMIEHZEETEREEBFHNER -

FLHRE M B HRRMNES

EEERLATFEFEERAFEI AR
mERZEERBMAEE  AFEEZHRN
JDE SRR -HHRMOBTME &

AFEFEFREFEZ WIIEAREE=
? “RE=ZA=+—"B FAE=ZHAF
B EcEATEIABZERZEER
i (B 3% & 45 #4532 857,781,00058 It
MEMBEHRRAEBEATE I &
Elz FE 8% M BB A WER

:F{EX &1Eu-|—

B ER 2R
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Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of loan and trade receivables
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our
audit because the balance of loan and trade receivables of
HK$150,619,000 as at 31 March 2025 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based on
estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to debtors;

- Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history
with the debtors;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

- Assessing ageing of the debts;

= Assessing creditworthiness of the debtors;

— Checking subsequent settlements from the debtors;

- Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for loan and trade
receivables is supported by the available evidence.

B2 E M HRERME22 -
EEBENATEREZRLEFEWER
MRESBE HEMOEFTMS 5B
BEARETEE K EAREE2 T —H
FZA=Z+—H BUREFIEZEWE
£ B150,619,00058 7T » ¥ 45 & B B3R
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

EFEAHEMENABE - EMERE
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Htt2mE s R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 ﬁff E_AF=A=1+—HIFE

%l_-r/\ |=|\/

2025 2024
—E-RF —EMF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FET FAET
Revenue WA 7 863,400 49,456
Cost of sales and services $HE MRS (825,811) (20,719)
Gross profit E7 37,589 28,737
Fair value change of investments EAFEINABRZERZ
at fair value through profit or loss KEZANFEED 50,145 (3,481)
Other income, net H b AF 5 9 13,961 17,672
Expected credit losses on }EWE ANE ZDRBER 2
loan and trade receivables FHHEEEE (182) (6,034)
Impairment loss of property and EYS L1
equipment and right-of-use assets  {F FEEEREEIE (3,404) (6,140)
Staff costs B IR 12 (70,985) (35,734)
Other operating expenses HEEERAx 12 (27,462) (21,169)
Finance costs N 10 (3,031) (2,002)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates JE{GELE S A alm F, (E5i8) 1,643 (2,483)
Loss before tax MRELATE R (1,726) (30,634)
Income tax expense i8R 2 11 (799) (45)
Loss for the year REEEIE 12 (2,525) (30,679)
Other comprehensive income/ Hi2mWzE (BxX)
(expense):
Items that may be reclassified BEE A ER T E 1R am R
subsequently to profit or l0Ss: BH :
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations PEH ZRE 454 (1,934)
Share of other comprehensive JEEHERAREME2EAS
expense of associates (30,597) (4,5006)
Other comprehensive expense AEEHME2EAX
for the year, net of tax (BR#HIE) (30,143) (6,440)
Total comprehensive expense AEEZHEBZHAE
for the year (32,668) (37,119)
HK cent HK cent
AL B
Loss per share BRER
- Basic - ®HAR 15 (0.04) (0.91)
~ Diluted -#E 15 (0.04) (0.91)

BEETAMAERA

Al ZE-RFEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at 31 March 2025 R=-ZF —AF =H=+—H

2025 2024
—E_RF —E - F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F# T F&E T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment and MERREBUAREREEE
right-of-use assets 16 7,683 14,630
Intangible assets BEEAE 17 42,682 6,610
Investments in associates REERNR 2K E 19 2,991,487 112,898
Investments at fair value through EAFEIABREREZRE
profit or loss 20 285,324 79,769
Investments in artworks 2T mIEE 21 443,000 =
Loan receivables U E 3K 22 = 13,500
Regulatory deposits ETEERE 24 205 684
3,770,381 228,091
Current assets REBEE
Investments at fair value through BERAFEIABEECRE
profit or loss 20 300,618 173,504
Loan and trade receivables BKRERKRE ZERER 22 150,619 99,997
Contract assets BHEE 23 17 17
Other receivables, deposits and HEMERHIE Ze Rk
prepayments e R IE 25 142,173 24,436
Current tax assets BIEAFR I & B = 151
Bank balances - trust RITHER - 57T 26(A) 156,101 276,738
Bank balances and cash — general  SRITASBRNIRES - — & 26(B) 92,186 289,257
841,714 864,100
Current liabilities RBaE
Trade payables B SRR 27 213,687 276,025
Other payables and accruals H i e RIE K EETE A 40,620 4,505
Borrowings B 28 415,377 =
Corporate bonds UNEINEE=S - 2,062
Financial liabilities at fair value BEAFEIAEBREREZ
through profit or loss THEE 11 -
Lease liabilities MEAE 29 8,305 7,217
Current tax liabilities BNEAR IR B (& 890 843
678,890 290,652
Net current assets REBEEFE 162,824 573,448
Total assets less current liabilities EEZAERABDEE 3,933,205 801,539
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
mAEMBRRE (&)

As at 31 March 2025 R-ZZE_-_AF=H=+—H

2025 2024
—E_RF —E-UFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F# T FETT
Non-current liabilities kFrBasE
Lease liabilities HEBE 29 6,880 14,696
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIEAFE 30 702 =
7,582 14,696
Net assets BEEFE 3,925,623 786,843
Capital and reserves BARHE
Share capital & 7R 31 745,847 632,625
Reserves ek 1 33 3,179,776 154,218
Total equity EmEE 3,925,623 786,843
Approved by the Board on 30 June 2025. EEeR_T-_RAFA=1+H#tE-
CHAN Kin Sang SUN Qing
R A& ®BE
Chairman Director
FE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ERRERARR
Share-based
Share Share Treasury Translation Special Capital payment Other  Accumulated Total
capital premium stock reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity
Rt
R& R EE E#FR ERfE BhEE ERfE i At 2t B8 BHAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEr TER TAL TER TAL TR TEL TER TEL
At 1 April 2023 131,797 762,579 - (7,047) 13,524 1,863 - (3,440) (602,807) 296,469
RZE-=FRmA-A
Total comprehensive expense for the year - - - (6,440 - - - - (30,679) (37,119
FERRERRER
Issue of shares (note 31) 500,828 26,359 - - - - - - - 527,187
BRI (Mirst)
Share-based payments (note 34) - - - - - - 306 - - 306
RAZA (Hia4)
At 31 March 2024 632,625 788,938 - (13,487) 13,524 1,863 306 (3,440) (633,486) 786,843
RZZ-mE=A=1+-HR
At 1 April 2024 632,625 788,938 - (13,487) 13,524 1,863 306 (3,440) (633,486) 786,843
W=E2-NMEMA-A
Total comprehensive expense for the year - - - (30,143) - - - - (2,525) (32,668)
FERRERRAR
Issue of shares (note 31) 79,217 219,021 (51,840) - - - - - - 246,398
BB (H3Es1)
Acquisition of associate 34,005 244,838 (385) - - - - 2,607,149 - 2,885,607
WERERT
Share-based payments (note 34) - - - - - - 39,443 - - 39,443
RIARA (Brtaq)
Forfeit of share options - - - - - - 91) - 91 -
R R
At 31 March 2025 745,847 1,252,797 (52,225) (43,630) 13,524 1,863 39,658 2,603,709 (635,920) 3,925,623

R=BZ2FZA=t-H
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Impairment loss of property and
equipment
Impairment loss of right-of-use
assets
Gain on bargain purchase of
an associate
Depreciation
Finance costs
Interest revenue
Dividend income
Expected credit losses on loan
and trade receivables
Fair value change of investments
at fair value through profit or loss
Fair value gain on investments
in artworks, net
Share of (profits)/losses of
associates
Equity-settled share-based
payments
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Operating loss before working
capital changes
Change in trade and other receivables

Change in bank balances — trust
Change in trade payables,
other payables and accruals

Cash used in operations
Income tax refunded/(paid)

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —FE - AF=H=4—HIFZE

REXBRBRERE

B 5t B & 18
4R ) N RIF
MR N REREER

{0 P A AL 8
b 2 ) 2 L

e

BEKA

M EUA

B U A

R E K E 5 R ARR
ZTEHREERBR

Eﬁﬁﬁﬂkﬁ¥%z

BiREAE 2 AFE
Uy 3 % 38
REAEE AR (GRF) R
DR 2 R A

HE—HNB QR 2 e

EEESRBAI 2K
B8

B 5 N H A U AR R
RITHREB—EEE

B Z T BE R - E 4t e A
FIBRETERER)

REXGHARE
BERE(ER)PAEH

REXBTRARSFE

2024
—T-mEF
HK$’000
THET

(80,634)

6,140
(9,676)
1,888
2,002
(13,293)
6,034

3,481

2,483

306

(81,269)
(89,425)

(139,836)

138,848

(121,682)
(36)

(121,718)



For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

2024
—TNE
HK$’000
T T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHMBRERE

ACTIVITIES

Interest received B UF B 7,259

Dividend received B B -

Acquisition of associates g l/NE (10,564)

Proceeds from disposal of HERAFEIAEBRE

investments at fair value through ZIRE 2 1S EIR

profit or loss 4,319
Purchases of investments at fair value BAZRAFEIABRRER

through profit or loss ZIRE (189,582)
Prepaid consideration for investments BAFEINAEREREZ

at fair value through profit or loss & ZENRE -
Prepaid consideration for investments M mIRECEMNRE

in artworks -

Acquisition of subsidiary W REBT B A ) -

Disposal of subsidiary HEHB QA =

Purchases of property and equipment BEMEREZE -

Purchases of intangible assets BEEEAE -

Purchases of investments in artworks BERAMMIEE =
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZBFAREFHE

ACTIVITIES (188,568)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHFESRERE

ACTIVITIES

Borrowings raised E85EE =

Repayment of corporate bonds EERRMES (28,100)

Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEAE (6,319)

Proceeds from issue of shares BTN 2 TS 5R 527,187

Interests paid B E (3,039)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM METHREREEHE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 489,729
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN ReRBESEENZ (BD)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BmFEE 179,443
Effect of foreign currency translation INEIME B (1,934)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHIZRERAEEEY

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 111,748
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZHASRALZEY

AT THE END OF THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances BIRITEBRNIAE ——&

and cash — general 289,257
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GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited (formerly known
as GoFintech Innovation Limited) (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability. The address of its registered
office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business is Units No. 4102-06, 41/F, COSCO Tower, 183
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company is set
out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) has adopted all the
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) that are relevant to its operations and effective
for its accounting year beginning on 1 April 2024. HKFRS
Accounting Standards comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption of these
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards did not
result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting
policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and amounts reported for the current year and
prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective. The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.
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These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by
investments and derivatives which are carried at their fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It also
requires the directors to exercise its judgements in the
process of applying the accounting policies. The areas
involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to these consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In assessing
whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’'s intention and financial ability to
exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount
of the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &% —

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus
the fair value of any investment retained in that associate
and (ii) the Group’s share of the net assets of that associate
plus any remaining goodwill relating to that associate and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.
If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the equity
method and does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
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The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated

into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(1)

(i)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);
and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the

translation of the net investment in foreign entities and

of borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve.

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange

differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss

as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining
lease term or 3 years

Office equipment 4 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at
rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s
useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives of office premises and warehouse is 2
to 3 years.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months
or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below United
States dollars (“US$”) 5,000.

Cryptocurrencies purchased and held by the Group through
third-party custodian service providers mainly include
Bitcoins, which is accounted for as intangible assets
under the cost model. The Group has ownership of and
control over the cryptocurrencies held and employs third-
party custodian service provider to securely store them.
The cryptocurrencies held by the Group are considered to
have an indefinite life. Accordingly, they are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that they might be impaired.
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Club membership with indefinite useful life is stated at cost
less any impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually
or when there is any indication that intangible assets has
suffered an impairment loss.

Artworks, including porcelain and collectible Chinese arts,
which are held for long-term investment purposes and
not traded in the ordinary course of business are initially
measured at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investments in artworks are stated at fair value with gains
and losses from the change in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.
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Financial assets are classified under this category if
they do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to the expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of that financial
instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for trade
receivables and contract assets, or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.
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If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on
a financial instrument (other than trade receivable and
contract assets) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRS Accounting Standards. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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Corporate bonds are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Corporate bonds are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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Derivatives are initially recognised and subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from
changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised product or service exceeds one year, the
consideration is adjusted for the effect of a significant
financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to
a customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the
laws that apply to that contract, a performance obligation can
be satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance
obligation is satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights
to receive payment are established.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic
salaries and charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.
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Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), the
subsidiaries of the Company in PRC participate in
local municipal government retirement benefit scheme
(the “Scheme”) whereby the subsidiaries are required
to contribute to the Scheme to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions
made to the Scheme are calculated based on
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs
as stipulated under the requirement in the PRC. The
relevant authorities of the PRC are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing required
contribution under the Schemes.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors and employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment reserve will
be transferred to share capital and share premium. When
the share options are forfeited or lapsed after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment reserve will
be transferred to retained profits/accumulated losses.
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All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iliy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.
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Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet
available for use are reviewed annually for impairment and
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

Cryptocurrencies purchased and held by the Group have
been assessed based on each type of cryptocurrencies
for impairment testing. The Group carries out their
impairment testing by comparing the recoverable amounts
of cryptocurrencies to their carrying amounts. An impairment
loss will be recognised when the recoverable amount is
lower than the carrying amount, while a gain will not be
recognised even when the recoverable amount is higher
than the carrying amount. A gain will only be recognised if
the impairment loss is recovered or the cryptocurrency is
disposed of, assuming the proceeds from disposal at that
time is higher than its carrying amount.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except
investments and receivables to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

In the absence of quoted market prices in an active
market, the directors estimate the fair value of the
Group’s certain investments at fair value through profit
or loss, details of which are set out in notes 6 and 20
to the consolidated financial statements, by considering
information from a variety of sources, including the
latest published financial information, the historical data
on market volatility as well as the price and industry
and sector performance of the Group’s investments at
fair value through profit or loss.

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each debtor. Impairments
arise where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed.
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Investments in artworks are revalued at the end of
the reporting period by independent professional
qualified valuer. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results. In making
the estimation, market information of investments in
artworks of the comparable model is considered.

Accounting of cryptocurrencies HKFRS Accounting
Standards do not specifically address accounting for
cryptocurrencies. Accordingly, for the preparation of the
annual report, management needs to apply judgment in
determining appropriate accounting policies based on
the facts and circumstances of the Group’s acquisition
and holding of cryptocurrencies. Given the Group’s
purpose for holding cryptocurrencies, management
considered that cryptocurrencies purchased and held
by the Group should be accounted for as indefinite-
lived intangible assets accounted for under the cost
model. In determining fair values used for impairment
tests, management needs to apply judgment to
identify the relevant available markets for trading of
cryptocurrencies, and to consider accessibility to
and activity within those markets in order to identify
the principal cryptocurrency markets to ascertain the
respective fair market values.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.
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The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

As HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does not expect
any significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange
rates. In the opinion of the Directors, the foreign
currency sensitivity analysis does not give additional
value in view of insignificant movement in the US$/HK$
exchange rates.

As at 31 March 2025, if HK$ had weakened/strengthened
five per cent against Renminbi (“RMB”) with all other
variables held constant, loss for the year would have
been HK$2,800,000 (2024: HK$988,000) higher/lower.

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of
investments and cryptocurrencies held by the Group,
that are classified in the consolidated statement of
financial position as investments at fair value through
profit or loss and intangible assets, respectively. The
Group is not exposed to commaodity price risk.

As at 31 March 2025, if the fair value of the
investments at fair value through profit or loss had been
5% higher/lower, loss for the year would have been
HK$24,463,000 (2024: HK$10,574,000) lower/higher.

As at 31 March 2025, if the fair value of
cryptocurrencies had been 5% higher, loss for the
year would have been nil lower. If the fair value of
crytocurrencies had been 5% lower, loss for the year
would have been HK$1,804,000 higher.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the
components of the consolidated statement of financial
position at 31 March 2025 and 2024 is the carrying
amount of financial assets as disclosed in note 5(vi) to
the consolidated financial statements.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the management of the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each debtor at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate expected credit losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regards, the
management of the Group considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

1 Regulatory deposits, contract assets, other
receivables and deposits

The credit risk is limited based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The
Group has assessed that the expected credit
losses of these financial assets are not material
under the 12-month expected loss method. Thus
no expected credit losses (2024: nil) has been
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2025.

2  Investments at fair value through profit or
loss and bank balances and cash

The credit risks of investments at fair value
through profit or loss and bank balances and cash
are considered to be insignificant because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions
with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.
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Trade receivables [excluded margin clients)

The credit risks of trade receivables from Hong
Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited
(“HKSCC”) are considered to be insignificant
because the counterparties had high credit rating
and are governed by regulators including the
Hong Kong Monetary Authority and the Hong
Kong Securities and Futures Commission. The
risk of default in repayment of these debtors are
considered to be minimal by the directors and no
expected credit losses provision were made for
these debtors.

The credit risks of trade receivables from the
cash clients are considered to be insignificant
because the counterparties had sufficient pledged
securities, the risk of default in repayment of
these debtors are considered to be minimal by the
directors and no expected credit losses provision
were made for these debtors.

Loan receivables and trade receivables from
margin clients

The Group’s impairment requirements are based
on an expected credit losses model. The Group
assesses the expected credit losses for loan
receivables and trade receivables from margin
clients individually and measures the expected
credit losses equal to 12-month expected credit
losses, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses.

The credit risk on substantial portion of loan
receivables and trade receivables from margin
clients are limited because significant amount
of balances are secured by the pledged listed
securities and certain property units and the
counterparties have no historical default record.
The directors expect that the general economic
conditions will not significantly changed for the 12
months’ after the end of the reporting period.
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4 Loan receivables and trade receivables from
margin clients (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of
trade receivables from margin clients amounted to
HK$616,000 (2024: HK$570,000) (net of expected
credit losses of HK$nil (2024: HK$2,000)).
During the year ended 31 March 2025, reversal
of expected credit losses of HK$2,000 (2024:
expected credit losses of HK$2,674,000) has
been recognised.

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to obtain loans from the group are subject
to management review. Receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring expected
credit losses, including past events, current conditions,
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the
expected collectability of the future cash flows of the
instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction
is made between:

- financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage
17); and
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- financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
(“Stage 2”).

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the end of the
reporting period.

“12-month expected credit losses” are recognised for
the Stage 1 category while “lifetime expected credit
losses” are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the expected credit losses is
determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.

For trade receivables (excluded margin financing), the
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
expected credit losses and recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime expected credit losses at the end
of each reporting period. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the
potential for default at any point during the life of the
financial assets. In calculating the expected credit
losses, the Group established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience and
external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables (excluded margin financing) and contract
assets have been grouped based on the days past due.
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress
and have substantially the same risk characteristics as
the trade receivables for the same types of contracts.
The Group has therefore concluded that the expected
credit losses rates for trade receivables (excluded
margin financing) are a reasonable approximation of the
loss rates for the contract assets.

The Group measures the loss allowance on other
financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
regulatory deposits, loan receivables, margin financing
receivables, other receivables and deposits and
bank balances) equal to 12-month expected credit
losses, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses. The
assessment of whether lifetime expected credit losses
should be recognised is based on significant increase
in the likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
assets at the end of the reporting period with the risk of
default occurring on the financial assets at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions those are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &% —

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
end of each reporting period. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when contractual
payment are 90 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate. In certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset is default when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collateral held by the Group).

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 2 —F -~ A F=H=+—HIFFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

liv) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash

5- Ejﬁ%@ﬁﬁ%ig (#&)

livl RBEESER (&)
AEEsRABERRER

flows, of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

EREZFHABRAMMOT

More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but
1 year or on less than less than
demand 2 years 5 years
—FRY —FlE MENLE
RER BLRME BLREF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FERT FET
At 31 March 2025 R-B-HAF=ZA=+—H
Trade payables, other payables B SRR B
and accruals I NFEEHE A 254,307 = -
Borrowings BHE 415,506 = =
Lease liabilities HEAR 8,768 6,918 -
Financial liabilities at fair value BRAFEINABREZ
through profit or loss SHRBE 11 = =
678,592 6,918 -
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZWMF=A=+—H
Trade payables, other payables E S RENERR  EMER
and accruals HIENESER 280,530 = =
Corporate bonds NGIEEE 2,065 = =
Lease liabilities HEEE 7,894 8,455 6,736
290,489 8,455 6,736

(v)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to certain trade receivables and bank balances
— general. It is the Group’s policy to keep its assets
and liabilities at floating rate of interests so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
relating to the fluctuation of Hong Kong prime rate
(“prime rate”) and Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”) arising from the Group’s interest bearing

financial instruments.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —FE - AF=H=4+—HIFZE

As at 31 March 2025, if the interest rate had been 100
basis points higher/lower, the Group’s loss for the year
would have been HK$2,694,000 (2024: HK$2,420,000)
lower/higher, arising mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest revenue on certain trade receivables from
margin clients and bank balances — general.

Financial assets ERMEE
Investments at fair value through BEAFEIALEGRNE:
profit or loss:

- Designated as such upon initial ~ — R ¥ FERFIEE
recognition
Financial assets at amortised cost: IZEE A AT R Z S @& E
— Regulatory deposits —EEEE
— Loan and trade receivables —-RRERKE S EWERER
— Contract assets —EHEE
— Other receivables and deposits —HEfEWRIE RS
- Bank balances - trust —IRITHE R — 57T
- Bank balances and cash — —IRITEH LS ——K
general
Financial liabilities cRAaE
Financial liabilities at fair value EAFEINABRZERZ
through profit or loss: TRAE:
- Designated as such upon initial ~ —RA ¥ FHERFIETE
recognition
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: IREHKX AT Rz SRl B :
— Trade payables, other payables —BHEMNERR  HMER
and accruals RIENEFEA
- Borrowings —fBE
— Corporate bonds —RAEH
— Lease liabilities —MHEAa®E

R-_E-_RAF=RA=+—8"
it F = £ F N BR1001E E 2h
AEECZFEBEBEBRL 1
102,694,000/ 7T ( =& — PO 4F :
2,420,000 7C) ' EEHRE T
BRIFREFEZE SHERKLIE
THB — — RO T B AE I,
B e

2024
—E_OF
HK$'000
F& T

253,273

684
113,497
17
23,854
276,738

289,257

280,530

2,062
21,913
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z = F - AF=H=4+—HIFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(Continued)

6. /L\\ :'Z{E%-I_% (#)

(i) il QX FERRKE

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy

Fair value measurements using:

AFEFERR:
Description B Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—% E-H F=H @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THERT THERT THET
Recurring fair value measurements: BEMAFEFE
At 31 March 2025 R-Z-RF=A=t+—H
Investments at fair value through profit or loss  ZAFEIIABREZKE
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong ~-RNEB LM RAES 129,762 = = 129,762
- Unlisted equity instruments —FIEMRATA - - 285,324 285,324
- Fund investments —-E$KE - 41,387 129,457 170,844
- Derivative financial instruments —TEEBTIA = 12 = 12
Investments in artworks B mIRE - - 443,000 443,000
Financial liabilities at fair value through BRATEIIABREZ
profit or loss cREE = (11) = (11)
129,762 41,388 857,781 1,028,931
At 31 March 2024 RZEZMF=A=+—H
Investments at fair value through profit or loss K AFEEIIABREZKE
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong ~-RNEB LM RAES 86,908 = = 86,908
— Unlisted equity instruments -k EmRATA - - 79,769 79,769
~ Fund investments -EeRE 15,097 32,349 39,123 86,569
— Derivative financial instruments —fTESBMIA 27 - = 27
102,032 32,349 118,892 253,273
AEETANARAT —P-EEFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. XFEFTE @)

(Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair
value based on level 3

BE=-RLAVEFNEZEE
e

2025 2024

“EB-REF —E-mF

Investments Investments

at fair value at fair value

through profit Investments Total through profit

Description il or loss in artworks assets or loss

BATEGIA RAFEFIA

BREZRE EilimRE BEE BaksRE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT THERL THERT THT

At the beginning of the year RER 118,892 = 118,892 29,946

Total gains or losses recognised in RE&EERKER

profit or loss (#) BREEEH (6,601) 504 (6,097) 3,707

Additions NE 311,619 442,496 754,115 92,309

Acquisition of subsidiary WEHBAR 7,345 = 7,345 =

Disposals HE (24,333) - (24,333) (4,319)

Transfer B 7,617 - 7,617 (1,173)

Exchange difference EHERE 242 - 242 (1,578)

At the end of the year RER 414,781 443,000 857,781 118,892
(#) Include gains or losses for assets (#) BERREARAE

held at the end of the reporting period BEZWRIER 11,011 504 11,515 3,156

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
including those for assets held at the end of the
reporting period are presented in fair value change
of investments at fair value through profit or loss and
other income, net in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value measurements. The chief financial
officer reports directly to the board of directors
of the Company (the “Board”) for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the chief financial officer and
the Board at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group has a
team that manages the valuation exercise of level 3
financial instruments for financial reporting purposes.
The team manages the valuation exercise of the
investments on a case-by-case basis. At least twice
every year, the team would use valuation techniques to
determine the fair value of the Group’s level 3 financial
instruments.

AEEMKEAERBERY R
TETHRZEERBENR
FEFE BERE=ZRQTFE
AE-MBEEREBEAFE
AAEERRAARRESS ([E
Eg RS MHRERES
EEFELETMARERAMGE
RFr R AERRF o

RE=ZRAFEFEMS &
SEXRE-—ENHEHEEFE=H
TRTAZHEIE KIEH
BHRERE -/ AREAER
BREBEHAKREZMHMETLE
ZNEABFEIMRERGE
PMEBEEASREF=MERT
B2 R¥E-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRRWEE ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. XFEFTE @)

(Continued)

liii) ZEEHRA 2 EERF AR
RBEMRAFEFTERA
fEER MR E A RE (&)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at the end of
the reporting period (Continuea)

FEZRFETE

Level 2 fair value measurements

Fair value
AVE
Valuation technique and
Description key inputs 2025 2024
ERid] FEENREEE AHE —E-HRF ZZEWF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
Investment at fair value through ZRAFEIABRZEZRE
profit or loss
Fund investments Share of net assets 41,387 32,349
EeRE DihEEFE
Derivative financial instruments Calculated based on difference
between quoted market prices
of underlying equity securities in
active market and contract prices 12 -
eI A 1R BB 5 B IR AR B A5 T 5
HERSHNEBZRHNERTE
Financial liabilities at fair value ~ A FEIIABRZEZ
through profit or loss TRAE
Derivative financial instruments Calculated based on difference
between quoted market prices
of underlying equity securities in
active market and contract prices (11) -

fTEemIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
HREMBRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z = F - AF=H=4+—HIFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. A¥{EFTE »

(Continued)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by the liii) *EERAZHERFAR
Group and valuation techniques and inputs RBEHRAFEFTEMA
used in fair value measurements at the end of HERTRE ARE (£)
the reporting period (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements E=RANFEAE
Effect on Fair value
fair value for N¥E
Unobservable increase of 2025 2024
inputs inputs —ET-AF —ZT-ME
Valuation technique FUBE Range BWAZE®EMZ HK$’000 HK$'000
fHER M BAHE BE AVEZY FET THL

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

BRATEIIANBEEZRE
Unlisted equity instruments
FLTRATA
- Recent arm's length transactions price N/A N/A N/A 255,423 79,769
—FRATYRHER @A @R @R
- Market approach Discount rate 3.53% Decrease 9,776 -
—mEA R & ®P  (note (b))
(B (b))
- Market comparable companies Price-to-book 1.20 Increase 20,125 -
ratio
—Mis A BLRAT [ 0
Discount rate 15.60% Decrease (notes (a) -
for lack of and (b))
marketabilities ([ & (a)
[ A s K(b))
B
Fund investments
- Recent arm's length transactions price N/A N/A N/A - 15,735
—ERATYRHER @A TEH @R
- Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 129,457 23,388
- PEEERE TER @R TEH
Investments in artworks
EMmRE
Precious and collectible Chinese arts
BRI EE
- Market approach Transaction ~ HK$10,000,000- Increase 443,000 -
price per unit 64,000,000
— 5% B HE® 10,000,008 TE &m (note (b))
64,000,000/ 7T (K& (b))

RE8FANERAR —E-HFFH 213
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = E - HF=H=4+—HIFEZE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(Continued)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at the end of
the reporting period (Continuea)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)
Notes:

(a) During the year, there were no changes in the valuation
techniques except the following investment:

G-Rocket Holdings Limited

The valuation technique was changed from “Latest
transaction price” to “Market comparable companies”
as the transaction price was arrived at for more than
a year ago and no longer constituted an appropriate
reference for the most recent valuation and “Market
comparable companies” is a more appropriate
approach to value fair value of a company that is under
development stage with great growth potential in the
future.

(b)  The fair value as at 31 March 2025 has been arrived
at on the basis of valuations carried out on that date
by independent qualified professional valuers not
connected to the Group.

GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited Annual Report 2025
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G-Rocket Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

Timing of revenue recognition

Over time:

Service income from corporate finance

Income from asset management business

At a point in time:

Income from securities brokerage
business

Income from consultancy and insurance
brokerage business

Sales of commodities

Others

Revenue from contracts with customers

Dividend income

Margin interest revenue from securities
brokerage business

Interest revenue from money lending
business

Total revenue

LN SR

& B 2T -

TERBEMSRBEA
BEEEXBMERA
R —BF B -

EHRREBIFEA

A M AR
LN
GEEFRS

H At

g 4

AN L

LRSS

KEEFPAHZWA

A BA

EFRLEBE
PR F B WA
BB RS B WA

U

The Group provides securities dealing and brokerage,

placing and underwriting services. Commission income from

securities dealing and brokerage, placing and underwriting

services is recognised at a point in time on the execution

date of the trades at a certain percentage of the transaction

value of the trades executed and the relevant placing and

underwriting are completed.

KEEFEHZWAD T :

2024
—EF-UF
HK$'000
F&E T

4,719
4,784

33,385

534

43,422

1,492

4,542

49,456

AEBRABFEENEL KEKR
BHERE - EHFEERKL BEER
BHERB 2B BARKZHITH
B RESHEBEARATRS ZR
SEERATERNBERES REH
Z—TEB DR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

The Group provides advisory services for asset management,
equity investment and corporate finance services which
included advisory services and sponsor services.

Depending on the nature of the services and the contract
terms, the revenue for advisory service is recognised over
time based on the services transferred to customers up to
date if one of the following criteria is met:

- The customers simultaneously receive and consume
the benefits provided by the Group;

- The Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customers control as the asset is created
and enhanced; or

- The Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use and the Group has a right to
payment at an amount that reasonably compensates
it for its performance completed to date at all times
throughout the contract.

Otherwise, the revenue for advisory service is recognised at
a point in time when the service is completed.

The Group treats all sponsor services promised in the
contract as a single performance obligation. In determining
the timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation, the
Group examines its services on contract basis and considers
that it has a right to payment at an amount that reasonably
compensates it for its performance completed to date at all
times throughout the contract.

Sponsor services are recognised over time during the course
of the work performed by the Group, with reference to the
time incurred compared with the time budget, which depict
the Group’s performance towards satisfying the performance
obligation.

AREBERHKEEESEBRRS &
BRERMDERERY  BREBERERS
MARBARTS -

BFRBEE RAHGER HWEFET
FIEA —IARE B REHKAR
25 B AR AL S A IR 5 BE B i

=71 o
e -

- EPRBREIHEEAEER
A F 2

- AKRENBORIREEFTE
P 1 & BE AR A 2 S 1R T B 4
MEE 3k

- AEENEBEOYTEAIZHUAE
BMAEEKBENEE MA
SEERNE@ASOHRMA
RREYERESEERER
Y ER & 32 48 18 O 5 K

7R - B AR TS B WA TR BR 7% 72 A B
) B ] B FE AR o

REBBEEHNTEABENMBEREBA
RERSE—MROET -RETE
KEAEENRRER AEBZEEL
EEREERBIRBS/EREGHH
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REARBRASEEANBEFS
ZERCDRERHE (RBEERELER)
BEREER BrRAKEEXENER
EzBER -



For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —FE - AF=H=4+—HIFZE

The Group provided consultancy services to customers. The
customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group, hence the revenue is recognised
over time based on the services transferred to customers up
to date.

The Group also provided insurance brokerage. Commission
income for insurance brokerage is recognised at a point in
time on execution date of the insurance contracts executed.

The Group sells commodities to the customers. Sales are
recognised when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to a customer, there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products and the customer has obtained
legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms
within 30 days.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
to the customers as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

The Group primarily provides investment immigration service
to the customers. Investment immigration service income
is recognised when the investment immigration service is
rendered and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the service.

AEBMEFRERHBHRE TP H
RES MOBRASEBIEHO M B
it - WAZ 2 ([ 35 7 42 4 6 AR 745 BE B
fE B3R o

AEBETREHREREL RERELZ
BEWARFARELRRENRE
B HIRy X (E i R R R

AREEREFHERm o N EmiEHl
BERZ (NERXNTEFL RERXR
BITHNEBARTERFEREM
REFERBEMNBEMAR) R
FERIHERE -

HEPHEERTRMBIOKANIGE

8-

ERRAEERXN TEFEER
AREURHRECKBEEST &
155 A X A IR fE o B AT I ER R OR

AEEFERTFRHEREBRIR
B REBRRBBARERERES
RRBETFEAEREFEEFPER
RISV R BT B (R HERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

Information reported to the Board, being the chief operating

decision maker, for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance is focus on the type
of services provided. No operating segments identified by

the chief operating decision maker have been aggregated in
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments

under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are as follows:

The securities brokerage and margin financing segment
engages in securities brokerage and margin financing
in Hong Kong;

The corporate finance segment engages in the
provision of corporate finance services;

The money lending segment engages in the provision
of money lending services in Hong Kong;

The consultancy and insurance brokerage segment
engages in the provision of consultancy service and
insurance brokerage in Hong Kong;

The asset management segment engages in the
provision of asset management and advisory services
to professional investors;

The equity investment segment engages in the
management of financial investments;

The supply chain operations segment engages in sales
of commodities; and

The investments in artworks segment engages in
acquisition of porcelain and collectible Chinese arts for
long-term investment purpose.

RERDEMFEDIREME - [
EXEe (XTEZ2ERRA)ERZ
BRIEPRAAEERS 28R -1
BEAKBzARED K T2%
BIRRAPTHETE 2 &0 8 47
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z = F - AF=H=4+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment
results represent the results from each segment without
allocation of central operating expenses, office staff salaries,
directors’ emoluments and other operating income. This is
the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment. Inter-segment revenue are charged at prevailing
market prices.

Information regarding the above segments is reported below.

SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS

Year ended 31 March 2025

8.

%

‘;‘Bﬁﬂq

BNz @A BR A S MKW
FfFESPT Al A& B 2 & St BR AR ©
MEAEKRABTDRZEE ML
BORPREER - WAEETT
B EEMeREMEERA TS
AEELERRABREANETER
DREMKRRF G ZFETE DB
WATIRBITHEE -

Sy

LS

pa

PR

ERLERABZEAMZH/MT -
D EERA R EE
BE-_S-_AF=A=+-ALEE

Securities Consultancy
brokerage and
and margin ~ Corporate Money insurance Asset Equity Supply chain  Investments Inter-segment
financing finance lending brokerage ~ management investment  operations  inartworks  Unallocated liminati C
RELER BRR
REHE  L¥RE HE RBEL KEER hERE HEEEE EHRRE AR AHEHE &a
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TEn TER TR T#n TER TR TR TEn T#n TEn
Revenue 18,337 2,338 15,969 319 3,900 1,838 819,545 - 1,094 - 863,400
BA
Inter-segment revenue 2,547 = = O = = = O (2,547) -
ABERA
Fair value gain on investments in artworks, net = = = O = = = 504 0 - 504
BiipRE 2 ATEYEFE
Fair value change of investments at fair value
through profit or loss - - - - - 50,145 - - - 50,145
BATEF AR REZATERD
Impairment loss of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets - - - - (1,254) (7,056) - - 4,906 - (3,404)
NERRENREREAEREDR
Finance costs (24) - - - (18) (224) - - (2,765) - (3,081)
Others (8,922) (821) (14,245) (477) (4,196) (25,392) (819,839) - (39,638) 2,547 (910,983)
ify
Segment results 11,938 1,517 1,724 (98) (1,568) 19,311 (294) 504 (36,403) - (3,369)
Share of profits of associates 1,643
BB AR
Loss hefore tax (1,726)
Income tax expense (799)
FERRR
Loss for the year (2,525)
AERRR

“E-REEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mAEMBRRHE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 8. 7EEHR =
SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS TEEUARFEAE ()
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-E_WE=ZA=+—HLEF
E
Securities Consultancy
brokerage and
and margin -~ Corporate Money insurance Asset Equity Inter-segment
financing finance lending brokerage ~ management investment Unallocated elimination Consolidated
EREER ER R
RREE  0¥RE e RBER BEER  RERE AR HBEHE Fa
HK§'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000

TEL TR TERL AR TR TR TEL TR TR

Revenue 34,877 4719 4,542 534 4,784 - - - 49,456
N
Inter-segment revenue 2,202 - - 7 - - - 2,219 -
AHELA
Fair value change of investments at fair value

through profit or loss (28) - - - - (8,453) - - (8,481)
BATEHIARRE RE 2 ATEED
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets - - - - - - (6,140) - (6,140)
RRELZE REER
Finance costs ) = = = (10) = (1,989) = (2,002)
HERA
Others (28,476) (7,508) (5,018) (807) (6,036) (3,791) (26,303) 2,219 (75,660)
ift

Segment results 8,572 (2,789) 476) (198) (1,262) (7.244) (34,432) - (37,827)
HE%E

(Gain on bargain purchase of an associate 9,676
BENRZABRENS
Share of losses of associates (2,483)

EihBenabR

Loss before tax (30,634)
RaEE
Income tax expense (45)

illerid Y

Loss for the year (30,679)
AEEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - hF=H=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. Wil %Bﬁ*fl’
SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DEHEERERE
2025 2024
—E_HE —E_OF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
Segment assets PTHEE
Securities brokerage and margin BHERERAERE
financing 242,479 312,616
Corporate finance TERE 2,183 4,231
Money lending & 89,937 123,212
Consultancy and insurance brokerage BERE AR B & 4 814 1,378
Asset management BEEERE 21,628 8,955
Equity investment Iz 1% & 623,240 257,708
Supply chain operations HEHIE S 921 -
Investments in artworks T RIgE 493,000 -
Total segment assets DEEEBE 1,474,202 708,100
Investments in associates REEERNA 2K E 2,991,487 112,898
Other unallocated amounts E At R 2 Fe ;I8 146,406 271,193
Consolidated total assets REAEAE 4,612,095 1,092,191
Segment liabilities PHEE
Securities brokerage and margin BERRERAERE
financing 223,176 276,170
Corporate finance TEE - 84
Money lending W& - 38
Consultancy and insurance brokerage B KRR 246 244
Asset management BEERE 1,378 2,186
Equity investment RERE 118 146
Supply chain operations i e 8 947 =
Investments in artworks 27 RiIgE 36,000 -
Total segment liabilities DEfEEERE 261,865 278,868
Other unallocated amounts H R 9 B s H 424,607 26,480
Consolidated total liabilities REREAR 686,472 305,348

AEETANER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = E - HF=H=4+—HIFEZE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)
SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(Continued)

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than certain property and equipment for
general operations, intangible assets, investments in
associates, certain other receivables, deposits and
prepayments and certain bank balances and cash -
general; and

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than certain other payables and accruals, borrowings,
corporate bonds, certain lease liabilities, current tax
liabilities and deferred tax liabilities.

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

4

Pan kv

=]

%

ﬁjﬁﬁ*ﬁ(
SEEREE (&)

MEEDRBA LD ED AHEE IR

MBS :

. B%“:F—%&?MFHLE’JWJ%&
R BVEE RBERAZ
RE HTHMERFE R
KB RIBIARE TRITE
EBFe——RINIBEEER
DTRELEDE K

. I?/%%:F 1‘@1*17‘ IE&JEJ%

BE RABEF FTHE
E%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ%&?ﬁﬁﬁ
IEE%?I\ FFEREESRE

£«< U /mNE _LB

A fth 77 55 & #

A
Securities Consultancy
brokerage and
and margin Corporate Money insurance Asset Equity Supply chain Investments
financing finance lending brokerage management investment operations inartworks Unallocated Consolidated
2HILR
bl bERE B EERRREE i3 RERE fEREE BiRRE #48 g8
HK§'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Tén T#n Tén i 7 Tén Thn Tén Thn Tén Tén
Year ended 31 March 2025
BECRCREZA=T-BLEE
Additions to property and equipment and right-of-use assets - - - - 620 461 5,201
BENZRRRIRRAERE
Depreciation - - - - 190 8,650 8,840
i
Expected credit losses on loan receivables
EhERzREEERE
Expected credit losses on trade receivables - 162 182
2ARNE RERERE
Year ended 31 March 2024
BEE-MEZAZT-ALLER
Additions to right-of-use assets 22,658 2,658
BERAELE
Depreciation 1,888 1888
i
Expected credit losses on loan receivables - - 2304 2304
BhER RERERE
Expected credit losses on trade receivables 2674 966 3640
BRRAE REERE

222 GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited Annual Report 2025



For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —FE - AF=H=4+—HIFZE

The Group’s operations are mainly located and carried out in
Hong Kong. Accordingly, no geographical information related
to revenue has been presented. The following table sets
out information about the Group’s property and equipment
and right-of-use assets, intangible assets and investments
in associates (“specified non-current assets”). The
geographical location of the specified non-current assets is
based on the physical location of the asset (in the case of
property and equipment and right-of-use assets), and the
location of operations (in the case of intangible assets and
investments in associates).

Hong Kong BB
The PRC =a)
Republic of Seychelles EEB LM

Revenue from customers which individually contributed over
10% of the Group’s revenue during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024 is as follows:

Supply chain operations HEEEE
Customer A XEA
Customer B 2FB
Securities brokerage BFHERL
Customer C ®FC
Customer D ®FD

*

The corresponding revenue did not individually contribute over
10% of the Group's revenue in the respective year.

AEBZEZETERRNBERRE
BEE BB BERA LR
BF - TRINTABASEY X MK
BAREREEE B EENNE
ERAZKRE([EEXRRBEE])
ZEM -EEHRRDEEIHWIEME
ENBEEZERNUE (AW ERRE
AREREEEMNS ) REEZUE
(REBEFEERRBERRZREM
)

2024
—E-_QmEF
HK$'000
THET

123,135
11,003

134,138

BE_ T _AFE_ZT_WNF=A4
=+—BLFE REHEAEERKA
ERE10% A EZEREFERL Z WA
R

2024
—T-mEF
HK$'000
TAET

5,779
5,670

* HEBRARSEFELTESBEA
SEIWATR10% A £ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMB|RRME (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

9. OTHER INCOME, NET

9. HitUg A FEE

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FETT
Fair value gain on investments E2fimitE 2 A AFE
in artworks, net U %5 KA 504 =
Interest revenue from financial institutions % &b # 4 5| 2 Y A 11,964 7,259
Exchange loss, net MEH S 1EEE (948) (279)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHBR Rz K 2,068 -
Gain on bargain purchase of HERNRICEERE ks
an associate - 9,676
Sundry income (note) HIBWA (FFEE) 373 1,016
13,961 17,672
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group Hzx: #HE-_ZE-_AF=A=+—H
recognised government grants of HK$nil (2024: HEE RNEBFREBKLHA
HK$756,000) in respect of setting up of open-ended fund BMAELSRARBRBRNTEBE
companies in Hong Kong. B (Z & Z M4 :756,000%
JL) °
10.FINANCE COSTS 10. @t & B 24X
2025 2024
—E_RE —E_NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T FA7T
Interests on lease liabilities HEBBEZHE 705 269
Interests on corporate bonds NEIESHZFE 3 1,730
Interests on borrowings and others BEZHERHEA 2,323 3
3,031 2,002
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

2024
—TE
HK$’'000
FHE T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax B AR 75 18 - & 78 R 15 H4

— Under provision in prior years -BAFERETR 38
— Provision for the year - REEEAE =

Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax ~ BEAF{ 18 — B 1 2 Fr 15 51
— Provision for the year - RE R EAE 7
Deferred tax (note 30) B IR (MFFE30) -
Total income tax expense B 8% 45

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at 16.5% (2024:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year ended
31 March 2025.

Income tax provision in respect of operations in the PRC
has been calculated at a tax rate of 25% (2024: 25%) on
the estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 March
2025, based on existing legislation, interpretation and
practices in respect thereof.

HE-T-_AF=-A=+—HLHF
E -BANGHEBERFEFARNMGTE
R E A Z216.6% (—F = 70 F -
16.5% ) 4 o

BHE-_T-_AF=A=+T—HItHF
E AEBBPREBIELENRE
MEBEDBRBRBEE 2BREN
AL T FE SR T & A3%25% (Z 2 =1
F:265% ) HIMEGTHE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEUBHRRHME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

1 1 . I N CO M E TAX EXP E NS E (Continued) 1 1

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
product of loss before tax multiplied by Hong Kong Profits
Tax rate is as follows:

NS HAS AT BRI EIEBRIAE
%ﬂ STEMFEHEWT

2025 2024
—E-hHF —FE_MF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Loss before tax bR 15 B B 1B (1,726) (30,634)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of EEANGEHE16.5%
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) (ZE =% :16.5%)
HEZHIE (285) (5,055)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAMBMAR 28 11,198 2,406
Tax effect of incomes not taxable RRBAZH G2 (5,262) (3,611)
Tax effect of share of (profits)/losses of ~ [EMEEE AR CEH)
associates EBEIMBTE (271) 410
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not B i FE KR
recognised in previous years MEEEZBBTE (5,468) (470)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  RIERFH IS E 18 7 T 15 5 £ 714 6,184
Tax effect of temporary differences AMERERER BT E
not recognised (161) -
Under provision in prior years BEFEREBTR - 38
Effect of different tax rates of REMBDEEREEL
subsidiaries operating in MBARTRBME 2
other jurisdictions e 334 143
Income tax expense Fris M 799 45

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had estimated unused
tax losses of HK$877,695,000 (2024: HK$914,036,000)
available for offset against future profits which may be
carried forward indefinitely, the estimated unused tax losses
are subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such estimated unused tax losses
due to unpredictability of future profit streams.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z = F - AF=H=4+—HIFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continue)

As at 31 March 2025, estimated unused tax losses of
HK$9,051,000 (2024: HK$12,125,000) attributable to certain
subsidiaries in the PRC will expire in 2026 to 2030 (2024:
2025 to 2029).

12.LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the

11.

12.

Fﬁ ‘?g‘ *ﬁ Fi"ﬁ i (#&)

R-_ZE_RAF=ZA=+—H KA+
BETHEBAR ZEFREAHIE
/&5 189,051,000 7T (=& — Y % :
12,125,000 L) R T RF &
—E=EF(ZEZWFE:ZF=A
FEZZTZNF)HH-

FEBR

AEENFEBERIDEHBRUATS

following: HE 25 :
2025 2024
—E_RE — T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx F& T
Staff costs (including directors’ BEIRA (BREES
emoluments): M) -
— Salaries and allowances - Ee MoERL 31,931 35,846
— Equity-settled share-based payments -DEREE 2RO 39,443 306
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions - ROKEFIET &I K 1,193 1,181
72,567 37 838
Less: Staff costs included in W ETASHE MRS AL AR
cost of sales and services Z B IR (1,582) (1,599)
70,985 35,734

AERTANERAR —B-EFEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

12.LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the

following: (Continued)

12.5EBE w0

AEEBNFEBEBRILDEHBUATS

HRZ25: (&)

2025 2024
—E-RE —EMEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

Other operating expenses: Hig2mx:

Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 6 Bl &

— Audit services —Z R 900 800
- Non-audit services — IEZBR TS 400 240
Announcement and listing fee NERETER 1,029 1,134
Bank charges RITER 301 133
Computer expenses BEKEA 1,251 1,207
Depreciation e 8,840 1,888
Entertainment FE B & 238 707
Information and communication fee EEKBAE 984 1,373
Short-term lease expenses HHEERX 100 100
Legal and professional fee FEREREEE 3,849 6,387
Membership fee 2E2EH 47 42
Rates and building management fee EMREFERE 913 808
Telecommunication fee EREE 248 319
Transaction costs 5B 1,051 3,016
Travelling expenses EIRFAX 3,268 413
Others H 4,043 2,602
27,462 21,169
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
IIV_\ ji%i&%%'z‘ﬁ?(nﬁ)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 Bil2 = FE = AF =HA=41—HIFFZF

13.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 1.5 BETHAER

AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID FEEeHEECZHME
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments, disclosed BEEANEMANEETHEEZENE
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules, are as follows: ERERITBAEMEHMT

Year ended 31 March 2025
HEZ-E-HF-fA=t-HILEE

Retirement
Salaries Equity-settled benefit
and other  share-based scheme
Name of directors Fees benefits payments contributions Total
ek UEHREE BUER
EEps fie HpgEAN zRHxA HE Jne At

Notes  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
i TEx  TEx TET TER  TEx

Executive Directors HIESE

SUN Qing ®E 120 824 2,386 18 3,348

Non-executive Directors FUTES

HAN Hanting EHE a 66 11 - 4 81

HUA Yang £l b 180 - - - 180

LI Chunguang EX-S c 180 - - - 180

NIE Riming #HAHB d 180 - - - 180

Independent non-executive Directors  BYFHTES

CHAN Kin Sang R4 e 360 - 113 - 473

CHIU Kung Chik HAE 180 - 113 - 293

Ll Gaofeng FRE f 66 - - - 66

LUI Mei Ka ExE g 180 - 113 - 293
1,512 835 2,725 22 5,004
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

nH

B BRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

13.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS (continueq)

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments, disclosed

REEANLETRAIKERENE

pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules, are as follows: ERERITBRAEMEO T (£)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024
BHE-_Z_ME=A=1-RL¥E
Salaries  Equity-settled Retirement
and other  share-based benefit scheme
Name of directors Fees benefits payments  contributions Total
ek NERKEE R
EEps we  HEpRN ZRHEXA RN @
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fit o THIL THIL THL FHL THL
Executive Directors HITESE
LIU Zhiwei xR h 110 3,190 - 17 3,317
LIU Haoyuan HES: i 56 334 - 8 398
SUN Qing %5 120 965 14 18 1,117
Non-executive Directors FRTEE
HAN Hanting EHE a 180 32 - 11 223
HUA Yang £k b 125 1,385 - 17 1,527
LI Chunguang EX-S c 26 - - - 26
NIE Riming #HAHR d 76 - - - 76
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUXHTES
CHAN Kin Sang PRbe s e 196 = = - 196
CHIU Kung Chik BAE 180 - - - 180
Ll Gaofeng 3 f 180 = = - 180
LUI Mei Ka X g 96 5 - s 9%
1,345 5,906 14 71 7,336
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules, are as follows:
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) Retired as non-executive director with effect from 12 August
2024.

(b) Resigned as the chief executive officer with effect from 28
February 2024.

() Appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 8
February 2024.

(d)  Appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 30
October 2023.

()  Appointed as the chairman of the Board with effect from 28
February 2024.

() Retired as independent non-executive director with effect
from 12 August 2024.

(9) Appointed as an independent non-executive director with
effect from 19 September 2023.

(h)  Resigned as an executive director and chairman of the Board
with effect from 28 February 2024.

(i) Retired as an executive director with effect from 19
September 2023.

REEANLEHRIKERENE
ERRBTRABMESMT : (&)

B & -

@ RZZE_MNFNA+ZHREF HR
TES-

by MRZE-_MF-_A-t+N\HEHITEH
FHITE °

0 R-Z-_m&E-_A/\BEZXTAEIFE
HITES-

d R-F_=F+A=tBHEZER
FERITES-

e MRZZE_MF-_A-—F+\HEZF
REESEE-

H RZZE_NFNA+—HEEBL
FEHITES -

@ R-FBE_=FNLA+ILBAEZER
BYIFHTES -

hy R-ZT-—mE-A-+\BEEH

TEERBEEEER-
() R-F_=FNA+NLBEEHNT
B=x-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

13.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which any directors waived
or agreed to waive any remunerations for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year included, one (2024: two) directors
of the Company whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining
four (2024: three) individuals are as follows:

“t-HLEEE BECHEFIHE
SR BRRETAME 2 L

¢W$%£%%%%ﬁ/\i$@%
—Z(ZE_WF - WB)AR

£ HEZHEER LLﬁﬁﬁIJZ Tﬁ
FREB-BRTHA(ZZE W
AN ZBEmT:

2025 2024
—EC-RE — T U4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT F& T
Salaries, allowances and other benefits & - 5$EE&,H\1‘ME al 3,926 4,650
Discretionary bonuses B 15 1L 4 520 1,903
Equity-settled share-based payments  BA T%Eﬁﬁ,% v <n AN 22,480 5
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & K18 F 5T 21 4t 7k 90 35
27,016 6,593

The emoluments fell within the following bands: B & T LA T E E

Number of individuals

A
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-EFE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £1,500,000% 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001;%8 7T £2,500,0007% 7© - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001;% 7T £3,000,00078 7T 1 =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T £3,500,0007% 7T 1 1
HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000 10,000,001 7T £ 10,500,000 7T 1 =
HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000 10,500,001 7t 211,000,000/ JT 1 =
4 3

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors or highest paid individuals as inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office.
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14.

15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEMBHRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - hF=H=+—HILFE

DIVIDEND 14.18 5

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
March 2025, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting year (2024: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following:

BE_T_AF=-A=1+—HL*HF
EHERNIEZRMEMRE B
7N 5 & 4R R R DA RN 2 K A
RS (ZFE_MF: &) -

5.8 K& &

ARRBEEAREZERERN R #
BB DIRATEEE:

2025 2024
—E-HE —TMEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T
Loss BB
Loss for the purpose of calculating basic REFESREARR
and diluted loss per share BEEsEZEE (2,525) (30,679)
2025 2024
—E-RE —T_MF
’000 ‘000
TR T i
Number of shares i3 & B
Weighted average number of ordinary REsTEBRERK
shares for the purpose of calculating BEEE L AR
basic and diluted loss per share DNAE 39 2 6,668,024 3,381,332

The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive
for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

gji_z_ﬁi&_?_mi H
=t HLFE FAEEEBRKE
[ B 5E Y E o

EEETANBERAR —ZE-AFER
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16.PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRRWEE ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

16. 05 B 3% 15 LA R (5 A
&

Right-of-use
Property and equipment assets Total
NERRHE EREEE @
Leasehold Office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles
HENEEE WAERME RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAT FET T TAT
(Note)
(PzE)
Cost RA
At 1 April 2023 R-Z2-=FMA—H 4,984 1,144 1,462 18,177 25,767
Additions NE - - - 22,658 22,658
Disposals/written off HE /M - - - (17,172) (17,172)
At 31 March 2024 and R-B-mE=A=+-H
1 April 2024 k-E-_MEMA-A 4,984 1,144 1,462 23,663 31,253
Additions NE 2,229 - 2,240 828 5,297
At 31 March 2025 R-B-RF=A=1+-H 7,213 1,144 3,702 24,491 36,550
Accumulated depreciation and B T ERFE
impairment
At 1 April 2023 W-ZE-_=#NA—-A 4,984 1,144 1,462 18,177 25,767
Charge for the year FRkG - - = 1,888 1,888
Disposals/written off HE /M - - - (17,172) (17,172)
Impairment loss REBE - - - 6,140 6,140
At 31 March 2024 and R-B-mE=A=1+-H
1 April 2024 k-E-_mEMA-H 4,984 1,144 1,462 9,033 16,623
Charge for the year ERR 595 5 373 7,872 8,840
Impairment loss HEEE 1,089 = = 2,315 3,404
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RE=F=1+-H 6,668 1,144 1,835 19,220 28,867
Carrying amount RHEE
At 31 March 2025 R-B-R&=fA=1+-H 545 - 1,867 5,071 7,683
At 31 March 2024 R-_ZE-NE=A=+—H - - - 14,630 14,630

Note:

Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2

to 3 years. Lease term is negotiated on an individual basis,

does not impose any covenant and the leased assets may

not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of
its property and equipment and right-of-use assets in 2025
and 2024 due to challenging business environment and
prudent behaviours of investors as a result of global capital
market downturn. These assets are used in the Group’s
corporate finance, asset management, money lending,
brokerage and margin financing segments. The reviews
led to recognition of impairment loss of HK$3,404,000
(2024: HK$6,140,000) that has been recognised in profit
or loss. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets of
HK$7,683,000 (2024: HK$14,630,000) has been determined
on the basis of their value in use using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering five-year period, zero
growth rate, which is based on relevant industries growth
forecasts and does not exceed average long-term growth
rate for relevant industries, is applied to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond five-year period from the end of the reporting
period. The discount rates used were 11.93-14.39 (2024:
11.98-14.39) per cent. Other key assumptions for the value
in use calculation related to the estimation of cash inflows
and outflows which include budgeted sales and budgeted
net profit margin. This estimation is determined based on the
unit’s past performance and management’s expectation for
the market development.

AEER-_ZE_AFR_FT_NF
HEMELRKBUALEAREED
ARE e REETER  DHREEIR
ErxmikBRE2REATISEXE
B EETREE - ZFEETDAR
AEEZEERE BEETE WE:
K RkTRBMED I - BRI EHER
B 1B 5 183,404,0008 7T ( — & — 1Y
% :6,140,0008 L) " ERNE=E
R fHE & E /) A] Y [el & §87,683,000
770 (—ZZ Z Y4 : 14,630,000/ 7T )
DIRBECHAEEET FEMAZ
ReERMERATIERRE R F HHE
ZHBBE FRATHEERE (ERNE
BIT¥ZEEBENAETBBAERT
¥CFHRAERR)EEAREH
ANERAFHEAZRNHRESRE - FTAD
Bh I8 R ) F11.93% £14.39% (=T
“ DU :11.93% £14.39% ) ° st E{F
AEEMAZEMEIERERER S
MARRL (REEEHEEELESR
MM X)) BB -z bt I iRIE
ZENZBARALEREEY TS
BRTEEMmIE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

Cryptocurrencies Club membership

nEg
HK$’000
TR
Cost D%
At 1 April 2023, R-ZZ-=fMmA-AH:
31 March 2024 “E-_WEZRA=1+-H
and 1 April 2024 RZZ-_NMEME-A

Additions NE
Acquisition of subsidiary WEHB AR
At 31 March 2025 R-B-RF=A=t+-H

Accumulated impairment  23F R E

At 1 April 2023, R-B-=%¥MA-H"
31 March 2024, “E-NEZA=+-R0"
1 April 2024 and “E_MEMA-AR
31 March 2025 “E-RF¥ZA=1-H

Carrying amount BHE

At 31 March 2025 R-ZBE-Z&=ZA=+-H

At 31 March 2024 RZZZWME=A=1+—H -
The Group’s club membership is assessed as having
indefinite useful life because there is no time limit that the
Group can enjoy the services provided by those clubs.

The license right represents a right to conduct asset
management business in Hong Kong, and has no
foreseeable limit to the period over which the Group can use
to generate net cash flows. As a result, the license right is
considered as having indefinite useful life.

The Directors conducted review on the recoverable amount
of the Group’s license right and determined that the
recoverable amount was lower than its carrying amount,
therefore, the carrying amount of the license right was fully
impaired.

License right Total

88 R E #ct
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER TER TER
6,610 - 6,610

AEENEERFIT/EBERA
ERFEH RA/AKEAEXZE
S P EE £ O R 755 X 4 By PRI PR 71 o

ERERTREEREEETER
RN NEERERANELRE
B R ER ) B I 4 ] R R AY PRl o
B - R PR AR S BB R A 8
FH -

EEpAKEEREZ KD SR
EITERN BEA N DS BAENER
EE H R EE L REED BN
B



For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - hF=H=+—HILFE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025

RZZE_RE=A=+—HB +EW

are as follows: B AR BT
Percentage of ownership
Place of Issued and interest and voting
incorporation/ Place of paid up power held by the Principal
Name of subsidiary registration operation  capital Company activities
ARARERARERR
HELRER ERAY/RMmLY BE¥  ERTRMEEA REEAAL TEXH
2025 2024
ZEDRE ZZCME
Directly held subsidiaries E 355 N B2 A
Galaxy Way Development Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% 100%  Equity investment
("BVI)
MEERERAR EBRRES &R 1REERER 1%L hiERE
([REEZES])
Marvel Champion Investment Limited BVI Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% 100% Equity investment
WERABRAR EBRUAES &t 1REBRER 157 hER#
Indirectly held subsidiaries B #4575 ¥ B 2 &
Fortune (HK) Securities Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong ~ HK$310,000,000 100% 100% Provision of securities brokerage
and margin financing services
EREFARAH B &R 310,000,007 REBFELRARBERE
Fortune Asset Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong ~ HK$74,000,000 100% 100% Provision of asset management
services
EREEERARLA B && 74,000,007 RUEBEERRE
Fortune Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong ~ HK$10,000 100% 100% Provision of money lending services
ERUBERAR B && 10,000 70 RERERS
Fortune Financial Capital Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong ~ HK$36,700,000 100% 100% Provision of corporate finance
services
EREREAERAT Bk &k 36,700,000/ 72 RECXRERE
Fortune Case Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong ~ HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of corporate administrative
services to group companies
RERRAR i i 12T MEERRRECETHRE
EaaARE (R BERAT The PRC ThePRC  Registered capital of 100% 100% Equity investment
RMB500,000
Gl Gl i &2 A K B500,0007 e 33
EREE (R REREELEREARAA The PRC ThePRC  Registered capital of 100% 100% Provision of asset management
RMB30,000,000 services
HE ikl & A A K 30,000,000 REEEEERE
ERTRREIRERZAL L (BRAY) The PRC The PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% Equity investment
RMB10,000,000
B ikl it & A& A K 10,000,000 RiERE
EZaBERRES (RINBRAT The PRC ThePRC  Registered capital of 100% 0% Sales of commodities
RMB500,000
# i H A2 AR 500,000 AmiHE

RAR —B-AEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

1 8.SU BSIDIARI ES (Continued)

ERFEARE ORI EBERAR, EREE ORI RER
EHESEBARAA and BERIFTREEKREZE S ORII)
BBR A F] are wholly-owned foreign enterprises established
in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particular excessive length.

19.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

18.Ff B 2~ 7] (#)

ERAANRE CRYIDBRAE B
BEE(RYIBEEREESCERSR
RARIMBEERIFBERRES OF
YD) B R 2B SR BB SN B
B3

FREINEER AT BEFELNEE
XEREBEERBBZARAWNER
A-EERA HIHEMBHBARZ
HEREERENERN TR

19. RBERTZRE

2025 2024
—E_REF —E - OF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FH T FE T

Listed and unlisted investments ERRIELETHRE
— Share of net assets —DIHEEFE 2,987,435 103,495
— Goodwill -HE 4,052 9,403
2,991,487 112,898
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &% —

Set out below are the particulars of the associates:

Percentage of nominal

value of issued capital
held by the Group

AREREERT
Principal place  Place of RAEERDL
Name of entity of business incorporation 2024
ERER TEEEHE  EMATBE “ET-NF
Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Note
(“Wealthink Al’)
ERNERREBRATA B Bt (i3
([ENEERE])
Starlight Financial Holdings Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 25.00%
(“Starlight Group”)
TEEXERERE A 0 Bk
(TeXx&m])
BA Fintech Lab Limited Hong Kong Cayman Islands 34.00%
BE HE#HS

Note: As at 31 March 2024, the Group owned less than 20% of

the equity interest of Wealthink Al.

On 18 October 2024, the Group acquired 26.15% of the
entire issued capital of the Wealthink Al from Dr. Liu Zhiwei,
Trenda Capital Pte. Ltd. and Caitex Technology Holdings
Limited. Dr. Liu Zhiwei,
the Company. Furthermore, Dr.

is a substantial shareholder of
Liu Zhiwei is beneficially
interested in the entire issued share capital of both Trenda
Capital Pte. Ltd. and Caitex Technology Holdings Limited.
Upon the completion, the Group is beneficially interested in
29.13% of the entire issued share of Wealthink Al.

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s material associate, which is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method
is set out below. The summarised financial information
presented is based on the HKFRS Accounting Standards
financial statements of the associate.

TAF=ZA=F—HIFE

NRETIBERBFIS:

Proportion of voting
right held by the Group
at board level
AEEfBEESE
REELH
2024  Principal activities

“EOME EEEH

Note Investment holding
M REER
33.00% Loan financing and advisory
services
BEREE RER RS
34.00% Asset management
BEER
Misd: RZZE_WME=A=+—H &
KEEREREIRE D 1R20%

H) A A o

R_Z_MF+A+/\B K~EEB
W& {Z B L - Trenda Capital Pte. Ltd.
K Caitex Technology Holdings Limited

WHEERSEEE LB BITHRA
226.15% - M EBBLAARRF 2

FTERR- MV EEELERE
A Trenda Capital Pte. Ltd. } Caitex
Technology Holdings Limited 2 & &
BETRRN-REkE NEEEH
BEENMERKREEMBEHTRA
229.13% °

ASEEKRYZE QA (RERARNE
éﬂﬂ%%&%ﬁlmﬁ)z,ﬁﬁ%é*ﬂﬁ%%m
TX&E -2 2 HHEERBRRTD
ERNBREFEMHREEA S E
AR AL 2 R R R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

19.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

19. A& NBl 2R E &)

(Continued)
2025
—E-REF
HK$’000
FET
Wealthink Al ENERRE
At 31 March R=A=+—H
Non-current assets FEMBEE 5,299,231
Current assets MENEE 5,369,156
Current liabilities mEEaRE (717,908)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (2,875)
Net assets BEFE 9,947,604
The Group’s share of net assets and AEBHSGEEFER
carrying amount of interests R ZEEE 2,896,923
2025
—E-REF
HK$’000
FHET
Wealthink Al ENERRE
For the period from the date of completion RWBEKABE
of the acquisition to 31 March =A=+—HILHH
Revenue A 144,170
Profit i A 36,996
Other comprehensive expense HE2EMAX (101,676)
Total comprehensive income FHERAEEE (64,680)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBRRHE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z = F - AF=H=4+—HIFE

pr N\ = e
19.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. REEE RN TR ZRE w0
(Continued)
The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share TRETASEES HLELATE E 7
of the amounts of all individually immaterial associates that FEEREE QR (REEEYER) D
are accounted for using the equity method. &5
2025 2024
—E_REF —EUF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA7T
At 31 March A=H =
Share of carrying amounts of interests DAL EZ ﬁ 94,564 112,898
Year ended 31 March BE=-A=1+—-HLFE
Share of loss for the year DI EANEE (9,134) (2,483)
Share of other comprehensive expense
for the year DR FEREMEERX (980) (4,506)

20.

Share of total comprehensive expense

for the year DIHFEARNEHE RS L5 (10,114) (6,989)
INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 20BN FEIABRZERZ
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS rE

2025 2024
—E-HF —EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FBTT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB LM ZBRAES 129,762 86,908
Unlisted equity instruments FEMRATA 285,324 79,769
Fund investments HeikE 170,844 86,569
Derivative financial instruments MTELR T A 12 27
585,942 253,273

Analysed as: DITEATR -
— Non-current assets -ERBEE 285,751 79,769
— Current assets -REBEE 300,191 173,504
585,942 253,273

EEETANBERAR —ZE-AFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

21.INVESTMENTS IN ARTWORKS

1.8 mRE
2025
—E_REF
HK$’000
TETT

2024
—EWF
HK$’000
FAT

Valuable collections held for
investment, at fair value

RERECZEERS

BATE

443,000

22.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

ZZ.E%L&E?X&%%EELBI&E

TA

2025 2024
—E-RE —E - O4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
st FE T FAET
Loan receivables W E = (a) 82,479 110,576
Trade receivables g 5 e W IR 3K (b) 68,140 2,921
150,619 113,497

Analysed as: DT -
— Non-current assets —ERBEE - 13,500
— Current assets —mEBEE 150,619 99,997
150,619 113,497
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBHRERRME (&

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z = F - AF=H=4+—HIFE

22.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Notes:

(a) LOAN RECEIVABLES

21@%5%&%%@%%

FA (&)

i3]

ﬁ'%‘:

a) EWRER

2025 2024

—E_FREF —E_F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET T T

Loan receivables FEUE 5k 84,170 112,267

Less: expected credit losses B BEEEEBE (1,691) (1,691)

Carrying amount BREE 82,479 110,576
Analysed as: pal i/ (N

— Non-current assets —ERMBEE = 13,500

— Current assets —-RBEE 82,479 97,076

82,479 110,576

As at 31 March 2025, the amount of total outstanding
loan receivables, net of expected credit losses, was
HK$82,479,000 (2024: HK$110,576,000). There are four
(2024: five) outstanding loans with their respective portfolios
detailed as follows:

(i) one secured loan with an outstanding principal amount
of HK$nil (2024: HK$13,500,000), and it is secured by
a securities account charge over shares of companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. It bears an interest rate
of 8% per annum (“p.a.”) and is due for repayment
within twelve months (2024: 2 years);

ik

R-ZE-_RAF=A=+—H" K
ERKEREE (IKREREES
1B) 582,479,000 L (=T = M
% :110,576,000/% 70 ) ° £ B IE M
E(ZT-_MF:-AE)REEE
o HEBEFBET

A

() —EREEXSATHL(Z
Z — 94 : 13,500,000 7T )
ZHERE K AR ET
NARmD 2 BHFEF R
IR BERE R EA8% R
+=EA (ZZ—/F: RE)
NEHAEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(ii)

(il

(iv)

(vi)

two unsecured loans with an aggregate outstanding
principal amount of HK$nil (2024: HK$90,000,000).
Both loans bear an interest rate of 15% p.a. and are
due for repayment within twelve months;

one secured mortgage loan with an outstanding
principal amount of HK$5,000,000 (2024:
HK$5,000,000), and it is secured by first legal charges
on commercial properties located in the Hong Kong and
has been overdue for repayment. It bears an interest
rate of 13% p.a;

one unsecured loan with an outstanding principal
amount of HK$3,000,000 (2024: HK$3,000,000) and it
is guaranteed by an individual person. This loan bears
an interest rate of 6% p.a. and it is repayable on 14
January 2026;

one secured loan with an outstanding principal amount
of HK$25,000,000 (2024: nil), and it is secured by a
securities account charge over shares of companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. It bears an interest rate
of 9% p.a. and is due for repayment within twelve
months; and

one unsecured loan with an outstanding principal
amount of HK$50,000,000 (2024:
guaranteed by an individual person. This loan bears

nil) and it is

interest rate of 8% p.a. and is due for repayment within
twelve months.

BYeE: (4&)

(a)

WER (&)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

MEREERSHBEATHE
7t ( =2 — Y 4 : 90,000,000
B2 ERBER FR X
HE15%  #R+ =@ A A
HAEE

—E R EE X $ 55,000,000
Bt (ZZ =4 : 5,000,000
BI)ZBEEBZRBER N
MNRBEBZBEENEZE —
EEHEERR - Eami-8
HEFEF13% :

—ZE KRB & A% 43,000,000
77t (ZZ =M 4 : 3,000,000
BT 2 EEWE R ThH—
%fl/\?ﬂ BER BEREFME
Fe% BN _ZT_RF—A
+HBEE:

f"%

—FREEARSE /25,000,000
BLT(ZTE-_WF - E|IZE
EHREF  ABRFT LT A A
IR0 2 & H R P L (R -
BERFHNEBI% H%EéJr:
& A B HAEE

—ZE R EEZXR L /50,000,000
BT (ZE_NFE:-E)z &
WIFER  B— B EAREE
R-BREFEB8%  #H R
+Z@EAREIHPEE-



For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

With respect to item (iii) mentioned above, the loan is overdue
for repayment. The Company and Fortune Finance Limited
(“Fortune Finance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, obtained a court order requiring the borrower to
deliver vacant possession of the charged properties. The
Company and Fortune Finance are implementing the court
order to secure possession of the properties.

With respect to item (iv) mentioned above, a Loan Settlement
Agreement (the “Agreement’) has been executed with the
borrower in November 2024. Pursuant to the Agreement,
repayment date has been extended to January 2026 and the
interest rate has been reduced from 12% p.a. to 6% p.a.. All
legal actions against the borrower have been stayed but not
withdrawn.

Fortune Finance has initiated recovering actions on the
borrower stated under item (iii) by requiring the tenants of
the charged properties to finalize property enforcement. For
the borrower stated under item (iv), Fortune Finance has also
instructed solicitors to immediately reactivate all stayed claims
if the borrower breaches the Agreement.

Ageing analysis of the loan receivables, based on the loan
drawdown date, and net of expected credit losses, is as
follows:

Less than 30 days L p30H
31 to 90 days 31E90H
91 to 365 days 912 365H
Over 365 days i #E365H

BfeE: (&)

(a)

FEWRES (&)
REMEG)VEMS ZEERE R
H-ARRIEARRIZEZEN B A
AERMEERAR ([EREE])
EREERGS  BERERARE
BHEUENTTEETEE AR A H
EoR B IEENIT AL S LARE
REZEMERNEGR-

g EMENVERNS ER=Z2FT =M
F4+— AEERAZER B RN EE 17
Z([ZH&E]) BREZBE EX
BHEERE-_ZE_~F— A &
FEBB12% % £6% ° FT A &t 4
BRARERFARE EFEIL R
@o

= 58 B 15 B 8 5 (i) AT AL KA
BRABNITE EXRIEMEBIEFY
EMAPERMEARTINTRER
ZEREB(v)ETMAERA =588
BAEETEN BEERAERZ
W BUNEFMBTECHE
MREEK-

UER (NMEBERBEEER)E
RERERABRZRESTAOT :

2024
—EZUF
HK$’000
FAT

90,767

13,500
6,309

110,576
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

22.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(a) LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the loan receivables as at 31 March
2025 based on loan drawdown date is set out below:

21@%5%&%%@%%

FA (&)
BieE: (&)

a) EWER (&)

BE_ZE_hF=-A=+—HHE
WERERDIT (EREREKRA
H) W

Over 90 days

Within to up to Over
90 days 1 year 1 year
90H Bl & 90 E—F —FE
Approximate % of the loan BWERZBLAE DT
receivables 0.93% 99.07% -

The movement of gross balance of loan receivables is as
follows:

EMER ERBBEREINT

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
E—ER EZRR i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER THERT FTER
At 1 April 2023 R-_E-_=FMA—H 5,052 12,101 17,153
Amounts written off 88 A& £ B RUR
as uncollectible - (5,609) (5,609)
Amounts originated EECEHE 117,763 1,278 119,041
Amounts recovered or repaid FAMEREEZEHE
during the year (13,562) (4,756) (18,318)
At 31 March 2024 and R-B-QWE=A=+-H
1 April 2024 kE-—ZE-_mNEMNA—AH 109,253 3,014 112,267
Amounts originated EXZEH 93,491 240 93,731
Amounts recovered or repaid FAKEREEZEHE
during the year (121,603) (225) (121,828)
At 31 March 2025 R-B-RE=ZA=+—-H 81,141 3,029 84,170
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEMBHERRME (&

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - hF=H=+—HILFE

22.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(b)

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movement of expected credit losses of loan receivables is

21@%%%&%%@%%

FA (&)
BieE: (&)

a) EWER (&)
FRUEERZBEHREEERED N

as follows: IE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
E-BR B i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FH T T
At 1 April 2023 N-ZE-_=5NMA—H - 4,906 4,906
Amounts written off 88 A £ B FUR
as uncollectible - (5,609) (5,609)
Expected credit losses FRERZBHEEEBR
recognised during the year - 2,394 2,394
At 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 R-ZF-_MF=A=+-8"
and 31 March 2025 “E-MEMA-BR
ZE-_HFZA=+-H - 1,691 1,691

The loan receivables are due for settlement at the date
specified in the respective loan agreements.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

EWE RN EEERIGHRIEE RS
AEE-

(b) EZEWIRK

2025 2024
Sl - —Z_NFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET T T
Trade receivables from securities KEBHELEBZ
brokerage business B 5 W R K
— margin clients —HFREF 616 572
Trade receivables from REEMELER 2
other brokerage business 2 5 R 3K 64,942 -
Trade receivables from REEMEBLZES
other businesses JiE Wt BR 3K 5,945 5,530
71,503 6,102
Less: expected credit losses B EEEEER (3,363) (3,181)
Carrying amount BRMEE 68,140 2,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

22.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

21@%%%&%%@%%

™K (#)

Notes: (Continued) Miax: (&)

(b)

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The settlement terms of trade receivables from HKSCC arising
from securities brokerage business are two trading days after
trade date. The Group allows an average credit period of 30
days to its customers from other businesses.

No ageing analysis is disclosed for trade receivables from
securities brokerage business — margin clients and trade
receivables from other brokerage business as the clients
were carried on an open account basis, and only fall due
on conditions or on demand by the Group. The Directors
consider that ageing analysis does not give additional value in
the view of the nature of these receivables.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables from other businesses,
based on the invoice date, and net of expected credit losses
is as follows:

(b)

B 5 RWERR (&)

BFRREBAELEZRABTAEE
BB RERRENBRAE
EAHEMEXSA -AEERE
MEBNEFE T FIH0BNEER
Hi o

BHREP IR ERKRE E £ -
BERFHRHEIBRAEEEZRGA
BE MYBREARARBEESLK
REBZEIRKRER-—FREFP
EREBEMELETZE SRR
KRBT -BEFER/ ERZ
ERUGRIBEZEE R Rk DT
WEEIMEE-

AERZERAPRENREREES
B REEMBXBZEHEEER
ZERE DTN

2025 2024

—E-HF —TMmMF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Less than 30 days 4L 130H 250 392

31 to 60 days 31260H 88 337

61 to 90 days 61£290H 100 -

Over 90 days 90H A 2,144 1,622
Carrying amount of trade receivables REEMERZE S RBER

from other businesses Z R A 2,582 2,351
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEMBHERRME (&

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - hF=H=+—HILFE

22.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables from margin clients are secured by the
clients’ pledged securities which could be realised at the
Group’s discretion to settle any margin call requirements
imposed by their respective securities transactions. The trade
receivables from margin clients are repayable on demand
and bear interest at commercial rates. As at 31 March 2025,
included in the total trade receivables, HK$616,000 (2024:
HK$570,000) was interest bearing whereas other trade
receivables was non-interest bearing.

Reconciliation of expected credit losses on trade receivables:

21%%%%&%%@%%

FA (4,

BieE: (&)

(b)

B S RWERR (&)

BRFERFZ2ESERUNRRZ
WHBEBHERE BAEBE BB
BIBBHMEME S UBEEMIR
BESBETZELARSMELZ
HRERZk-BURAFEREFPZE
SERRABZEREE IR EF
EG B -RZE-_RF=A=+—
B Z 5 EWEREEEE F616,000
Bt (ZZF — W4 : 570,000/ JT)
ABEtE MEMESERERET

air

SRR S B ANE
T

2025 2024

—E-REF —E_POF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T T

At the beginning of the year REH] 3,181 14,604
Increase in expected credit losses FANTEREEBEEN

during the year 182 3,640

Amounts written off 8 Fk I8 - (15,063)

At the end of the year RER 3,363 3,181

HEETAHERAR —E-RFEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

22.LOAN AND TRADE RECEIVABLES 22.&@4&%3’\&%5@”&%

xh .

(Continued) TA (£,

Notes: (Continued) MisE: (4&)

(b) TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) (b) EBIEWRR (&)
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide the AEBEFEBBBY Bk E ELF
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9 “Financial RIemTE]RENBLEHE
Instruments”, which permits the use of the lifetime expected HIEEBBTIRBE ZAHERH
credit losses provision. FRAFEREREEBERE-
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables RITEHEHEEBE KR HEME
from other businesses have been grouped based on the %2 B 5 EUER KB ka8 R 8UE
days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporates TR -TEBREEEBIT RAE
forward-looking information, which was taken into account MHER - BHERLCERRERY
the possible impacts associated with the overall change in the {LRIREE AW R 2 -

economic environment.

Current
and within 31to 61 to 91 to Over
30 days 60 days 90 days 365 days 365 days
past due past due past due past due past due Total
BE R k] k] k] k]
30AR  31F60H 61Z90A 91%365H #BiB365H it
At 31 March 2025
RZB-HEF=ZA=+-H
Expected credit losses rate EHEEEHEX 0% 0% 30% 49% 63%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’'000) BEERE(TET) 250 88 142 799 4,666 5,945
Loss allowance (HK$’000) BREEE(TETL) - - (42) (394) (2,927) (3,363)
250 88 100 405 1,739 2,582
At 31 March 2024
RZZE-MFE=A=1+—H
Expected credit losses rate BHEEBERZ 26% 47% 0% 41% 76%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BEREE(THET) 526 635 = 1,668 2,701 5,530
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE(TATL) (134) (298) - (689) (2,058) (3,179)
392 337 - 979 643 2,351
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23.

24.

25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z = F - AF=H=4+—HIFE

CONTRACT ASSETS

Contract assets related to the Group’s right to consideration
for corporate finance services transferred but not billed
at the end of the reporting period. The contract assets
are transferred to receivable when the right become
unconditional.

REGULATORY DEPOSITS

The regulatory deposits were made with the Stock Exchange
and HKSCC, in relation to the Group’s regulated businesses
in Hong Kong.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

23. 5N EE

EREEEASERSIEHER &
EHMREAAEZCERE RS K
BREBZENAR ZFENEER
FRENKNSERTREBERERK

RIE

2LEER®

AERERIAKTERBTBZER
EXRBABRARBEEEMEL -

25 HMW B ARIE -RER

=
AND PREPAYMENTS Y8 {3 f 18
2025 2024
—E-HF —E-MF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FE T FA7T
Other receivables H b & I FRIB (i) 58,265 1,477
Interest receivables JE U A B - 363
Rental and other deposits HMEKHMZS (ii) 23,716 22,014
Prepayments A FOE 192 582
Prepayment for investments at ERAFEIABREZ
fair value through profit or loss ®EZENFE 10,000 =
Prepayment for investments BT E 2 B RIE
in artworks 50,000 -
142,173 24,436
Notes: B 5
(i)  Other receivables mainly represent monies placed in various iy HOERKREBEXZEFEATRLEL

brokers accounts and other receivable from third party.

(ii) Included deposits for franchise of investment immigration
business amounted to HK$15,496,000 (2024:
HK$15,587,000).

REMNES REERE=TTOEMK
I8 o

iy PREEEBRENEFHFLENE
£15,496,0008 L (=T = F :
15,587,00058 7T ) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

The Group maintains segregated trust accounts
with licensed banks to hold clients’ monies arising
from its securities brokerage and margin financing
business. The Group has classified the clients’ monies
as bank balances - trust under the current assets
of the consolidated statement of financial position
and recognised the corresponding trade payables to
respective clients on the grounds that it is liable for any
loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies. The Group
is not permitted to use the clients’ monies to settle its
own obligations.

As at 31 March 2025, the bank balances and cash
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$9,216,000 (2024: HK$774,000). Conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

AEERFERITARBIULE
ARPURBERERAFRLER
TRBEXGEEZEFPRE
AEBREPRBEDEREAR
MBARARRRBEERT Z R
THHB-—GEE BRAKEA
REZEREPFE 2 EMEEX
WA AT AR ERZ
ERERENEBEEF 2B S
KB AEEHNEERT P K
HRRNEEEARGER-

R-_ZE_RF=A=+—8"
AEEUARESTENRITLE
# & I8 & 49,216,000 7T ( —
T HF 774,000 7C) c AR
MHIRBINEBET (REA
RAMBIINE B IBIEH) o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - hF=H=+—HILFE

&5 =
27.TRADE PAYABLES 27.8 5 E{FBR X
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E_NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHx FHET
Trade payables from securities REBFRLEEBEZES
brokerage business FE AT BR X
— margin and cash clients —-HEERREEP 132,483 266,924
- HKSCC —BREEM 23,624 9,101
Trade payables from other brokerage REEMELESE 2
business B 5 R ERR 57,580 =
213,687 276,025
No ageing analysis is disclosed for trade payables from BEREFPIRAREREETSR
securities brokerage business — margin and cash clients WERREFEREI FSLEBZ
and trade payables from other brokerage business as the EoRNER-—"FTFERREEFR
clients were carried on an open account basis. The directors REHMELEE 2 E HRNFER
consider that ageing analysis does not give additional value ZHEBRONM - EFZRA ERNZEE
in the view of the nature of these payables. NRB2EEFEAR  RROMILESR
HSMBE -
The ageing analysis of trade payables to HKSCC, based on ERERRABHENBAEEM
their recognition date, is as follows: ME SRR ZEEDINOAT :
2025 2024
—E-FE —EFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Less than 30 days L RA30H 23,624 9,101

AEETFAHARAT —BE-AEFH 253



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

H 4
28.BORROWINGS 28. 8 &
The unsecured borrowings are repayable as follows: EIRREEEKRATFHES
2025 2024
—E-EHF —EMF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
On demand or within one year BRERFL—FUA 415,377 =
Over one years il —F . _
415,377 -
Less: Amount due for settlement within ~ Ji& : 1218 A R BN R85
12 months (shown under current HEBE(RRBAE
liabilities) BTHR) (415,377) -
Amount due for settlement after K128 B 1% B HA & 8 M9 5 0E
12 months - -
The average interest rate as at 31 March 2025 was 4.24%. RZE_RAF=ZA=+—H®HFH

T B4.24%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - hF=H=+—HILFE

= =
29.LEASE LIABILITIES 29.7HE8E
2025 2024
SR —EHF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FiE T F& T
Lease payments: MEMK:
within one year —F R 8,768 7,894
in the second to fifth years F_EEZERFA 6,918 15,191
15,686 23,085
Less: Future finance charges B RIREE E A (501) (1,172)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBECRE 15,185 21,913
Present value of lease payments: HMENKHE:
within one year —F R 8,305 7,217
in the second to fifth years BE_FEFERFRN 6,880 14,696
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEZRE 15,185 21,913
Less: Amount due for settlement within B 12 B A A EIEAEE R
12 months (shown under HKE(RREafkE
current liabilities) EHTAR) (8,305) (7,217)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 712 & B 12 2| Hi &5 89
(shown under non-current liabilities) FE(RERHEBET
HIR) 6,880 14,696

As at 31 March 2025, the average effective borrowing rate
was 3.63% (2024: 3.58%) p.a.. Interest rates are fixed at
the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash outflow
for leases are HK$8,261,000 (2024: HK$6,588,000).

RZZE-_RAF=A=+—H ¥H9E
REEF X AT F3.63% (ZFT =
F:358%) FIXREHNBEHEE
Bt AEEmBEAFEFNERER -

BHE_T-_AF=A=+—HIEF
B HE 2 Re M 8% 458,261,000
BT (ZZE-ZWF:6,588,000/8
JL) °

EEETANBERAR —ZE-AFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 2 —F -~ A F=H=+—HIFFE

30.DEFERRED TAX 30. R BB
The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by LWTAAEEEHANELERIBEER
the Group. (R
Unrealised
fair value on
investments
REZKRER
NFEE
HK$’000
FTER
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and R-BE-_=fNA-H ZE-WE=HA=+—H
1 April 2024 R-—E-_mN&EME—H _
Charge to profit or loss for the year (note 11) B ARFE Bz (K1) 702
At 31 March 2025 RZEBE-RF=A=+—H 702
31.SHARE CAPITAL 31. Ik &
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 (2024: HK$0.10) each SHREEA0EIL (ZTEZMF : 0.10
BIT) 2 @R
Number of
shares Amount
RE B -]
Notes '000 HK$’000
B & T TERT
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, R=-ZE-=F@mA—H-
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 Z—Z-W&=H=+—8Q"
“E_NENA-HE
—E-_RE=A=+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 April 2023 R-ZZE-_=F//MA—H 1,317,968 131,797
Issue of shares BTG (a) 263,594 26,359
Issue of shares BT D (b) 4,744,684 474,469
At 31 March 2024 and R-E-_NFE=B=+—H
1 April 2024 kK—Z-_mWE&EMAE—A 6,326,246 632,625
Issue of shares BITRGD () 273,776 27,377
Issue of shares BT D (d) 518,400 51,840
Issue of shares BITHR D () 340,053 34,005
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_HF=A=+—H 7,458,475 745,847
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —hF =H=+—HIFFE

Notes:

(a) In August 2023, a total of 263,593,577 ordinary shares
at a price of HK$0.20 each were issued upon completion
of the subscription to independent third parties. The total
proceeds received by the Company from the subscription was
approximately HK$52,718,000.

(b)  In February 2024, a total of 4,744,684,386 ordinary shares
at a price of HK$0.10 each were issued upon completion of
the rights issue. The total proceeds received by the Company
from the rights issue was approximately HK$474,469,000.

(c) In July 2024, a total of 273,776,000 ordinary shares at a price
of HK$0.90 each were issued upon completion of placing to
independent third parties. The total proceeds received by the
Group from the placing was HK$246,398,000.

(d)y In July 2024, 518,400,000 ordinary shares were issued to
a trustee under a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 3 June 2024.

(e) In October 2024, 340,053,151 ordinary shares were issued
at a price of HK$0.82 (closing price of the Company at
acquisition date on 18 October 2024) each upon completion
of the acquisition of 2,751,339,130 ordinary shares of
Wealthink Al.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents, lease liabilities, corporate bonds and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

5 :

@ RZZTEZ=FN\A RRESHEZ
& B %S 1%0.207% T M B 1% [
BWILE =6 HE17263,593,577
& % AR - A N B Bt R #E F H
2 P15 5018 # 58 4 /52,718,000
=

by M-ZZT-_MWFE =/ R TEK
% BERERO10BITHERS K
5 174,744,684,386/% L@ AL - A
A Bt AR R ER 2 FT 1S SRIE R BE A B
474,469,00078 JT °

€ R-ZZTE-_WNFtLtA REESHERT
B 1% - B 1% 5 1%0.9078 JT B (B 4% [
BWILE =G HE17273,776,000
& & 18 A% o 7N & @ 5 Be B F IR I
Z 15 X8 42 %8 5246,398,000/8
—

dy MZZT_MH%F+ A 518,400,0000%
TEREETTARAR TN
FRNA=ZBHEM 2B ERE
(TRGEBEE])ET 2 —8BX
FEAC

e MZZE-_mE+A RKBERS
RE4% & 2 2,751,339,130/% & 18 AL 7T
K B S 8%0.82/8 T (AR 7
R=ZZF=—WF+ A+ /\BUKEEAH
2 W (B ) /Y {8 4§ %% 17340,053,151
% 3 38 A% o

AREEREAEHAERASE

BB EEE  LEBEL
B R ESRARREREAE
5 o 75 58 (5] 7 % 98 57 LI (5 4R 46
T o
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o

AEBEZEARBEEERE RS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total debt incurred
(including borrowings, lease liabilities and corporate bonds)
were HK$430,562,000 (2024: HK$23,975,000), representing
a gearing ratio of 10.97% (2024: 3.05%). Gearing ratio is
calculated based on total debt divided by the total equity at
the end of the reporting period.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the Directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the associated
risks with each class of capital, and take appropriate actions
to adjust the Group’s capital structure.

For certain subsidiaries of the Company, they are
regulated by Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”)
and are required to comply with certain minimum capital
requirements according to the rules of SFC. Management
monitors, on a daily basis, the subsidiaries’ liquid capital
to ensure it meets the minimum liquid capital requirement
in accordance with the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules, the range of liquid capital is from
HK$100,000 to HK$3,000,000 or 5% of their total adjusted
liabilities, whichever is higher. The required information is
filed with SFC on a monthly basis.

There is no non-compliance of the capital requirements
imposed by the respective regulators during both years.

RZEBE_RAF=A=+—H &~&EH
FEEsRER (BEEBE - HES
& & A A& % ) £430,562,000% 7T
(= — 4% :23,975,00087T) ' &
REBEHEE1097% (Z T U4
3.05%)  BEABELEXTIIREE H
REOBEBR AR BEAE -

ARAREEEHEMERARBE -1ER
ZERZ B ARBEZTEREE
RARA R & BB E AR Rz Bkt
ERDNEETHUNRABLIEB 2 E
AR -

RARRETHEBRARME  BEX
BELHEEHERZES ([HE
EDHEREREEES 2 HRE
TETHEEAHE - BEESHE
RMBRARIZRBES  UHBERRA
ERFEBE (FHRER)HAAUET
XERBESHRTE RBEHEN
#100,0007% 7T 23,000,000/ 7T 2% &
HERABRBEEZ% (AR ES
) FREERHZAMBERIRER

REZMEFE TEERBHEREH
BRERZERNRE BN



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
HREMBRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z = F - AF=H=4+—HIFE

32.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

32. 8RR 2 AR T

2025 2024
—E-FRE —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property and equipment E Y - =
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIRE 93,851 93,851
93,851 93,851
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables, deposits and H (b & U 3 IE
prepayments & RIB IR 786 283
Amounts due from subsidiaries & BT /BB A B FIB 2,003,855 959,324
Amounts due from investee company B U 1 1% & R B FE 274 274
Bank balances and cash FRITER MRS 46,888 165,085
2,051,803 1,124,966
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HiENHRIEBRETEA 2,114 1,953
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE B B A~ R IR 465,191 427,938
Borrowings BE 405,607 —
Corporate bonds UNEIREE= - 2,062
Current tax liabilities BT IR B & 21 21
872,933 431,974
Net current assets RBEEFHE 1,178,870 692,992
Total asset less current liabilities EEHAERABER 1,272,721 786,843

EEETANARAT —B-AFEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBERRWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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32.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 32.7K R Al Z M RN+
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continueq) (#)
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiERT FHBTT
Net assets EERE 1,272,721 786,843
Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital g AR 745,847 632,625
Reserves 1 526,874 154,218
Total equity A 1,272,721 786,843
33.RESERVES 33.f%1E
[A] THE GROUP (A] KXEEH
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements AEBENFEESBEREZHRN
therein are presented in the consolidated statement i'*/\TE s N E MR E R E R I

ERAEPHRZET -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBRRHE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z = F - AF=H=4+—HIFE

33.RESERVES (Continued) 33-1%%1% (&)

(B] THE COMPANY [B] X2\ 7]
Share-based
Share Treasury Translation Contributed payment  Accumulated

premium stock reserve surplus reserve losses Total

R EE EFR BRERE BEABE ROXAHE 2itEB @zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAT TAR TAT TAT TAT TAT
At 1 April 2023 762,579 - 740 80,657 - (697,521) 146,455
R-ZE-=#QmA-H
Loss for the year - - - - - (18,902) (18,902)
FEER
Issue of shares 26,359 - - - - - 26,359
BITREH
Share-based payments - - - - 306 - 306
B {7 % fF
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 788,938 - 740 80,657 306 (716,423) 154,218
R-B-ME=A=+-AR
“E-MEMA-A
Loss for the year - - - - - (78,806) (78,806)
FEER
Issue of shares 219,021 (51,840) - - - - 167,181
BITRH
Acquisition of associate 244,838 - - - - - 244,838
R E AR
Share-based payments - - - - 39,443 - 39,443
Bt 2 A
Forfeit of share options - - - - (91) 91 -
R R
At 31 March 2025 1,252,797 (51,840) 740 80,657 39,658 (795,138) 526,874
RZB-RF=fA=+-H
BEEETANERAR —E-RFFH 261
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium account of the
Company are distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Treasury stock includes allotment and issue
of 518,400,000 ordinary shares to the trustee
under the share award scheme adopted by the
Company on 3 June 2024.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The special reserve of the Group represents
the difference between the nominal value of
the shares of the subsidiaries acquired and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for
the acquisition under the corporate reorganisation
of the Group.

@ﬁﬁ BELEDE K
RRAIENEBERNE
SR TFARBRR

HERERZ D IRBE A H

®-ARRERENEER

ERBEEH BRI H

BB o

EFMKeER % &ET
FARARABR -_ZT_MF
NA=HEH KD E
B8 BETZ2ZTALZ
518,400,000 0% & 3 % °

[EXFRERBRETINE
B BRRELENMARE
HERE BT RIEAR
M BHRMEIMEZ
SRR IE -

AEBZERFERHEERE
AEBz R EH TR
BB ARz ki) mE R
B FHETARAK
MeEEMERZER-



For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

The capital reserve represents the contributions
made by the then controlling shareholder under
the corporate reorganisation of the Group.

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the difference between the fair values
of the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries
at the date on which they were acquired by
the Company and the nominal amount of the
Company’s shares issued under the corporate
reorganisation of the Group.

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to directors
and employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements.

The other reserve mainly represents premium
arisen from the acquisition of additional 20%
equity interest in Fortune Financial Capital
Limited at cash consideration of HK$1,793,000,
additional 25% equity interest in Fortune Wealth
Management Limited at cash consideration of
HK$1,125,000 from non-controlling interests on
18 May 2012 and 10 January 2013 respectively
and additional 20% equity interest in = 58 &4 7
BR#% (#3Y) B BR A 7F at cash consideration
of RMB100,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$114,000) from non-controlling interest on 30
November 2016, and gain on bargain purchase
arising from the acquisition of ordinary shares of
Wealthink Al.

(@RS A 2 3
RREAEEZ A RIEA
FHZHE-

RRABZEHRBBRIENEB
RAEEEEFERER
ARABWEER 2AFE
HREASE AR EARMR
BITZARBRMOEEZ
IR Z %8 o

B EEERERA
1 75 ¥ R MY =3 B LA
BEE 2RO MR A
M et RERNER T A
SEEZENEENERX
BET BB RITEBRED
AR

HiEEESES IR =
TE——_FRA+tNE X
—_E—=%—A+HM
IR ERUNRESKE
1,793,000/ T K B8 = 38 &
BEAREFR A A REI20%
e - AR 2 E1,125,000
BTWEEREEESR
(R A BIEEIN25% IS HE » LA K
R—_E—XE+—AB=+
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B AR ¥100,0007¢ (HE
R #114,0008 7T ) KE =
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) adopted on 7 September 2021 for the purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the Group. Eligible participants include the
employees, directors and consultants of the Company and
the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective
from the date on which the offer for grant of option is made
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of total number of
shares in issue as at the date of the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 2 September 2021. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period, is limited to 1% of the Company’s shares in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to issue of circular to shareholders and
shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

Share options granted to a director or chief executive of
the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s shares in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price
of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess
of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period, are subject
to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

ARRER-—BER_-_ZT_-_—FAN
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Bl 5ERAANKEELRRMN
ERERZEERHEHAEF - EE
R2REBFEARRNBRARRENB
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REsZESHEERARITEEREER
—E--FHAAZBARRETR
REAFAREEHEETROHLHZ
10% o A 1218 A B A - R & %
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a
consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date
which is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer of the grant of the share options; (ii) the
average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the 5 trading days immediately preceding the date
of the offer of the grant of the share options; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of the
offer of the grant of the share options.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Details of the options are as follows:

Date of grant: 27 March 2024

The share options shall be vested on
31 March 2025

Vesting period:

Exercise period:

From 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026

Exercise price: HK$0.48 per share

BREBBREZZHNTNRELNREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEUBHRRHME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 2 —F -~ A F=H=+—HIFFE

34.SHARE'BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years
from the date of grant, the options expire. Options are
forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are
as follows:

4.0 2 F )

BREE (#)

fh B8 AR A A 52 1 B0 HE 1O 1 473
RATE + BB AR A 16 45 B B K 2o f
1 B BB A SR B BB AR IS 08
U o

FARARMARITEZBREFBNOT

Number of share options

BRESE
2025 2024
—E_RE —E_NF
’000 ‘000
T4 T4
Outstanding at the beginning of the year — R ¥ 1& K 1T{E 91,500 =
Granted B - 91,500
Lapsed B R (5,832) -
Outstanding at the end of the year RE R ARITEE 85,668 91,500
Exercisable at the end of the year RERAITE - -

The options outstanding at the end of the year have
remaining contractual life of 9 (2024: 10) years. The
estimated fair value of the options granted on 27 March
2024 is HK$22,661,000.

These fair values were calculated using binomial option
pricing model. The inputs into the model are as follows:

Share price: HK$0.48 per share
Exercise price: HK$0.48 per share
Expected volatility: 103.13%
Expected life: 2.01 years
Risk-free rate: 3.68%
Expected dividend yield: Nil

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the
previous 2.01 years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

The Company operates the Share Award Scheme adopted
on 3 June 2024. The purpose of the Share Award Scheme
is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions which
the eligible participants of the Share Award Scheme (the
“Eligible Participants”) have made or may make to the
Group. Eligible participants include any employee, officer and
director of the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries
and service provider whom the Board in its sole discretion,
determines that have contributed or will contribute to the
Group. The Share Award Scheme became effective on 3
June 2024, the date of approval and adoption of the Share
Award Scheme by the shareholders of the Company and will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares which may be awarded in
respect of all award of shares and together with the number
of shares and options which may be issued under any other
share schemes of the Company that are funded by the
issuance of new shares must not exceed 10% of the number
of shares in issue.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all share award granted to each Eligible
Participant (excluding any share award lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Award Scheme) in any period
of 12 month period up to and including the date of grant
shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the entire issued share
capital.

The Board shall be entitled to grant share award to any
Eligible Participant, as the Board may in its absolute discretion
select.

Any grant of share award to any director or chief executive
of the Company, shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive directors of the Company
(excluding any independent non-executive director of
the Company who or whose associate is grantee of the
share award) or remuneration committee of the Company
established pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

34.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS conines 34 B2 9 3 4 a0
B9 22 M3 8 0

B EBAER TG ER 2B H
F10fEZ XA REM - AR AREB
AARRZELEARDRBHER
3B A A D 2R - R B (R AN A R [

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

The share award may be accepted within 10 business days
from the date of grant of share award. A grantee may accept a
share award by giving written notice of their acceptance to the
Company, together with remittance in favour of the Company of
any consideration payable upon grant of the share award.

Details of the specific categories of share award are as

follows:

Date of grant

Al

R 2 5% B £ 22 B T F& 15 9 (E AT (X

Bo

Vesting date

AR ZRBRZHBMT

Number of
share award

at date of grant

R i B # SHEAH REL BB

MR GRBEE

000

&

26 July 2024 26 July 2026 25,920
—EZEFERA =+ NH —EZRFEAZ+H

26 July 2024 26 July 2027 25,920
—E_NMELAZ+KH il <S5 S By SN =

26 July 2024 26 July 2028 25,920
—EMEELAZ+RH —ZEN\FEHAZ+RH

26 July 2024 26 July 2029 25,920
—EZEFERAZ+NH —EAFEARZ+NH

103,680
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

Share award shall lapse automatically if the grantee MARARGBEREHRI ZATHEA
ceased to be employee or director of the Company or its KRR ENBARMNEERES
subsidiaries prior to or on vesting date or other situations as KGFEEARRIEETE2ERTEMNHAM
determined by the director of the Company in its absolute B ROZEKBEBRE AEHKF
discretion, and shall not vest on the relevant vesting date. eEHEEBERHERS-
Details of the share award outstanding during the year are FAMARITEZ RO EEFBLOT :
as follows:
Number of
share award
% 17 22 B & B
’000
S
Outstanding at 1 April 2023, RZEZ=FWA—HB ZT_MWOF
31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 —A=+—BER-Z_MEMWA—H
M RIT
Granted B
Lapsed B R
Outstanding at 31 March 2025 RZZEZRAE=HA=T—BRR/THE
The estimated fair value of the share award granted on 26 RZE_MOMEEL A=+ B &
July 2024 is HK$104,717,000. Share price was HK$1.01 on HeBRMHOBEBNGBTR2FER
26 July 2024. 104,717,000 L - R _F _MF +

AZ+RBZEMERS1.018TT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
mEMBHRRWEE ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

= =1 N
35.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED B.AEERERERMTE
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
[A) ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (A) 475 — [ 18 23 &)
On 9 April 2024, the Group acquired 100% of the RZE_NMFEFWOA LB K&
issued share capital of Block Al Company Limited for a LAZE € K {815,000,000/% 7T
cash consideration of HK$15,000,000. I 8% Block Al Company Limited
B)100% B BETTARA o
At the date of acquisition, Block Al Company Limited R UL BE B Block Al Company
mainly held investments at fair value through profit or Limited * 2R B XA FEY A
loss and did not have any staff, relating to strategic BaBRs&E BYETAERK
management, operational and resource management BERE Z“EREREERERF
processes. The directors of the Company considered FTEWMEI - ARAEERA
that the acquisition of Block Al Company Limited does I B& Block Al Company Limited
not constitute a business combination. W NEKEEE B o
HK$’000
THET
Net assets acquired: FrlfE 2 FEE
Intangible assets B AE 71
Investments at fair value through profit EAFEIABREREZEE 14,859
or loss
Prepayments TEI 3B 22
Bank balances and cash — general IRITHEBRRAE - — &K 48
Total consideration — satisfied by cash BRE-UBREIM 15,000
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: EWREEE 2R E ML F5E
Cash consideration paid ENRERE 15,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired Frikigcle MR EEY (48)
14,952
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
HREMBRRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z = F - AF=H=4+—HIFE

35.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED B.ARERERERKT
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (%)
(Continued)
(B] DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY (B] 4 EHE 2 &l
On 7 November 2024, the Group disposed Fortune RZFE-_ME+—-—HEH 'R
Wealth Management Limited to an independent third EEMBYE=ZFEAHES
party purchaser for consideration of HK$3,260,000. BRYEBEEBRAR - KER

3,260,0007% JT ©

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: HERBHCEEFENT:
HK$’000
FHET
Trade receivables B 5 R 271
Bank balances - trust IRITHER— 55T 4
Bank balances — general WITHESB—— K 538
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments £ b & W FK I8 ~ 1% & K T8 (- 2B 625
Other payables and accruals HMENRIEBERESTER (246)
Net assets disposed of FTHECEEFE 1,192
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHHB AR 2Kk 2,068
Total consideration satisfied by cash LREE Iz BRE 3,260

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRERAFRE:

Cash consideration received BUERERE 3,260
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FIHEZRE RS EED (538)
2,722
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMB|RRME (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 = F - nF =HA=+—HILFE

35.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(C] CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The following table shows the Group’s changes in

%Aiﬁﬁblbgiﬁﬁﬂ

P
(#&)

U

(C] BB ZE)ELRE EF
£

TREINFAAEEREED

liabilities arising from financing activities during the EEMNBEEE:
year:
Total liabilities
Corporate Lease from financing
Borrowings bonds liabilities activities
METHEL
BE ARES HEAR WeBes
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET TET
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=4WA—H = 31,202 5,574 36,776
Changes in cash flows BemER = (30,870) (6,588) (37,458)
Non-cash changes FREEH
- Additions -RE - = 22,658 22,658
- Interest charged —FEXH = 1,730 269 1,999
At 31 March 2024 and R-ZB-ME=RA=1+-8R
1 April 2024 —E_MEMA-H - 2,062 21,913 23,975
Changes in cash flows BemERH 413,054 (2,065) (8,261) 402,728
Non-cash changes ERE )
- Additions —NE - - 828 828
- Interest charged —MEXH 2,323 3 705 3,031
At 31 March 2025 R-E-H5F=HA=+-H 415,377 - 15,185 430,562
[D) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION (D) FEHHEX

Additions to investments at fair value through profit or
loss during the year of HK$77,131,000 was settled by
loan receivables with the same carrying amount.

GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited Annual Report 2025
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —F —AF=HA=+—HIFE

Financial guarantees given to banks in ~ LAHE(& N R A2 AR
favour of its associate RTT IR M B A E AR

The Group issued financial guarantees to banks in respect of
banking facilities granted to associate. The amount disclosed
above represents the aggregate amounts that could be
required to be paid if the guarantees were called upon in
entirety. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of
the financial guarantee contracts are not significant as the
possibility of default by the relevant related parties is remote.
Accordingly, no provision has been made in the consolidated
financial statements for these guarantees.

2024
—EF
HK$'000
F& T

AEBRBERARERNRITHE
FSRITIRH M BER EXRENS
BIE MRS EUR @RI AT AL FH X T
NESHR -EFTRR UBEREH
BWAFELNEN THHRNIEEEE
TR REMERE - Btk RN
REMBHRRMZFERELBE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in notes to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions and
balances with its related parties during the year:

Year ended 31 March
Nature of transaction XEME

Income from asset management

business received from a BEEBEBKRA
related company

Lease payments paid to related MEEARXNZ
companies HERRK

Loan interest income received from M) — BB & R a W E 2
an associate B 2 A

At 31 March R=A=+-—H

Nature of balance AR

Borrowings from shareholder BEERERA

Trade receivables from an associate FEM— B R A2

B SRR

An executive director, Dr. LIU Zhiwei was ultimate beneficial
shareholder of the related companies. Dr. LIU Zhiwei was
resigned as executive director with effect from 28 February
2024.

The key management personnel of the Group comprises
all executive directors, details of their remuneration are
disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
Among other things, the remuneration paid to the directors
of the Company constitutes connected transactions of the
Company but is wholly exempted pursuant to Rule 14A.95
of the Listing Rules.

BE=HA=+—HLEE

A — ] B & 2 R 2

BB mRMEELMET D BE
MR D R 5 MG REEREF
WNEBE T BATR 5 RAEH

2024
—EF-UF
HK$'000
FE&ETT

915

(520)
N/A

HITEFVNSEBLIREERRZ
RREaBRR-USEELIR_F
“HE_A-+t/N\BBERTES-

AEBFBCZETEEEABQEMAR
TES HFMWFBREEVBRE
1B -HP X FARAE
ENFMEXNARAICEERS B
BIE TR B E14A 95K E T2 5
%o



For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —FE - AF=H=4+—HIFZE

The following financial assets and financial liabilities

are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting

arrangements and similar agreements.

The Group maintained accounts with the HKSCC through
which they conducted securities trading transactions and

settlement on a net basis.

In presenting the amounts due from and to HKSCC

(included in trade receivables or trade payables with clearing

house), the Group has offset the gross amount of the trade

receivables from and the gross amount of the trade payables

to HKSCC. The amounts offset and the net balances are

shown as follows:

At 31 March 2025

Type of financial assets
Regulatory deposits to HKSCC
Trade receivables from HKSCC
Type of financial liabilities
Trade payables to HKSCC

At 31 March 2024

Type of financial assets
Regulatory deposits to HKSCC
Trade receivables from HKSCC
Type of financial liabilities
Trade payables to HKSCC

R-B-I§=A=+-H
tHEESEY
BABBREEMETRS
EUBEBEEMEHER
tHEEEE
ENBEBEEMZESERR

RZZE_ME=A=1+—H
THEERY
FARBREMAERE
RUEBEEMZEHEN
THEREE
EREBEBEEMZE SRR

NMIeREEMERBAERN THEE -
URANTZFREEETLRERE
A thp i 2 B -

AEBERBCHEEMARKS BB
ZERPETEFEERXRHULRF
BMEEEH-

REJNEE K ENEL&ERHEA
(FFARWEERZE 5 KRR KEN
REFRzEZRF)E AEBECZH
HWRKEEGEEMZE ZRAER
HENBEEEMIE BRFEE-
IR R SR F I

Net amount

Gross Amount receivable/
amount offset (payable)
Bl (Ef)

HEeE HHERE RERE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER
554 - 554

447 (447) -
(9,548) 447 (9,101)
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Contracted but not provided for:
Investments at fair value through profit X A FEF| ABZRFEZ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

The Group had the following capital commitment at the end
of the reporting period:

or loss wE

On 31 December 2024, the Company, as the
purchaser, and Wealthink Al as the vendor entered
into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to
purchase and Wealthink Al has conditionally agreed
to sell the 60,000,000 shares (the “Target CSOP
Shares”) of CSOP Asset Management Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, representing 22.50% of the entire issued share
capital of CSOP Asset Management Limited, at the
consideration in the amount of HK$1,110,000,000,
which shall be settled by the allotment and issuance
of the 1,405,063,292 shares of the Company at the
issue price of approximately HK$0.79 per share under
the specific mandate to be sought by the Company at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company (the
“Acquisition”). The aggregate nominal value of share
capital for the 1,405,063,292 shares of the Company is
HK$140,506,329.20.

Tk /t/g

ERTAVE M KRB

SR NEEEA T E KK

2024
—E-UF
HK$’000
F&T

7,459

RZZFE-_MF+—A=+—H"
RNAR (ERE ) HBERE 8
KE(EREAFLEEW
FOBE - ARFEBRERE
BEREMNSERECEGKY
AELEMARREEEREA
RAR(—ERBEAFMEKL
2 B BR A RA])260,000,0008% I%
P([BEEEARERMG]) 14
MAFRAEEEEARAAS
HEBITIRAZ22.50% KB
/£1,110,000,000/8 7C * A A
GIRiES A WANCTE: §iAV NN 35
FrRlREe LSk FRE#ER
BITESRN7TIB TR B K
17T AN A |l 21,405,063,292 %
B FUASZA (TWEBEE]) -
1,405,063,292% A~ 1 7] & 15
% 7K 48 T 1B £140,506,329.20/8
=



For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —FE - AF=H=4+—HIFZE

As at the reporting date, certain conditions precedent
to completion of the transactions contemplated under
the sale and purchase agreement which include,
among other things, the approval of the Acquisition,
the sale and purchase agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder by the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be
convened on 15 July 2025, have not been fulfilled. The
parties shall use reasonable endeavours to finalise the
transaction on or before 31 July 2025, being the long
stop date of the sale and purchase agreement.

For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 31 December 2024, 21 January
2025, 30 April 2025, 7 May 2025, 12 May 2025 and
circular dated 25 June 2025.

References are made to the announcements of the
Company dated 9 April 2025, 17 April 2025 and 25
April 2025 (collectively, the “2025 Placing of New
Shares Announcements”) in relation to the placing of
new Shares under General Mandate. Unless otherwise
specified, capitalised terms used in this report shall
have the same meanings as those defined in the 2025
Placing of New Shares Announcements.

RBERH TREEHEE
TRETRGZ2HETEREN
(BREERERARARRBR_ZF
“hAELATRBRITZRRE
BRAS EHEKEEE B
EpaLHEBETEHETZRS)
MAREK - SHAHETEEREN
RZZBE-_RAFtA=+—8 (8
BEWE 2 &EH LA
ZAEER S

FEFR2BEAARABHAZ
Z-_mME+_A=+—8"
“HRFE-—ARA=-+—8"
_£¢@H7+EI»*9E il
FRAEtHEZZE-HFHA
TZHAZAEUKRBHAEZT
—HEANAZTHEBZBK

AIHHI

BZRAEARFBPA-_FT_H
FOANE ZZE_0FMH
A+tBER=-_Z_AFM0OA
“T+tHAHEBABERE - RERER
EMEONASE(RBI=F
—EFEREFROLE]) K
SBEPIN KRE AR
BT hFREFBRNAE
PREEEGHRIERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &{2 —E - AF =H=+—HIFFZE

On 9 April 2025 (after trading hours of the Stock
Exchange), the Company entered into a placing
agreement (the “2025 Placing Agreement”) with
Fortune (HK) Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”),
pursuant to which the Placing Agent has conditionally
agreed, as the Company’s placing agent, to procure,
on a best effort basis, no fewer than six placees (the
“2025 Placees”), who and whose ultimate beneficial
owners (where applicable) will be independent third
parties, to subscribe (the “2025 Placing”) for up to a
maximum of 372,923,749 new shares at the placing
price of HK$1.12 per new share.

On 25 April 2025, the Company announced that a total
of 231,500,000 placing shares (the “2025 Placing
Shares”) have been successfully placed by the Placing
Agent to no less than six 2025 Placees at the placing
price of HK$1.12 per 2025 Placing Share, representing
approximately 3.01% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the
2025 Placing Shares immediately upon the completion
of the 2025 Placing on 25 April 2025.

RZZFE-_AFMANE (BR
FIZXSKEE) AQFHEE R
BEHEAERAF ([RENRE])FT
Y-EEEwR([Z2=8F
BEHR]) B EBERE
EBEBRHERE(ERARARZ
RERRE) BREHNEERET
DPRANEBEBRA(IZEZHEF
ABAl) (BFERBFZ &K
Ex#EBEA(MER)AEREL
FZR)EEESEBERFTRMN
1.1278 7T R 88 & %372,923,749
RO ((ZTE2_EFERHES
H]) e

R-_E-_RAFWNA=-_+HAB "
RKAREM BEREERE
EEBER_ESE_HERER
H112B T AP RAREZE
“THFABEAKIEES S &
231,500,000 B2 E f& 5 ([ =&
“EFBRERM]) HERE
BE_T_AFREESFENR-Z
—HEFNA-ZF+REBERER
AR ERET_E-_AF
RERGMERNZEEITRA
#93.01% °



For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —FE - AF=H=4+—HIFZE

Reference is made to the announcement of
the Company dated 29 April 2025 (the “Loan
Capitalisation Announcement”) in relation to, among
other things, the Loan Capitalisation. Unless otherwise
specified, capitalised terms used in this section shall
have the same meanings as those defined in the Loan
Capitalisation Announcement.

On 29 April 2025 (after trading hours of the Stock
Exchange), the Company and the Lender entered into
the Loan Capitalisation Agreement, pursuant to which
the Lender (as the subscriber) has conditionally agreed
to subscribe (for himself or his nominee) for, and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue,
458,769,789 Capitalisation Shares, at the Issue Price
of HK$1.28 per Capitalisation Share. The consideration
of the allotment and issue of the Capitalisation Shares
in the amount of approximately HK$587.225 million
shall be settled by means of offsetting against the
Repayment Amount of approximately HK$587.225
million. As at the date of the Loan Capitalisation
Agreement, the Outstanding Loan Sum amounted to
approximately HK$587.225 million. Upon Completion,
the Repayment Amount (being the whole amount of the
Outstanding Loan Sum) shall be deemed to have been
repaid and the Group will no longer be indebted to the
Lender pursuant to the Shareholder’s Facilities under
the Loan Agreements.

For details of the Loan Capitalisation, please refer to
the Loan Capitalisation Announcement.

ZRAARRFBPA-_FT A
FOA-+HIhBREBR(EHE
ﬁ.ﬁ)ﬁfﬁ’\éﬁﬂzzﬂi (T&X
BXREDAE]) BB
7R /N8R BT aﬂ%éﬁiﬁ - N
NEMAREEELGHREE -

RZZE_RAFWOA-—+1B8 (B
REAIXGKEE) AQAEE
RATLERERLHZE &
-BEXA(ERRBAIESR
BHERERB(AEASHH
REBEAN)MARGE B EHR
B A % & 32 17458,769,789 &
RERHD BHTERERER
bR H1.288 T B REITE
b B% 17 89 X B #9587,225,000
BT BAKHEHERSEL
587,225,000/ LB 75 R A& E o
REFRERLHZBH  KE
B & # 4 /3587,225,00078
TLoREKE BRESE (AKX
BEENSE 2 HAE)BHER
REBE MASERERD
FETZERREREMEBETH
REERANEMFKIEA-

BBERERCZHB F2

=+
ES
BERERMEAE-

RAMBREENR T _AF A
StHHEEESHERBETIE

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board on 30 June 2025.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFFMBRE

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RFE ZEBE-WNF ZTZ=F —T-__ —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHET
RESULTS E4
Revenue A 863,400 49,456 26,943 58,487 131,718
Net (losses)/gains on investments  Z A FEV ABZEZ 50,145 (3,481) (4,630) (3,151) 18,952
at fair value through profit or loss & & (Ei8) Iz
FRE
Loss before tax Fr BRI E 1R (1,726) (30,634) (58,863) (79,534) (7,937)
Income tax (expense)/credit FEH (BAx) /#% (799) (45) 8 225 (5,558)
Loss for the year attributable AR RHEE AES
to owners of the Company REEEE (2,525) (30,679) (58,855) (79,309) (13,495)
Loss per share TR EE (BWL)
(HK cents) (Restated) (&%)
Basic R (0.04) (0.91) (2.84) (4.41) (0.75)
Diluted g (0.04) (0.91) 2.84) 1) 0.75)
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—EBE-RFE —EBE-_NE —ZT=-—=F —T=-_= —TE-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET FHET FET FH&T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Total assets BERE 4,612,095 1,092,191 475,761 604,610 955,444
Total liabilities BERE (686,472) (305,348) (179,292) (356,751) (631,136)
Net assets BEFE 3,925,623 786,843 296,469 247,859 324,308
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